

SCUOLA INTERNAZIONALE SUPERIORE DI STUDI AVANZATI

SISSA Digital Library

Toeplitz Matrices and Toeplitz Determinants under the Impetus of the Ising Model: Some History and Some Recent Results

_				
0	ric	ווכ	าล	3/

Toeplitz Matrices and Toeplitz Determinants under the Impetus of the Ising Model: Some History and Some Recent Results / Deift, Percy; Its, Alexander; Krasovsky, Igor. - In: COMMUNICATIONS ON PURE AND APPLIED MATHEMATICS. - ISSN 0010-3640. - 66:9(2013), pp. 1360-1438. [10.1002/cpa.21467]

Availability:

This version is available at: 20.500.11767/139096 since: 2024-04-16T15:12:23Z

Publisher:

Published

DOI:10.1002/cpa.21467

Terms of use:

Testo definito dall'ateneo relativo alle clausole di concessione d'uso

Publisher copyright Wiley

This version is available for education and non-commercial purposes.

note finali coverpage

(Article begins on next page)

Toeplitz matrices and Toeplitz determinants under the impetus of the Ising model. Some history and some recent results

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{Percy Deift} \\ \textit{Courant Institute, New York} \end{array}$

 $\begin{array}{c} {\rm Alexander\ Its} \\ {\it IUPUI,\ Indiana polis} \end{array}$

Igor Krasovsky Imperial College, London

In memory of Bruria Kaufman, 1918–2010

Contents

1	Setting the problem	3
2	Toeplitz meets Ising	9
3	Szegő's Theorem	12
4	Back to Ising	23
5	New questions for SSLT	27
6	Fisher-Hartwig singularities. Fisher-Hartwig conjecture	2 9
7	Basor-Tracy conjecture	36
8	Hankel and Toeplitz+Hankel determinants	4 0
9	Some applications	42
10	Block Toeplitz matrices	45
11	Double-scaling limits	49

Acronyms: RHP (p. 4), SSLT (p. 5), OPUC (p. 14), FH (p. 29), CMV (p. 56)

1 Setting the problem

An $n \times n$ Toeplitz matrix T_n is a matrix with coefficients of the form $(T_n)_{jk} = c_{j-k}$, $0 \le j$, $k \le n-1$, for some given sequence $\{c_\ell\}_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}}$. An $n \times n$ Toeplitz determinant $D_n(T)$ is the determinant of some given Toeplitz matrix $T = T_n$. If $\varphi = \varphi(e^{i\theta})$ is an integrable function on the unit circle $S^1 = \{z = e^{i\theta}\}$ (oriented in the positive direction) with Fourier coefficients

$$\varphi_{\ell} = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-i\ell\theta} \, \varphi\Big(e^{i\theta}\Big) \, \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}, \qquad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$$

the Toeplitz matrices $T_n(\varphi)$ and Toeplitz determinants $D_n(\varphi)$ associated with φ are given by

(1)
$$T_n(\varphi) = \{\varphi_{j-k}\}_{0 \le j, k \le n-1}$$

and

(2)
$$D_n(\varphi) = \det T_n(\varphi)$$

respectively. Note that if $c_{-\ell} = \overline{c}_{\ell}$, then T_n is self-adjoint. This is true, in particular, if φ is real valued, and it follows that for such functions φ , $D_n(\varphi)$ and the eigenvalues $\lambda_1^{(n)}, \ldots \lambda_n^{(n)}$ of $T_n(\varphi)$ are real.

Toeplitz matrices and determinants are named for Otto Toeplitz, who, in his Habilitationsschrift in 1907 (see [Toep1] [Toep2]), initiated the study of quadratic forms $\Sigma \varphi_{jk} x_j y_k$ with coefficients of special type $\varphi_{jk} = \varphi_{j-k}$. At the time Toeplitz was a young researcher in Göttingen where Hilbert was developing his general and abstract theory of functional analysis. Toeplitz introduced the forms $\Sigma \varphi_{j-k} x_j y_k$, together with the associated matrices $T_n(\varphi) = \{\varphi_{j-k}\}_{0 \le j, \ k \le n-1}$ and determinants $D_n(\varphi) = \det(T_n(\varphi))$, in order to give concrete examples of Hilbert's general theory which could be analyzed in great detail. Toeplitz called the forms $\Sigma \varphi_{j-k} x_j y_k$ "L-forms" because of their connection, via Fourier theory, with Laurent series $\sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi_k z^k$.

A striking example of the connection between Laurent series, and more broadly analytic function theory, on the one hand, and L-forms on the other, is given by the following problem studied by Carathéodory: For which sequences c_0, c_1, \ldots, c_n of complex numbers does the polynomial

$$p(z) = c_0 + c_1 z + \dots + c_n z^n$$

have an extension to an analytic function $\varphi(z)$ in the unit disk $\mathbb{D} = \{|z| < 1\}$

(3)
$$\varphi(z) = d_0 + d_1 z + \dots + d_n z^n + d_{n+1} z^{n+1} + \dots ,$$
$$d_j = c_j, \qquad 0 \le j \le n$$

such that $\Re \varphi(z) \geq 0$ in \mathbb{D} ? In [Car1] in 1907, Carathéodory characterized such sequences in terms of Minkowski's theory of convex bodies, but a few years later in 1911 Toeplitz [Toep3] gave the following algebraic characterization (see also [Car2], [CarFej]): $p(z) = c_0 + c_1 z + \cdots + c_n z^n$ has an extension $\varphi(z)$ as above with $\Re \varphi(z) \geq 0$ in \mathbb{D} if and only if the Toeplitz matrix

(4)
$$\begin{pmatrix} 2c_0 & c_1 & c_2 & \dots & c_{n-1} & c_n \\ c_{-1} & 2c_0 & c_1 & \dots & & c_{n-1} \\ c_{-2} & c_{-1} & 2c_0 & & & & \\ \vdots & & & & & \\ c_{-n+1} & \dots & & & & \\ c_{-n} & c_{-n+1} & \dots & & & 2c_0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $c_{-k} \equiv \overline{c}_k$, $0 \leq k \leq n$, is non-negative definite. Over the years, up till the present, there have been many applications of this beautiful result, both theoretical and applied (see e.g. [Weg]). Many of the results and applications in this paper, however, rely on the connection between Toeplitz matrices/determinants and another problem in analytic function theory, the Riemann-Hilbert Problem (RHP) — see, in particular, [CG] [LS] and the references therein. We note that Wiener-Hopf factorization theory and the Wiener-Hopf method fall under the general rubric of RHP.

An extraordinary variety of problems in mathematics, physics and engineering, can be expressed in terms of Toeplitz matrices and determinants. This is a remarkable fact that could hardly have been anticipated in 1907, and there is a vast literature on the subject. A classical reference is the text by Grenander and Szegő¹ [GreSz] in which the authors describe applications of Toeplitz matrices to problems in analytic function theory, stationary stochastic processes and linear estimation theory in statistics. In addition to problems in probability theory and statistics, Fisher and Hartwig [FisHart1] present a long and varied list of applications of Toeplitz determinants to problems in statistical mechanics, including the ground-breaking work of Kaufman and Onsager on the Ising model. Many results in the theory of Toeplitz determinants can be found, for example, in the seminal papers of Harold Widom (see [Wid1] [Wid2] [Wid3] [Wid4], amongst many others) and in the books of Böttcher, Silbermann, and Grudsky (see [BottSilb1] [BottSilb2] [BottSilb3] [BottGr], amongst others). For a review of some more recent developments in the theory of Toeplitz determinants, see [Kr].

Closely related to Toeplitz matrices are Toeplitz operators, defined as follows (see e.g. [Doug], [BottSilb3]). Let S^1 denote the unit circle as above with Lebesgue measure $\frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$, and let $L^2(S^1)$ denote the associated Hilbert space. The Hardy space H^2 is defined as the closed subspace

$$\left\{f\in L^2(S^1): \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_0^{2\pi} f\!\left(e^{i\theta}\right)e^{in\theta}\,d\theta = 0, \qquad n=1,2,\ldots\right\}.$$

The orthogonal projection P_+ of $L^2(S^1)$ onto H^2 is given by

$$L^2(S^1) \ni f = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_k e^{ik\theta} \longmapsto P_+ f = \sum_{0}^{\infty} f_k e^{ik\theta} \in H^2.$$

Now let $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(S^1)$. Then the Toeplitz operator $T(\varphi): H^2 \to H^2$ associated with φ is given by

(5)
$$T(\varphi)f = P_+ \varphi f, \qquad f \in H^2.$$

The operator $T(\varphi)$ is bounded in H^2 , and with respect to the standard basis $\{e^{ik\theta}: k \geq 0\}$, $T(\varphi)$ is represented by the semi-infinite matrix $\{\varphi_{j-k}\}_{j,k\geq 0}$ acting in $\ell_+^2 = \{u = (u_0,u_1,\dots): \sum_0^\infty |u_j|^2 < \infty\}$. Thus the Toeplitz matrices $T_n(\varphi)$ are finite sections of the Toeplitz operator $T(\varphi)$. The function φ is frequently referred to as the symbol of the operator $T(\varphi)$ and the sequences $\{T_n(\varphi)\}_{n\geq 1}$, $\{D_n(\varphi)\}_{n\geq 1}$.

Matrices with coefficients of the form $\{c_{j+k}\}_{0 \le j, k \le n-1}$ are called *Hankel matrices*. These matrices are in turn finite sections of the semi-infinite *Hankel operators* with matrix coefficients $\{c_{j+k}\}_{j,k \ge 0}$ acting in ℓ_+^2 . The theory of Hankel matrices and operators is parallel to, and closely related to the theory of Toeplitz matrices and operators (see e.g. (166) et seq. below). Operators

¹For many years "Szegő" was mis-spelled in the literature as "Szegö". Knuth first introduced the Hungarian umlaut into TeX specifically so that names like Szegő, Erdős and Kőnig would be spelled correctly. (Private communication to the authors from D. Knuth.)

acting in $L^2(0,\infty)$ with kernels of the form K(x-y), or of the form K(x+y), $x,y \ge 0$, may be viewed as continuum limits of Toeplitz matrices, or Hankel matrices, and are called Wiener-Hopf and Hankel operators respectively (see e.g. [BottSilb3] [Pel]).

Our goal in this paper is not to review the above applications and developments in a systematic way, but rather to focus on **one central problem** in the theory of Toeplitz determinants, viz., the Szegő Strong Limit Theorem (SSLT) (see Theorem 3 below). We will, in particular, trace the history of this theorem and its later generalizations, in response to a succession of questions raised in the analysis of the Ising model. An earlier, and very informative, description of the influence of the Ising model on SSLT and related developments, was given by Böttcher in [Bott1].

The story begins in 1915 when Szegő [Sz1], at the very start of his career, proved the following result conjectured earlier by Polya.

Theorem 1. Let $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) > 0$ be a continuous, positive function on the unit circle S^1 and let $D_n(\varphi)$ be the associated Toeplitz determinant. Then

(6)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log D_n(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi \left(e^{i\theta}\right) d\theta.$$

Note that $D_n(\varphi) > 0$. Indeed for $u = (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{n-1})^T \in \mathbb{C}^n$, a simple calculation shows that

$$(u, T_n(\varphi) u) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} u_k e^{ik\theta} \right|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$$

and as $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) > 0$, we conclude that $T_n(\varphi)$ is strictly positive definite, $T_n(\varphi) > 0$. Thus $D_n(\varphi) = \det T_n(\varphi) > 0$. In addition, the eigenvalues $\lambda_1^{(n)}, \ldots, \lambda_n^{(n)}$ of $T_n(\varphi)$ are positive and so (6) can be rewritten in the form

(7)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\log \lambda_1^{(n)} + \dots + \log \lambda_n^{(n)}}{n} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) d\theta.$$

Szegő recognized that (7) is a special case of equidistribution for the $\lambda_j^{(n)}$ in the sense of Weyl, and in 1920 [Sz2] Szegő proved the following result (see also [GreSz]).

Theorem 2. Let $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ be a real-valued function in $L^{\infty}(S^1)$ with $m \leq \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \leq M$ a.e. If $F(\lambda)$ is any continuous function defined on the interval $m \leq \lambda \leq M$, we have

(8)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{F\left(\lambda_1^{(n)}\right) + \dots + F\left(\lambda_n^{(n)}\right)}{n} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F\left(\varphi\left(e^{i\theta}\right)\right) d\theta.$$

Taking $F(\lambda) = \log \lambda$, we clearly recover (7). We consider more detailed asymptotic properties of the eigenvalues below (see Section 9).

Relation (6) may be rewritten in the form

(9)
$$D_n(\varphi) = \exp\left[n \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi\left(e^{i\theta}\right) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + o(n)\right]$$

as $n \to \infty$. The issue of determining the precise nature of the term o(n) came to the fore in the following way.

The two-dimensional Ising model, the central model in statistical mechanics (see [McWu1] [Pal] [Lie] [Dom1]), named for E. Ising (see [Is]), concerns the interaction of random spins $\sigma_{i,j} = \pm 1$ at sites (i,j) in \mathbb{Z}^2 . Of great interest is the situation in which only nearest-neighbor spins interact and the interaction energy is given by

$$-J_1 \sigma_{i,j} \sigma_{i,j+1} - J_2 \sigma_{i,j} \sigma_{i+1,j}$$

where the vertical and horizontal interaction constants, J_1 and J_2 respectively, are translation invariant, and in addition, J_1 and J_2 are positive, so that the system is *ferromagnetic*, i.e. parallel spins have lower energy than anti-parallel spins. As is standard in statistical mechanics, one analyzes the infinite system on \mathbb{Z}^2 by first considering the spins in a finite rectangular box $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$ of size $M \times N$ (see below for a discussion of boundary conditions) and then letting $M, N \to \infty$. For such a box the total interaction energy of the spins $\sigma = (\sigma_{i,j})$ is given by

(10)
$$E_{\Lambda}(\sigma) = -\sum_{\Lambda} \left[J_1 \, \sigma_{i,j} \, \sigma_{i,j+1} + J_2 \, \sigma_{i,j} \, \sigma_{i+1,j} \right]$$

where $J_1 \sigma_{i,j} \sigma_{i,j+1}$ is included in the sum if (i,j) or $(i,j+1) \in \Lambda$ and $J_2 \sigma_{i,j} \sigma_{i+1,j}$ is included if (i,j) or $(i+1,j) \in \Lambda$. The associated normalized Gibbs measure is then

(11)
$$Pr_{\Lambda}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{Z_{\Lambda}} e^{-E_{\Lambda}(\sigma)/k_B T}$$

where k_B is Boltzmann's constant and T is the temperature. Here the partition function Z_{Λ} is

(12)
$$Z_{\Lambda} = \sum_{\sigma} e^{-E_{\Lambda}(\sigma)/k_B T}$$

where the sum is taken over all possible spin configurations σ in Λ . For fixed finite sets $A \subset \Lambda$, one defines the *correlation functions*

(13)
$$\left\langle \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} \right\rangle_{\Lambda} = \sum_{\sigma} \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} Pr_{\Lambda}(\sigma).$$

The thermodynamic limits of these correlation functions as $\Lambda \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^2$, i.e. $M, N \to \infty$,

(14)
$$\left\langle \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} \right\rangle \equiv \lim_{\Lambda \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^2} \left\langle \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} \right\rangle_{\Lambda}$$

are the objects of principal physical interest. In particular such correlations $\left\langle \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} \right\rangle$ should model physical phenomena such as phase transitions. For example, a bar magnet has a critical temperature T_c called the Curie point: for temperatures $T < T_c$, the magnet exhibits spontaneous magnetization, but for $T > T_c$ the magnetization is zero (in zero external field). This behavior cannot be described by a function such as $\left\langle \prod_{(i,j)\in A} \sigma_{i,j} \right\rangle_{\Lambda}$ in (13), which is real analytic for T > 0: in the thermodynamic limit, however, analyticity can be, and indeed is, destroyed.

In the presence of an external magnetic field, one must add a term of the form $h \sum_{(i,j) \in \Lambda} \sigma_{i,j}$ to $E_{\Lambda}(\sigma)$, $h \in \mathbb{R}$, but the most complete results have been obtained only when the field is absent, and

we will always assume h = 0. It remains an outstanding problem in the theory of the Ising model to find the analogs of the explicit formulae below for the correlation functions in the case $h \neq 0$.

We note the following: In order to compute $E_{\Lambda}(\sigma)$ in (10), we need to know $\sigma_{i,j}$ not only at the points $(i,j) \in \Lambda$, but also at the points adjacent to Λ . In particular, if M and N are integers and $\Lambda = \{(i,j) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 : 0 \le i \le M, \ 0 \le j \le N\}$, then we need to know $\sigma_{M+1,j}$, $\sigma_{-1,j}$, $0 \le j \le N$ and $\sigma_{i,N+1}$, $\sigma_{i,-1}$, $0 \le i \le M$. In practice, this issue is addressed by imposing boundary conditions on Λ . One common choice is, for example, periodic boundary conditions, $\sigma_{i+M+1,j} = \sigma_{i,j}$, $\sigma_{i,j+N+1} = \sigma_{i,j}$. Another choice is the fully magnetized boundary conditions where $\sigma_{i,j} = +1$ (alternatively $\sigma_{i,j} = -1$) at all points (i,j) adjacent to Λ . General boundary conditions are discussed, for example, in [Gal], and also from a different point of view, in [LebM-Lof]. For each choice of boundary conditions, provided the thermodynamic limits in (14) exist, we obtain a family of functions

$$\langle \sigma_{i,j} \rangle, \quad \langle \sigma_{i,j} \ \sigma_{i',j'} \rangle, \quad \dots$$

In the spirit of the classical moment problem, one says that the family in (15) determines a (Gibbs) equilibrium state (see e.g. [Sim1] [Ru]). A priori, different boundary conditions can give rise to different families (15), and hence to different equilibrium states. For example (cf [Pal]), for closed boundary conditions $\sigma_{ij} = +1$ adjacent to Λ , one finds $\langle \sigma_{0,0} \rangle > 0$, but for periodic boundary conditions, by symmetry, $\langle \sigma_{0,0} \rangle = 0$. Nevertheless, it suffices for our purposes to note that for the two-point correlation function that we discuss below, the thermodynamic limit is independent of the boundary conditions (cf [BGJ-LS]). The same is true for the free energy F per unit spin in (17) below.

In 1 dimension, Ising [Is] showed that the Ising model does not exhibit a phase transition for any temperature T > 0. What about 2 or 3 dimensions? In a landmark paper in 1936, Peierls [Pei] gave a simple argument asserting that in 2 or 3 dimensions, the Ising model does indeed exhibit spontaneous magnetization at some temperature $T_c > 0$. It turns out that Peierls' argument involved an incorrect step², which was corrected only many years later in 1964 by Griffiths [Grif]. Griffiths confirmed Peierls' conclusion and "Peierls argument" remains a standard tool in many statistical situations. The first exact quantitative result for the 2-dimensional Ising model was obtained by Kramers and Wannier in 1941 [KraWan] when they wrote down the following formula for T_c . In the case $J_1 = J_2 = J$,

(16)
$$\sinh\left(\frac{2J}{k_B T_c}\right) = 1.$$

In 1942, Wannier gave a talk on this work at a meeting of the New York Academy of Sciences. In an extraordinary denouement, at the end of the talk Onsager announced that he had obtained an exact solution for the two-dimensional Ising model (without magnetic field). Onsager³ published the proof of his result two years later in [Ons1]. More precisely, Onsager had obtained a formula for the partition function Z_{Λ} , and, in particular, in the case of a square lattice Λ_N of size $N \times N$, with $J_1 = J_2 = J$, he showed that in the thermodynamic limit the free energy per unit spin F

²First discovered by M. Fisher (see [Grif]).

³All of Onsager's published papers, including his PhD dissertation, can be found in "The Collected Works of Lars Onsager, Eds. P. C. Hemmer, H. Holden and S. K. Ratkje, World Sci. Ser. in 20'th Century Phys., Vol. 17, World Scientific, Singapore, 1996". An extensive collection of Onsager's hand-written notes, unpublished manuscripts, etc., can be found on the Onsager archive at Trondheim, http://www.ntnu.no/ub/spesialsamlingene/tekark/tek5/arkiv5.php: much of this material was scanned from the "Guide to the Lars Onsager Papers MS794" at the Yale library.

exists and is given by

$$F = -k_B T \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N^2} \log Z_{\Lambda_N}$$

$$= -k_B T \left[\log \left(2 \cosh \frac{2J}{k_B T} \right) + \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{\pi} d\phi_1 \int_0^{\pi} d\phi_2 \log \left(1 - \frac{\kappa}{2} (\cos \phi_1 + \cos \phi_2) \right) \right]$$

$$= -k_B T \left[\log \left(2 \cosh \frac{2J}{k_B T} \right) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \log \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \sqrt{1 - \kappa^2 \sin^2 \phi} \right) d\phi \right]$$

where $\kappa = 2 \sinh{(2J/k_BT)}/\cosh^2(2J/k_BT)$. It follows from this formula that the specific heat $C = -T \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial T^2}$ diverges logarithmically as $T \to T_c \pm 0$, where T_c is precisely the critical temperature obtained by Kramers and Wannier (note that for T_c we have $\kappa = 1$, and the argument of the logarithm in the double integral vanishes at the integration limit $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = 0$). Onsager's analysis allows for different interaction constants $J_1 \neq J_2$, in which case equation (16) for T_c must be replaced by

(18)
$$\sinh\left(\frac{2J_1}{k_B T_c}\right) \sinh\left(\frac{2J_2}{k_B T_c}\right) = 1.$$

For the description of the events that followed, we refer to the informative, and entertaining, recent papers by Baxter [Bax] and McCoy [McC1]. In the mid-1940's, Kaufman, a doctoral student at Columbia University, began working with Onsager, who was then at Yale, on the 2-D Ising model. Onsager's computation of the partition function had stunned the physics community by its ingenuity and complexity, and Kaufman was determined to find a simpler approach. As Onsager relates [Ons2], Kaufman "...decided to look for a possible connection with spinor theory. Why not? In fact, it seemed like very good sense, and so it was By the summer of 1946 she had a beautifully compact computation of the partition function, bypassing all tedious details."

The methods of Onsager and Kaufman for the partition function are based on the calculation of the eigenvalues of the transfer matrix [KraWan] associated with the problem. Another simplified solution based on this approach was given in 1964 by Schultz, Mattis, and Lieb [ScML]. On the other hand, it was observed in 1941 by van der Waerden [vanderW] that the calculation of the Ising partition function is equivalent to the problem of counting closed polygons on the square lattice. This observation was the origin of an alternative (and more direct) combinatorial approach to the Ising model. A solution using such an approach was given by Kac and Ward in 1952 [KacW] (see also [PotWar] where the calculation of the correlation functions we discuss below is addressed by this method). Kac and Ward did not intend to present a rigorous derivation; the missing proofs were given later by Sherman Sher and Burgoyne Bur following a conjecture by Feynman. A rigorous combinatorial solution by a related method was given by Hurst and Green [HurGr]. Another combinatorial solution was obtained by Kasteleyn [Kas1]. A useful modification of Kasteleyn's approach is due to Fisher [Fis3] (see [McWu1]). One more simple solution based on the method of Kac and Ward was given by Vdovichenko [Vdov] (see [LanLif]) although [Vdov] omits the discussion of the boundary conditions. In [Kas1], Kasteleyn maps the Ising problem onto the dimer covering problem (i.e. the problem of counting all possible coverings by dimers) on a special lattice, slightly more complex than the square lattice. It is interesting to note that the dimer problem on the square lattice, which thus can be regarded as a simpler version of the Ising problem, was solved by Kasteleyn himself [Kas2] and, independently, by Temperley and Fisher [TemFis] in 1961 (see also [LieLoss] for a later alternative, particularly simple, solution of the dimer problem on the square lattice).

We now return to 1946. Kaufman's method and results were eventually published three years later in [Kau1]. Onsager continues in [Ons2]: "By itself that was only a more elegant derivation of an old result; but the approach looked powerful enough to produce a few new ones. Very well, how about correlations?" As noted by Baxter, the history of the Ising model from that time forth has been the study of these correlations.

In 1948, at a conference at Cornell, and again in 1949 at a conference in Florence, Onsager astounded the audience by announcing that he and Kaufman had recently obtained an exact formula for the spontaneous magnetization M_0 of the 2-D Ising model. He gave the result as

(19)
$$M_0 = (1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2)^{1/8}, \qquad k_{\text{ons}} \equiv \left(\sinh \frac{2J_1}{k_B T} \sinh \frac{2J_2}{k_B T}\right)^{-1}$$

for $0 < k_{\text{ons}} < 1$, corresponding to $T < T_c$. And for $k_{\text{ons}} > 1$, corresponding to $T > T_c$, $M_0 = 0$.

Onsager and Kaufman never published a proof of this result. The situation was as follows. In 1949 they published their famous paper [KauOns], based on Kaufman's spinor (free-fermion) approach, in which they found, in particular, an explicit expression (see (21) below) for the two-point correlation function along a row in the thermodynamic limit, i.e. $\langle \sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n}\rangle$. By physical arguments

(20)
$$M_0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \right\rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

so that in order to derive (19), what they had to do was to control the limit in (20). As Onsager describes the situation [Ons3]: "And then, finally, it became apparent that we had a last problem, of the degree of the order, and that turned out to need more invention."

2 Toeplitz meets Ising

What precisely was this "last problem" that Kaufman and Onsager had to face in order to compute the limit in (20)? It is here that we make contact with the theory of Toeplitz matrices. In [KauOns] Kaufman and Onsager expressed $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle$ as a sum of two Toeplitz determinants as follows (in the notation of [MPW]):

$$(-1)^{n} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = c_{2}^{*2} \det \begin{pmatrix} b_{-1} & b_{-2} & b_{-3} & \dots & b_{-n} \\ b_{0} & b_{-1} & b_{-2} & \dots & b_{1-n} \\ b_{1} & b_{0} & b_{-1} & \dots & b_{2-n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{n-2} & b_{n-3} & b_{n-4} & \dots & b_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(21)$$

$$- s_{2}^{*2} \det \begin{pmatrix} b_{1} & b_{2} & b_{3} & \dots & b_{n} \\ b_{0} & b_{1} & b_{2} & \dots & b_{n-1} \\ b_{-1} & b_{0} & b_{1} & \dots & b_{n-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ b_{2-n} & b_{3-n} & b_{4-n} & & b_{1} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

(22)
$$c_2^* = \cosh K_2^*, \quad s_2^* = \sinh K_2^*, \quad e^{-2K_2^*} = \tanh \frac{J_2}{k_B T}$$

(23)
$$b_{j} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \cos\left(\hat{\delta}(\theta) - j\theta\right) d\theta$$

(24)
$$\cos \hat{\delta}(\theta) = \sin \left(\delta^*(\theta)\right) \sin \theta \cosh 2K_2^* - \cos \left(\delta^*(\theta)\right) \cos \theta$$

and $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta}) = e^{i\delta^*(\theta)}$ is a function introduced previously by Onsager in [Ons1]

(25)
$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \left[\left(\frac{1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}}{1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}}\right) \left(\frac{1 - \gamma_2 e^{-i\theta}}{1 - \gamma_2 e^{i\theta}}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

(26) where
$$\gamma_1 = z_1 z_2^*, \quad \gamma_2 = z_2^*/z_1$$

$$z_1 = \tanh \frac{J_1}{k_B T}, \quad z_2 = \tanh \frac{J_2}{k_B T}, \quad z_2^* = \frac{1 - z_2}{1 + z_2},$$

The branch in (25) is chosen so that $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\pi}) = e^{i\delta^*(\pi)} > 0$.

Remark 2.1. As noted in [MPW], there is a sign error in formula (21) in [KauOns].

So the problem that Kaufman and Onsager had to face to compute M_0 via (20), was the purely mathematical problem of computing the asymptotics of $n \times n$ Toeplitz determinants as $n \to \infty$. At the time, however, all that was known was Szegő's result (9) with unknown error term o(n). But to compute (20), this error term is precisely what one needs to know!

Note that

$$(27) 0 < \gamma_1 < 1 and \gamma_1 < \gamma_2.$$

If $\gamma_2 \neq 1$, we see that

(28)
$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \frac{\left(1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}\right) \left(1 - \gamma_2 e^{-i\theta}\right)}{\left|\left(1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}\right) \left(1 - \gamma_2 e^{i\theta}\right)\right|}$$

and hence $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ is a smooth, single-valued function on the unit circle S^1 . On the other hand, if $\gamma_2 = 1$, then

(29)
$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = i e^{-i\theta/2} \frac{\left(1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}\right)}{|1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}|}, \qquad 0 < \theta < 2\pi.$$

Simple algebra shows that for $\hat{\chi}_i = J_i/k_BT$, i = 1, 2,

$$\gamma_2 \geqslant 1 \iff \sinh(\hat{\chi}_1 + \hat{\chi}_2) - \cosh(\hat{\chi}_1 - \hat{\chi}_2) \leqslant 0$$

and

$$\sinh^2(\hat{\chi}_1 + \hat{\chi}_2) - \cosh^2(\hat{\chi}_1 - \hat{\chi}_2) = k_{\text{ons}}^{-1} - 1$$

where $k_{\text{ons}} = (\sinh 2\hat{\chi}_1 \sinh 2\hat{\chi}_2)^{-1}$ as in (19). Thus

(30)
$$\gamma_2 \geqslant 1 \iff k_{\text{ons}} \geqslant 1.$$

In other words, sub-critical (resp. super-critical) temperatures, $T < T_c$ (resp. $T > T_c$) correspond to $z_2^* < z_1$ (resp. $z_2^* > z_1$). And, of course, $T = T_c \iff z_2^* = z_1$.

It turns out that in their initial (unpublished) calculations to compute M_0 , Kaufman and Onsager did not actually use (21). What happened is described by Onsager in [Ons2] and [Ons3] (see also [Bax] for more details, particularly concerning the Wiener-Hopf calculation below). In addition to (21), Kaufman and Onsager had derived, but apparently did not publish (see private communication to C. Domb [Dom2, p. 201]), an expression for the 2-point correlation function along a diagonal $\langle \sigma_{1,1}, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle$, which is much simpler than (21). Only one Toeplitz determinant is involved,

(31)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle = D_n \left(\varphi_{\text{diag}} \right)$$

where⁴

(32)
$$\varphi_{\text{diag}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \left(\frac{1 - k_{\text{ons}} e^{-i\theta}}{1 - k_{\text{ons}} e^{i\theta}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and again k_{ons} is given as in (19) and $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(e^{i\pi}) > 0$. The same physical arguments as in (20) yield

(33)
$$M_0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Onsager then realized that the eigenvalue equation for the Toeplitz matrix $T(\varphi_{\text{diag}})$,

$$u_k = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (\varphi_{\text{diag}})_{k-j} u_j, \qquad 0 \le k \le n-1$$

was a discrete analog of the Milne integral equation

(34)
$$f(x) = \int_0^\infty A(x - y) f(y) dy, \qquad x > 0$$

which arises, with a particular, explicit function $A(\cdot)$, in radiative equilibrium theory (see, for example [DymMc]). Milne's equation can be solved using the Wiener-Hopf method, a technique with which Onsager was familiar from lectures that Wiener had given earlier in the Mathematics Department at Yale. So Onsager tried the Wiener-Hopf technique on the above eigenvalue equation for $T(\varphi_{\text{diag}})$, to obtain the eigenvalues $\lambda = \lambda_{\ell}^{(n)}$, $1 \leq \ell \leq n$, and then computed $D_n(\varphi_{\text{diag}}) = \prod_{\ell=1}^n \lambda_{\ell}^{(n)}$. Letting $n \to \infty$, formula (19) for M_0 then emerged. This was the basis for the first announcements of the result in 1948 and 1949. So why didn't Kaufman and Onsager publish the details of their calculation? The situation was as follows. As in the case of Milne's equation, the Wiener-Hopf method requires very detailed knowledge of the kernel $(\varphi_{\text{diag}})_{j-k}$, in the case of Ising. Onsager sensed that there was another prize to be had: What about Toeplitz determinants with general symbols φ ? And so, before Kaufman and Onsager could get around to publishing their calculation, Onsager began looking for a method to evaluate asymptotically Toeplitz determinants with general symbols. We quote Onsager [Ons3]: "...and lo and behold I found it. It was a general formula for the evaluation of Toeplitz matrices. The only thing I did not know was how

 $[\]frac{^{4}\text{In [Dom2], the symbol is } \overline{\varphi_{\text{diag}}}, \text{ not } \varphi_{\text{diag}}}{\det T_{n}(\varphi_{\text{diag}})^{T}} = \det T_{n}(\varphi_{\text{diag}})^{T} = \det T_{n}(\varphi_{\text{diag}})^{T}$

to fill out the holes in the mathematics and show the epsilons and deltas and all of that, and the limiting processes; I did not know just how it should be done and what mathematicians really knew about limiting processes in that ball park." As it turned out, by that point, mathematicians knew a lot! Before it was clear what conditions to place on the symbol, Kaufman and Onsager spoke to Kakutani and then Kakutani spoke to Szegő. Szegő then revisited his calculations from 1915, and in 1952 [Sz3] evaluated the o(n) term in (9) for a very general class of symbols φ . This celebrated result is the Szegő Strong Limit Theorem mentioned above. Faced with Szegő's general result, Kaufman and Onsager published neither their first, nor their second method. As Onsager noted [Ons2], "...the mathematicians got there first." In the long history of mathematics and physics, it is most unusual for a physicist to be scooped out of a formula by a mathematician!

There is, however, more to the story. On the web (see [Bax]) there is the draft of a paper titled "Long-Range Order" from 1950 (never published), without names attached but almost certainly by Onsager and Kaufman, that describes their more general method and obtains the result (19) for M_0 . Here the authors use formulae (20) and (21). There is also an earlier letter [Kau2] written on April 12, 1950, from Onsager to Kaufman containing some of the calculations from the above draft. Presumably to allay any concerns about priority, Onsager assures Kaufman at the end of the letter that "There will be time for all these things." As one reads [Ons2] [Ons3], one senses the faint hint of regret that Onsager must have felt for such optimism. In a letter from Kaufman to Onsager, written on May 12, 1950, a month after the letter [Kau2], Kaufman says "Here is a draft of Crystal Statistics IV". In [Bax], Baxter makes a strong case that the above paper from 1950 is indeed Kaufman's draft of Crystal Statistics IV. However, this may not be so. On the Onsager archive in Trondheim (see footnote 3) under "Selected research material and writings", item 17.121, one finds the paper "Long-Range order" discussed by Baxter. Although, again, no names are attached, this establishes the provenance of the paper beyond any reasonable doubt, as suspected by Baxter. Item 17.121, however, also contains a second, completely separate paper called "Crystal statistics IV. Long-Range Order in a Binary Crystal", and both Kaufman's and Onsager's names are attached.⁵ The "Long-range" paper describes, as noted above, the second method of Kaufman-Onsager for general symbols, and the second paper describes their first Wiener-Hopf type method. However, it is unfinished and it ends abruptly. So when Kaufman wrote to Onsager "Here is the draft of Crystal Statistics IV", which of these two drafts did she mean? Either way, the evidence that Kaufman/Onsager knew how to evaluate the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants (in two ways!) is now clear and written down in their own hand.

3 Szegő's Theorem

Here is Szegő's result [Sz3] [GreSz].

Theorem 3 (Szegő Strong Limit Theorem). Let $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ be a positive, $C^{1+\varepsilon}$, $\varepsilon > 0$, function on S^1 . Let $(\log \varphi)_k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-ik\theta} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) d\theta$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, denote the Fourier coefficients of $\log \varphi(e^{i\theta})$. Then

(35)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}} = e^{E(\varphi)}$$

where

(36)
$$E(\varphi) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left| (\log \varphi)_k \right|^2.$$

⁵The authors thank H. Holden for locating this paper on the Trondheim archive.

Thus the o(n) term in (9) is given by $E(\varphi) + o(1)$.

Remark 3.1. Note that

(37)
$$e^{(\log \varphi)_0} = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) d\theta\right]$$

is the geometric mean of φ .

In contrast to (35), Szegő's earlier result Theorem 1, $\lim_{n\to\infty} (D_n(\varphi))^{\frac{1}{n}} = e^{(\log \varphi)_0}$, is known simply as Szegő's First Theorem, or sometimes just Szegő's Theorem.

In the years that followed, there was considerable effort by many mathematicians to weaken the assumptions in Theorem 3. Along the way, many new methods, quite different one from the other, were discovered to prove (35). These developments are described in the outstanding recent monographs by Barry Simon [Sim2] and Böttcher and Silbermann [BottSilb3]: also see [McC2] and [Bott1] for earlier summaries. In [Sim2], the contributions of Kac [Kac], G. Baxter [BaxG1], Hirschman [Hir], and Devinatz [Dev], in particular, are discussed, leading up through successively weaker assumptions to the definitive result of Ibragimov [Ibr] in 1968 giving necessary and sufficient conditions on $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ for (35) to hold under the assumption of the positivity of φ .

Theorem 4 (Ibragimov). Let $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$ be a probability measure on S^1 and suppose that $\log \varphi(e^{i\theta})$ is integrable. Then (35) is always true in the following sense: $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}}$ always exists and equals $e^{E(\varphi)}$, including the case where one, and hence both, are infinite.

One can consider Toeplitz matrices $T_n(d\mu)$ for general probability measures $d\mu(\theta) = \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + d\mu_s(\theta)$ on S^1 , where $d\mu_s$ denotes the singular part of $d\mu$. We have $T_n(d\mu) = \{\mu_{j-k}\}_{0 \le j, k \le n-1}$, where $\mu_\ell = \int e^{-i\ell\theta} d\mu(\theta)$, $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $D_n(d\mu) = \det T_n(d\mu)$. The following remarkable result generalizes Theorem 1.

Theorem 5 ([Sz1][Sz2][Sz4][Ver]). Let $d\mu(\theta) = \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + d\mu_s(\theta)$ be a probability measure as above. Then Szegő's Limit Theorem is always true in the following sense: $\lim_{n\to\infty} D_n(d\mu)^{\frac{1}{n}}$ always exists and equals $\exp\left[\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}\right]$, including the case where one, and hence both, are zero.

Szegő proved the result when $d\mu_s=0$, whereas Verblunsky was able to handle the case $d\mu_s\neq 0$. Of course, as $\varphi(e^{i\theta})\in L^1\left(\frac{d\theta}{2\pi}\right), \int_{-\pi}^{\pi}\log\varphi(e^{i\theta})\,\frac{d\theta}{2\pi}<\infty$, and the integral can diverge, possibly, only to $-\infty$. The striking feature of Theorem 5 is that $\lim_{n\to\infty}D_n(d\mu)^{\frac{1}{n}}$ is independent of $d\mu_s$.

Is it possible that (35) remains true when $d\mu_s \neq 0$? Here the definitive result is due to Golinskii and Ibragimov.

Theorem 6 ([GolIbr]). Let $d\mu(\theta) = \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + d\mu_s(\theta)$ be a probability measure as above, and suppose $\log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \in L^1\left(\frac{d\theta}{2\pi}\right)$. If $d\mu_s \neq 0$, then

(38)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(d\mu)}{\exp\left[n \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}\right]} = +\infty$$

In other words, if (35) were to hold with $E(\varphi) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k |(\log \varphi)_k|^2 < \infty$, then necessarily $d\mu_s = 0$.

In [Sim2], Simon presents six different proofs of (35). Some of these proofs require stronger conditions on φ (see [Sim2]). We now describe these methods in some detail (but without giving precise conditions on φ in each case) in order to illustrate the extraordinary variety of mathematical areas and techniques that inter-relate with Szegő's Strong Limit Theorem. Our presentation follows [Sim2]. After this presentation, we will also describe three additional proofs not covered in [Sim2], together with some brief comments on Szegő's original proof (see Remark 3.2).

The first proof uses ideas and results from the theory of orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle (OPUC's). These polynomials were introduced by Szegő in the early 1920's [Sz4] [Sz5] in the course of his investigation of the eigenvalues $\lambda_1^{(n)}, \ldots, \lambda_n^{(n)}$ of Toeplitz matrices T_n . The classical references for OPUC's are [Sz5] [Ge]. The OPUC's $p_k(z) = \chi_k z^k + \ldots, \chi_k > 0$, associated with a probability measure $d\mu(\theta)$ on S^1 are formed by orthonormalizing $1, z, z^2, \ldots, z^k, \ldots$ with respect to $d\mu(\theta)$ in $L^2(S^1, d\mu(\theta))$,

(39)
$$\int_{S^1} \overline{p_k(e^{i\theta})} \, p_j\Big(e^{i\theta}\Big) \, d\mu(\theta) = \delta_{k,j}, \qquad k, j \ge 0 .$$

OPUC's are intimately related to Toeplitz determinants. For example

(40)
$$\frac{D_{n+1}(d\mu)}{D_n(d\mu)} = \frac{1}{\chi_n^2} = \frac{1}{\chi_0^2} \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(1 - |\xi_j|^2\right), \qquad n \ge 1$$

where $\xi_j \equiv -(\chi_{j+1})^{-1} \overline{p_{j+1}(0)}$, $j \geq 0$, are the so-called *Verblunsky* coefficients. The ξ_j 's have modulus less than 1, and so $F(d\mu) \equiv \lim_{n \to \infty} D_{n+1}(d\mu)/D_n(d\mu)$ always exists and equals $\chi_0^{-2} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1-|\xi_j|^2)$. But then $\lim_{n \to \infty} (D_n(d\mu))^{\frac{1}{n}}$ always exists, and has the same limit. So the proof of Szegő's Limit Theorem, boils down to showing that

(41)
$$\frac{1}{\chi_0^2} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - |\xi_j|^2 \right) = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \log \varphi\left(e^{i\theta}\right) d\theta \right]$$

where $d\mu(\theta) = \varphi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + d\mu_s(\theta)$. In turn, one finds that

(42)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(d\mu)}{(F(d\mu))^n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\prod_{j=0}^{n-2} (1 - |\xi_j|^2)^{-j-1}}{\prod_{j=n-1}^{\infty} (1 - |\xi_j|^2)^n}$$

and the proof of SSLT for $d\mu_s = 0$ reduces to showing that the limit on the RHS is just $e^{E(\varphi)}$. As we will see below, OPUC's play a crucial role in analyzing the Fisher-Hartwig conjecture for Toeplitz determinants with singular symbols $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$.

The second proof utilizes a remarkable identity which gives an exact formula for $D_n(\varphi)$,

(43)
$$D_n(\varphi) = e^{n(\log \varphi)_0 + E(\varphi)} \det \left(1 - Q_n H(b) H(\widetilde{c}) Q_n\right), \quad n \ge 1$$

where det denotes the determinant in $\ell_2^+ = \ell_2(\mathbb{Z}_+)$, $\mathbb{Z}_+ = \{0, 1, \dots\}$, Q_n is the orthogonal projection in ℓ_2^+ onto $\ell_{2,n}^+ = \{u = (u_0, u_1, \dots) \in \ell_2^+ : u_i = 0 \text{ for } 0 \leq i < n\}$, and H(b), $H(\widetilde{c})$ are the Hankel

operators with kernels $\{b_{i+j+1}\}_{i,j\geq 0}$, $\{c_{-i-j-1}\}_{i,j\geq 0}$. Here $b(e^{i\theta}) = \sum_j b_j e^{ij\theta}$, $c(e^{i\theta}) = \sum_j c_j e^{ij\theta}$ are defined in terms of the Szegő function $\mathcal{D}(z) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{4\pi}\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{e^{i\theta}+z}{e^{i\theta}-z}\log\varphi(e^{i\theta})\,d\theta\right)$,

$$(44) b \equiv \frac{\overline{\mathcal{D}}}{\mathcal{D}}, c \equiv \frac{\mathcal{D}}{\overline{\mathcal{D}}}$$

where $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}(e^{i\theta}) = \lim_{z \to e^{i\theta}, |z| < 1} \mathcal{D}(z)$. The point is that $H(b) H(\widetilde{c})$ is a trace-class operator in $\ell_2^+ = \ell_{2,0}^+$, and hence $Q_n H(b) H(\widetilde{c}) Q_n \to 0$ in trace-norm by abstract arguments as $n \to \infty$. But then $\det (1 - Q_n H(b) H(\widetilde{c}) Q_n) \to 1$ as $n \to \infty$, by the continuity properties of the determinant. (For more information about the trace class and determinants, see [BottSilb3] [Sim3].) Thus SSLT is immediate, once one has proved (43). Formula (43) is known as the Borodin-Okounkov formula and was proved [BorOk] in 2000 in the context of combinatorics and random matrix theory. The formula evoked great interest, and meanwhile several new proofs and generalizations have been given (see, e.g., [BasWid] [BottWid1] and [Sim2]). However, it turns out that it was already proven many years earlier by Geronimo and Case in 1979 in their work on inverse scattering theory [GerCase]. The broader significance of this paper was not appreciated at the time. But more to the point, in a separate section in their paper titled "Szegő's Theorem", Geronimo and Case actually used (43) to prove SSLT. It is unfortunate that these developments were overlooked by the experts in the field.

The third and fourth methods utilize the following Heine-type multi-integral representation for $D_n(\varphi)$ (see, e.g., [BottSilb3] [Sim2])

(45)
$$D_n(\varphi) = \frac{1}{n!} \int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi} \prod_{0 \le i \le k \le n-1} \left| e^{i\theta_j} - e^{i\theta_k} \right|^2 \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \varphi\left(e^{i\theta_j}\right) \frac{d\theta_j}{2\pi} .$$

In the third method, due to Bump and Diaconis [BumpDia], the authors observe that the RHS of (45) can be re-written via Weyl's integration formula as $\int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} e^{F_n(g)} dg$, where dg denotes Haar measures on the unitary group $\mathcal{U}(n)$, and $F_n(g) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \log \varphi(e^{i\theta_j(g)})$, where $\{e^{i\theta_j(g)}\}$ are the eigenvalues of g. Substituting the Fourier expansion $\log \varphi(e^{i\theta}) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} (\log \varphi)_k e^{ik\theta}$, one obtains

(46)
$$D_n(\varphi) = e^{n(\log \varphi)_0} \int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} \exp\left(\sum_{k \neq 0} (\log \varphi)_k \operatorname{tr}(g^k)\right) dg$$

and after expanding out the exponential, one ends up with the representation

(47)
$$D_n(\varphi) = e^{n(\log \varphi)_0} \int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} \overline{\left(\sum_t \eta_t T_t(g)\right)} \left(\sum_s \eta_s T_s(g)\right) dg.$$

Here the sums are over all k-tuples of non-negative integers $t=(t_1,\ldots,t_k), s=(s_1,\ldots,s_k)$, and for any $k,\,T_t(g)=\prod_{j=1}^k \left[\operatorname{tr}\,\left(g^j\right)\right]^{t_j}$, and the η_t 's, η_s 's are explicit constants depending on $\{(\log\varphi)_\ell\}$. The magic of the method is that one can use the theory of characters together with Frobenius-Schur-Weyl duality to compute $\int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} \overline{T_t(g)}\,T_s(g)\,dg$ explicitly, obtaining

(48)
$$\int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} \overline{T_t(g)} \, T_s(g) = \delta_{ts} \, W(t)$$

where $W(t) = \prod_{j=1}^k j^{t_j} t_j!$, provided $\sum_{j=1}^k j t_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^k j s_j$ are $\leq n$. Substituting (48) into (47) and controlling the errors as $n \to \infty$, one immediately obtains (35).

In the fourth proof, due to Johansson [Joh1], one rewrites (45) with $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) = e^{V(\theta)}$ in the form

(49)
$$D_n(e^V) = \frac{1}{n!} \int e^{-2H_n(\theta_0, \dots, \theta_{n-1})} \frac{d\theta_0}{2\pi} \dots \frac{d\theta_{n-1}}{2\pi}$$

where

(50)
$$H_n = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} V(\theta_j) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{0 \le k \le j \le n-1} W(\theta_k - \theta_j)$$

and

(51)
$$W(\theta) = -\log\left|e^{i\theta} - 1\right|^2.$$

This expression exhibits $n!D_n(e^V)$ as the partition function of a gas of 1-dimensional particles with 2-dimensional Coulomb interactions — a "log-gas" in the terminology of Dyson. Dyson introduced this terminology in the context of his analysis [Dy1] of Circular Ensembles of $n \times n$ random matrices. For such ensembles Dyson found that the distributions of the eigenvalues $\{e^{i\theta_j}\}_{j=0}^{n-1}, 0 \le \theta_j < 2\pi$, of the matrices were given by

(52)
$$\frac{1}{Z_{n,\beta}} \prod_{0 \le j < k \le n-1} |e^{i\theta_j} - e^{i\theta_k}|^{\beta} \frac{d\theta_0}{2\pi} \cdots \frac{d\theta_{n-1}}{2\pi}.$$

Here $\beta = 1$ for the orthogonal, $\beta = 2$ for the unitary, and $\beta = 4$ for the symplectic ensemble, and

(53)
$$Z_{n,\beta} = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\theta_0}{2\pi} \cdots \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\theta_{n-1}}{2\pi} \prod_{0 \le j < k \le n-1} |e^{i\theta_j} - e^{i\theta_k}|^{\beta}$$

is the normalization constant. Dyson then noted that the distribution of the eigenvalues $\{e^{i\theta_j}\}_{j=0}^{n-1}$ was identical with the distribution of the positions $0 \leq \theta_j < 2\pi$, $j = 0, \ldots, n-1$ of charges in a finite gas with 2-D Coulomb interactions at inverse temperature β and with Gibbs measure $\frac{1}{Z_{n,\beta}} \exp\{-\beta H_n(\theta_0,\ldots,\theta_{n-1})\}\frac{d\theta_0}{2\pi}\cdots\frac{d\theta_{n-1}}{2\pi}$, where $H_n(\theta_0,\ldots,\theta_{n-1}) = -\sum_{0\leq j< k\leq n-1}\log|e^{i\theta_j}-e^{i\theta_k}|$, and the partition function is given by (53). As emphasized by Dyson [Dy1], a consequence of this identification is that "...the thermodynamic notions of entropy, specific heat, etc., can be transferred from the Coulomb gas to the eigenvalue series. This will prove very useful, as it gives us a precise and well-understood language in which to describe the statistical properties of the eigenvalues". If the matrices U in the ensembles carry a weight $e^{-\beta \operatorname{tr} Q(U)}$, then the energy in the corresponding Coulomb gas must be replaced by

(54)
$$H_n(\theta_0, \dots, \theta_{n-1}) = -\sum_{0 \le i \le k \le n-1} \log |e^{i\theta_j} - e^{i\theta_k}| + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} Q(e^{i\theta_j})$$

where Q now plays the role of an external force acting on the charges.

In operational terms, the identification implies, in particular, (see [Dy2]) that the free energy $F \equiv -\beta^{-1} \log Z_{n,\beta}$ is approximated to leading order as $n \to \infty$ by the classical thermodynamic recipe, $F \sim F_T$, where

$$\beta F_T = G_2 + G_1 + G_0.$$

Here G_2 is the macroscopic Coulomb energy

(56)
$$G_2 = -\frac{\beta}{2} \int \int \sigma(e^{i\theta}) \sigma(e^{i\theta'}) \log|e^{i\theta} - e^{i\theta'}| d\theta d\theta' + \beta \int Q(e^{i\theta}) \sigma(e^{i\theta}) d\theta$$

and $G_1 + G_0$ is the local free energy term

(57)
$$G_1 = \left(1 - \frac{\beta}{2}\right) \int \sigma(e^{i\theta}) \log \sigma(e^{i\theta}) d\theta,$$

(58)
$$G_0 = n \left[\left(1 - \frac{\beta}{2} \right) \log \frac{2\pi}{n} + \log \Gamma \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{2} \right) \right] - \log \Gamma \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{2} n \right).$$

The function $\sigma(e^{i\theta}) \geq 0$ is the macroscopic density of the gas and is chosen to minimize the functional on the right-hand side of (55) subject to the constraint

(59)
$$\int \sigma(e^{i\theta})d\theta = n.$$

Dyson first applied these thermodynamic notions to compute [Dy2] the probability P_s that there are no eigenvalues for a random matrix in the interval $(0, 2s/\pi)$, in the bulk scaling limit where the average distance between the eigenvalues is rescaled to 1, for the Gaussian Unitary Ensemble (see [Meh]). Using these notions, he derived, for the first time, the leading order of P_s , $P_s \sim \exp\{-s^2/2\}$ as $s \to \infty$. (We return to this problem further on (see (225) et seq).) A year later in [Dy3], Dyson showed how these notions play out in the context of SSLT. First Dyson noted, as explained above, that the Heine-type representation (45) immediately displayed $n!D_n(e^V)$ as the partition function of a log-gas as in (49)–(51) above. This connection between Toeplitz determinants and the Coulomb gas was first pointed out in an unpublished manuscript by G. Kreisel, which was made available to Dyson by courtesy of E. Wigner.⁶

For $\beta = 2$ the term $G_1 = 0$ and the constant $G_0 = -\log n!$, and we have

(60)
$$F_T = -\frac{1}{2} \int \int \sigma(e^{i\theta}) \sigma(e^{i\theta'}) \log|e^{i\theta} - e^{i\theta'}| d\theta d\theta' + \int Q(e^{i\theta}) \sigma(e^{i\theta}) d\theta - \frac{1}{2} \log n!$$

The constrained minimum is obtained when

(61)
$$Q(e^{i\theta}) - \int \sigma(e^{i\theta'}) \log |e^{i\theta} - e^{i\theta'}| d\theta' = \text{const}$$

on the unit circle. Solving this equation together with (59), Dyson finds that for $Q(e^{i\theta})$ sufficiently smooth,

(62)
$$F_T = -\frac{1}{2}\log n! + nQ_0 - \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |k|Q_k Q_{-k}$$

where $\{Q_k\}$ are the Fourier coefficients of $Q(e^{i\theta})$. For $V = -\beta Q = -2Q$, we obtain

(63)
$$-\frac{1}{2}\log(n!D_n(e^V)) = F \sim F_T = -\frac{1}{2}\log n! + nQ_0 - \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |k|Q_k Q_{-k}$$

⁶We note that already in the 1880's Stieltjes gave an electrostatic interpretation of the zeros of certain classical orthogonal polynomials (see [Sz5], Section 6.7). For a discussion of logarithmic potentials from the viewpoint of potential theory, see the book of Saff and Totik [SaTo].

which is precisely SSLT, $D_n(e^V) \sim \exp\{nV_0 + \sum_{1}^{\infty} k|V_k|^2\}$. There is an irony in this argument: on the one hand, SSLT was proved in response to a problem in statistical mechanics, but on the other hand, SSLT is obtained here by the methods of statistical mechanics. The above calculation is based on the (unproven) validity of the thermodynamic recipe (55)–(58), (59). Johansson's proof in [Joh1] does not rely on the thermodynamic recipe. The proof in [Joh1] starts with the identity $D_n(1) = 1$ and develops a perturbation theory around $\varphi(z) = 1$. Johansson notices that the minimum of the double sum in (50), and thus the maximum of the integrand in (49) for $V \equiv 0$ is reached when the points $e^{i\theta_j}$, $j = 0, \ldots, n-1$, are uniformly distributed on the unit circle, i.e. when they are the vertices of a regular n-gon. For $\varphi(z) = e^{V(z)} \not\equiv 1$, normalize φ by requiring $V_0 = 0$. If one adds the corresponding first sum with $V \not\equiv 0$ to (50), the position of the maximum of the integrand in (49) becomes displaced, but in a sense only slightly if n is large. For large n Johansson introduces the following change of variables in (49):

(64)
$$\theta_j = \psi_j - \frac{1}{n} h(e^{i\psi_j}), \qquad j = 0, \dots, n-1,$$

where $h(z) = -i \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (V_k z^k - V_{-k} z^{-k})$ is the conjugate function to V(z). The main contribution to the integral comes from a small neighborhood of a configuration where ψ_j 's are uniformly distributed on the unit circle. Due to this crucial fact, all the sums which appear (as a result of the change of variables (64)) in the exponent, apart from the main one, $\sum_{0 \le k < j \le n-1} W(\psi_k - \psi_j)$, can be replaced by integrals with good precision and produce, as $n \to \infty$, the constant (36), while the remaining $\frac{1}{n!} \int \exp(-\sum_{0 \le k < j \le n-1} W(\psi_k - \psi_j)) \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{d\psi_k}{2\pi} = D_n(1) = 1$. The fifth method is combinatorial and is due basically to Kac [Kac]. At the start one renormal-

The fifth method is combinatorial and is due basically to Kac [Kac]. At the start one renormalizes $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ so that $\sup_{\theta} \varphi(e^{i\theta}) = 1$. Setting $h = 1 - \varphi$ and $w_{\lambda} = 1 - \lambda h$, $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, we have $w_1 = \varphi$. Under the additional assumption that $\inf_{\theta} \varphi(e^{i\theta}) > 0$, we clearly have $0 \le h(\theta) \le \sup_{\theta} h(\theta) < 1$. Using the identity log det $A = \operatorname{tr} \log A$, one expands $\log D_n(1 - \lambda h)$ for $0 \le \lambda \le 1$ in a power series (note that $||T_n(h)|| \le ||h||_{\infty} < 1$)

(65)
$$\log D_n (1 - \lambda h) = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^m}{m} \operatorname{tr} ([T_n(h)]^m)$$

and also

(66)
$$\int \log (1 - \lambda h) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^m}{m} \int h^m(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} .$$

On the other hand

(67)
$$(\log(1-\lambda h))_k = -\int e^{-ik\theta} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^m}{m} h^m(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$$

and so

(68)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k |(\log (1 - \lambda h))_k|^2 = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} s_m \frac{\lambda^m}{m}$$

where

$$s_m = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \frac{m}{\ell(m-\ell)} \left(\int e^{-ik\theta} h^{\ell}(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \right) \left(\int e^{ik\theta} h^{m-\ell}(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \right).$$

Thus the strategy is to show

(69)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} - \left[\operatorname{tr} \left([T_n(h)] \right)^m - n \int h^m(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \right] = s_m.$$

Combinatorial issues arise when one tries to control the complicated multilinear sums in tr $[T_n(h)]^m$. The sixth method is based on a formula of Baik, Deift, McLaughlin, and Zhou (unpublished) for relative determinants

(70)
$$\log \frac{D_n(\varphi \psi)}{D_n(\psi)} = \int_0^1 dt \int_0^{2\pi} \left[\frac{d}{dt} \log \varphi_t \right] K_t(\theta) \varphi_t(\theta) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$$

where φ and ψ are two functions on S^1 and $\varphi_t = (1 - t) + t\varphi$ and $K_t(\theta)$ is the *Christoffel-Darboux* kernel

(71)
$$K_t(\theta) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left| p_j \left(e^{i\theta}, \, \varphi_t \, \psi \right) \right|^2$$

and $p_j(e^{i\theta}, \varphi_t \psi)$ are the OPUC's associated with the weight $\varphi_t(e^{i\theta}) \psi(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$. SSLT then follows by computing the (weak) limit of $\frac{1}{n} K_t(\theta)$ as $n \to \infty$. Thus, as in the first method, SSLT is seen here as following from properties of OPUC's $p_j(e^{i\theta})$.

The mathematical challenge that is posed by SSLT can be viewed as follows. In functional analysis one commonly considers continuous maps F, say, from one fixed topological space X to another fixed topological space Y. Then in order to verify that $\lim_{n\to\infty} F(x_n) = F(x)$ all one has to do is verify that $x_n \to x$ as $n \to \infty$ in the topology of X. In particular, if X is the space of trace class operators on a separable Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , and $F(x) = \det(1+x)$, then $F: X \to Y = \mathbb{C}$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \det(1+x_n) = \det(1+x)$ if $x_n \to x$ in trace norm. But SSLT is not of this standard type. Instead, one has $F: M(n,\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{C}$ taking $A_n \in M(n,\mathbb{C})$ to $F(A_n) = \det A_n$. So the initial space $X = X_n = M(n, \mathbb{C})$ is changing with n and it is not at all clear how to topologize the situation so that " $\lim_n F(A_n) = F(\lim_n A_n)$ ". If, for example, we let $X = M(\infty, \mathbb{C})$ be the inductive limit of the $M(n,\mathbb{C})$'s, then $T_n(\varphi)$ converges to the Toeplitz operator $T(\varphi)$ in the associated topology, but $T(\varphi)$ is not of the form 1 + trace class, and so $F(T(\varphi)) = \det(T(\varphi))$ is not defined. In such situations when $X = X_n$, or $Y = Y_n$, is varying, there is no general procedure to follow and each problem must be addressed on an ad hoc basis. And when there is no preferred path to the solution of a problem, there are many paths, as we see from the six very different methods above. In this regard, the method of Borodin-Okounkov-Geronimo-Case is singled out: after factoring out $e^{n(\log \varphi)_0 + E(\varphi)}$, one has

(72)
$$\frac{\det(T_n(\varphi))}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0 + E(\varphi)}} = \det(1 - B_n)$$

where $B_n = Q_n H(b) H(\tilde{c}) Q_n$ is trace class in ℓ_2^+ and $B_n \to 0$ in trace norm as $n \to \infty$. In other words, one of the paths is to renormalize the problem so that it assumes the standard form.

This pathway, to reduce SSLT to standard form, goes back to Harold Widom, who was the first to apply operator-theoretic methods to the problem of Toeplitz asymptotics. In [Wid4], Widom gave yet another proof of (35). This proof, which was found more than 35 years ago, has not lost its charm. We follow the presentation in [Bott1]. It turns out that by a simple trick, the determinants of finite sections of the inverse Toeplitz operator $T(\varphi)^{-1}$ are easy to compute,

(73)
$$\det P_n T(\varphi)^{-1} P_n = e^{-n(\log \varphi)_0}$$

where P_n projects $u = (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{n-1}, u_n, \dots) \in \ell_2^+$ to $(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Simple algebra shows that

(74)
$$\det T_n(\varphi) = \det P_n T(\varphi) P_n = \det \left(P_n T^{-1} \left(\varphi^{-1} \right) P_n \right) \times \det \left(1 + \left(P_n T^{-1} \left(\varphi^{-1} \right) P_n \right)^{-1} P_n K P_n \right)$$

where $K \equiv T(\varphi) - T^{-1}(\varphi^{-1})$ is trace-class. By (73),

(75)
$$\det P_n T^{-1} \left(\varphi^{-1} \right) P_n = e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}.$$

But $(P_n T^{-1}(\varphi^{-1}) P_n)^{-1} P_n$ can be shown to converge strongly as $n \to \infty$ in ℓ_2^+ to $(T^{-1}(\varphi^{-1}))^{-1} = T(\varphi^{-1})$, and as K is trace class, $R_n \equiv (P_n T^{-1}(\varphi^{-1}) P_n)^{-1} P_n K P_n \to T(\varphi^{-1}) K$. We conclude that as $n \to \infty$

(76)
$$\frac{\det T_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}} = \det(1 + R_n) \to \det(1 + T(\varphi^{-1})K) = \det T(\varphi^{-1})T(\varphi).$$

Using the remarkable Helton-Howe-Pincus formula (see [HeltHow]), $\det(e^A e^B e^{-A} e^{-B}) = e^{\operatorname{tr}[A,B]}$, if A, B are bounded, and [A, B] = AB - BA is trace class, one then shows that $\det(T(\varphi^{-1})T(\varphi)) = e^{E(\varphi)}$, and (35) is proved.

Of all the methods to prove SSLT, perhaps the simplest and most direct was introduced by Basor and Helton in [BasHelt]. As in [Wid4], the method also proceeds by reducing SSLT to standard form. We follow [BasHelt]: Suppose φ has a Wiener-Hopf factorization $\varphi = \varphi_+\varphi_-$, where φ_+ , φ_+^{-1} are bounded analytic functions in $\{|z| < 1\}$, and φ_- , φ_-^{-1} are bounded analytic functions in $\{|z| > 1\}$. Then by direct calculation, the Toeplitz operator $T(\varphi)$ has a factorization $T(\varphi) = T(\varphi_-)T(\varphi_+)$, furthermore,

(77)
$$P_n T(\varphi_+) = P_n T(\varphi_+) P_n, \qquad T(\varphi_-) P_n = P_n T(\varphi_-) P_n.$$

As $T(\varphi_{\pm})T(\varphi_{\pm}^{-1})=1$, we see that $T(\varphi_{\pm})^{-1}$ exist and $T(\varphi_{\pm})^{-1}=T(\varphi_{\pm}^{-1})$. We thus have

(78)
$$P_n T(\varphi) P_n = P_n T(\varphi_+) P_n T(\varphi_+)^{-1} T(\varphi_-) T(\varphi_+) T(\varphi_-)^{-1} P_n T(\varphi_-) P_n$$

so that

(79)
$$D_n(\varphi) = \det(P_n T(\varphi_+) P_n) \det\left(P_n \left\{T(\varphi_+)^{-1}, T(\varphi_-)\right\} P_n\right) \det(P_n T(\varphi_-) P_n)$$
$$= \left((\varphi_+)_0 (\varphi_-)_0\right)^n \det\left(P_n \left\{T(\varphi_+)^{-1}, T(\varphi_-)\right\} P_n\right)$$

where $\{T(\varphi_+)^{-1}, T(\varphi_-)\} = T(\varphi_+)^{-1}T(\varphi_-)T(\varphi_+)T(\varphi_-)^{-1}$ is the multiplicative commutator. However $\{T(\varphi_+)^{-1}, T(\varphi_-)\} = 1 + T(\varphi_+)^{-1} [T(\varphi_-), T(\varphi_+)] T(\varphi_-)^{-1}$ and under mild smoothness conditions on $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$, the commutator $[T(\varphi_-), T(\varphi_+)] = T(\varphi_-)T(\varphi_+) - T(\varphi_+)T(\varphi_-)$ is trace class. For such φ , $\det(P_n\{T(\varphi_+)^{-1}, T(\varphi_-)\} P_n)$ is equal to the Fredholm determinant

$$\det(1 + P_n T(\varphi_+)^{-1} [T(\varphi_-), T(\varphi_+)] T(\varphi_-)^{-1} P_n)$$

which converges by abstract theory as $n \to \infty$ to

$$\det(1 + T(\varphi_{+})^{-1} [T(\varphi_{-}), T(\varphi_{+})] T(\varphi_{-})^{-1}) = \det\{T(\varphi_{+})^{-1}, T(\varphi_{-})\}$$

$$= \det(T(\varphi_{+})^{-1} T(\varphi_{-}) T(\varphi_{+}) T(\varphi_{-})^{-1})$$

$$= \det T(\varphi_{-}) T(\varphi_{-}) T(\varphi_{-})$$
(80)

Again by the Helton-Howe-Pincus formula, we have

(81)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}} = \det T(\varphi^{-1}) T(\varphi) = e^{E(\varphi)}$$

which proves SSLT under mild assumptions on φ (see [BasHelt] Theorem 2.1.).

In [Dei1], the author gives yet another proof of (35) by expressing $D_n(\varphi)$ as a Fredholm determinant of the following form:

(82)
$$D_n(\varphi) = \det(1 - V_n)$$

where V_n is a trace class operator acting on $L^2(S^1)$

(83)
$$V_n f(z) = \int_{|z'|=1} V_n (z, z') f(z') dz', \qquad |z| = 1,$$

with

(84)
$$V_n(z,z') = \frac{z^n(z')^{-n} - 1}{z - z'} \frac{1 - \varphi(z')}{2\pi i}.$$

The operator V_n is oscillatory and does not converge as $n \to \infty$ in the trace-norm topology. However, V_n has the special form of an *integrable operator*, that is, operators with kernels of the form $\sum_{j=1}^m \frac{f_j(z)g_j(z')}{z-z'}$, with z, z' on some contour Γ in \mathbb{C} , $m < \infty$, and f_j , g_j are given functions on Γ . Such operators were first singled out as a distinguished class by Its, Izergin, Korepin and Slavnov⁷ (see [Dei1] for a pedagogic presentation). Associated with the integrable operators there is a canonical Riemann-Hilbert Problem, which, in this case, is of oscillatory type. Such problems can be analyzed asymptotically by applying the nonlinear steepest descent method for Riemann-Hilbert Problems introduced by Deift and Zhou in [DZ], and further developed in [DVZ], and SSLT then follows (see [Dei1]).

Remark 3.2. In the methods of Widom and Basor-Helton the existence of the limit of $\frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}}$ as $n \to \infty$ follows directly from general theorems in functional analysis: the identification of the limit with $e^{E(\varphi)}$ is a separate matter and uses other means (Helton-Howe-Pincus). The situation is similar regarding Szegő's original proof of SSLT (see [Sz3] [GreSz]): as $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) > 0$, the ratio $\frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}}$ is monotone increasing in n, so the existence of the limit (which may, a priori, be infinite) is immediate. Again the evaluation of the limit is a separate matter. Indeed, Szegő first computes the limit for a dense class of symbols $\{\widetilde{\varphi}\}$ for which $D_n(\widetilde{\varphi})$ can be evaluated explicitly for n sufficiently large, $n > n_{\varphi}$, and then obtains the general result by an approximation argument $\widetilde{\varphi} \to \varphi$.

By contrast, all the other methods we have described above prove the existence of the limit, and compute its value, both at the same time.

We return now briefly to the 2-dimensional Ising model. One notes that Szegő's Theorem 3 does not actually apply to $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta)$, say, in (32), because the symbol is not real valued. Moreover, Szegő's proof of (35) depends in a crucial way on the positivity of $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ (see Remark 3.2 above), and it was not at all clear at the time how to extend Theorem 3 to non-real symbols φ . So Onsager's lament that "... the mathematicians got there first", was in fact not true! The result in the 1950 unpublished draft of Kaufman and Onsager mentioned above, without "the epsilons and deltas and

⁷ Some of the elements of the theory of integrable operators were already present in the earlier work [Sakh].

all of that", but allowing for non-real φ , was in fact the first to break the tape! Now although the symbol $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta)$ is not real, for $0 < k_{\text{ons}} < 1$ however, $\log \varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta)$ is still smooth on S^1 , in particular, the winding number of $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta)$ on S^1 is zero. The first result for such symbols was proved by G. Baxter in 1963 [BaxG2]. He showed that under certain technical conditions, if $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ is smooth, non-zero, and has zero winding number on S^1 , then

(85)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(\varphi)}{e^{n(\log \varphi)_0}} = e^{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k(\log \varphi)_k(\log \varphi)_{-k}}.$$

Note that for $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta)$ in (32), one has for $0 < k_{\text{ons}} < 1$, $(\log \varphi_{\text{diag}})_{\ell} = (\operatorname{sgn} \ell) k_{\text{ons}}^{|\ell|} / 2|\ell|$ for $\ell \neq 0$ and $(\log \varphi_{\text{diag}})_0 = 0$. Hence $\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \ell (\log \varphi)_{\ell} (\log \varphi)_{-\ell} = -\frac{1}{4} \sum_{1}^{\infty} \frac{(k_{\text{ons}}^2)^{\ell}}{\ell} = \frac{1}{4} \log (1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2)$, which yields (19) via (33).

In retrospect, many of the proofs of SSLT do extend directly to complex-valued symbols with smooth logarithm. This is true, in particular, for Kac's proof of (35) in 1954 [Kac], as noted by Montroll, Potts and Ward in [MPW] (see footnote 17, p. 316). Moreover, the proofs in [Wid4] and in the text [BottSilb3], for example, are all designed from the very beginning to cover complex-valued functions.

If $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ is non-zero and continuous, say, on S^1 , and has zero winding number, then $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) = e^{V(e^{i\theta})}$ for some continuous, periodic function $V(e^{i\theta}) = \log \varphi(e^{i\theta})$. The strongest version of SSLT with complex symbols $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ is the following.

Theorem 7. Let $V(e^{i\theta}) \in L^1(S^1)$ be a (possibly complex-valued) function on S^1 with Fourier coefficients $(V_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ satisfying

(86)
$$\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |k| |V_k|^2 < \infty ,$$

then

(87)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(e^V)}{e^{nV_0}} = e^{\sum_{1}^{\infty} k V_k V_{-k}}.$$

Note that for $V(e^{i\theta})$ satisfying (86), $e^{V(e^{i\theta})} \in L^p(S^1, \frac{d\theta}{2\pi})$ for $1 \le p < \infty$ (see [Sim2]). The proof of Theorem 7 is given by Johansson [Joh1]. In particular, his argument for the extension of the result to complex-valued V(z) proceeds by considering the analytic functions

$$g_n(z) = D_n\left(e^{(\Re V + z\Im V)}\right) / e^{n[(\Re V)_0 + z(\Im V)_0]}$$

and applying Vitali's Theorem. When z is real, $\lim_{n\to\infty} g_n(z)$ is given by (85), and to obtain (87) one just sets z=i.

Under the additional assumption that V is in $L^{\infty}(S^1)$, Theorem 7 was already established in [Wid4]. We also note that condition (86) can be replaced by certain "non-symmetric" requirements on the decay of the Fourier coefficients V_k and V_{-k} , $k \geq 0$; see, for example, Theorem 10.32 and Corollary 10.42 of [BottSilb3].

Remark 3.3. In [Joh1], Johansson observes the following very interesting consequence of Theorem 7 (see also [Joh2]). Let $V(e^{i\theta})$ be a real-valued function on S^1 with Fourier coefficients $\{V_k\}$ satisfying (86) and suppose $V_0 = \int V(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = 0$. As in the Bump-Diaconis method for SSLT described above, equip the unitary group $\mathcal{U}(n)$ with Haar measure dg and consider the random variable $F_n(g) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} V\left(e^{i\theta_j(g)}\right) = \operatorname{tr} V(g)$, where $\left\{e^{i\theta_j(g)}\right\}$ are the eigenvalues of $g \in \mathcal{U}(n)$. Then we have the following Central Limit Theorem:

(88)
$$F_n$$
 converges in distribution to $N(0, \sigma^2)$, $\sigma = \left(2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k |V_k|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$

where $N(0, \sigma^2)$ denotes the normal distribution with mean zero and variance σ . Indeed, for any real t we have

(89)
$$\int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} e^{it F_n(g)} dg = D_n(e^{it V})$$

and so by Theorem 7, as $n \to \infty$

(90)
$$\int_{\mathcal{U}(n)} e^{i t F_n(g)} dg \to e^{\sum_{1}^{\infty} k(itV)_k (itV)_{-k}} = e^{-\frac{t^2}{2} \left[2 \left(\sum_{1}^{\infty} k |V_k|^2 \right) \right]}$$

from which we conclude (88). One notes that as opposed to the standard Central Limit Theorem for independent random variables, the θ_j 's are very strongly uniformly distributed and no $n^{-1/2}$ scaling is needed. A suitable scaling is needed in the more general "interpolating" situation considered by Duits and Johansson [DJ] where V(z) depends on n (cf. Section 11). In [DJ], for each $n \geq 1$, the authors consider sequences $\{k_j(n)\}_{j\geq 1}$ of mutually distinct positive integers, and they show that for each $m \geq 1$, the random variables $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\min(k_j(n),n)}} \operatorname{tr} g^{k_j(n)}, j = 1,\ldots,m$, converge to independent standard complex normals. (This connects earlier results of Diaconis and Shahshahani for fixed k_j , and of Rains for $k_j(n) > n$: see [DJ] for references.) Note an interesting difference in scaling for $k_j(n) \leq n$ and for $k_j(n) > n$. In the latter case, the scaling is $n^{-1/2}$. The authors in [DJ] obtained their results by proving an analogue of SSLT for symbols depending on n in a special way, as follows. If

$$V(n;z) = \sum_{|j|>0} \frac{\gamma_j z^{k_j(n)}}{\sqrt{\min(|k_j(n)|, n)}},$$

where $\sum_{j} |\gamma_{j}| < \infty$, the sequences $\{k_{j}(n)\}_{j \geq 1}$ are as above, and $k_{-j}(n) = -k_{j}(n)$, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} D_n(e^{V(n;z)}) = e^{\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \gamma_j \gamma_{-j}}.$$

4 Back to Ising

After Onsager announced formula (19) for M_0 in 1948, and again in 1949, but did not provide a proof, three years went by until a derivation of the formula was found by Yang in a tour de force in 1952 [Yan1]. Yang's method is based on results of Kaufman and Onsager, but his approach is different, and he does not explicitly use Toeplitz determinants. In his Selected Papers in 2005 ([Yan2]), Yang described the long and winding road that led him to the Kaufman-Onsager formula (19). The story has much charm:

"I was thus led to a long calculation, the longest in my career. Full of local, tactical tricks, the calculation proceeded by twists and turns. There were many obstructions. But always, after a few days, a new trick was somehow found that pointed to a new path. The trouble was that I soon felt I was in a maze and was not sure whether in fact, after so many turns, I was anywhere nearer the goal than when I began. This kind of strategic overview was very depressing, and several times I almost gave up. But each time something drew me back, usually a new tactical trick that brightened the scene, even though only locally.

Finally, after about six months of work off and on, all the pieces suddenly fitted together, producing miraculous cancellation, and I was staring at the amazingly simple final result."

Remark 4.1. Let $E_{\Lambda}(\sigma)$ denote the interaction energy in a rectangular box Λ of size $M \times N$ as in (10) above, and let $E_{\Lambda,h}(\sigma) = E_{\Lambda}(\sigma) - h \sum_{(i,j) \in \Lambda} \sigma_{i,j}$ denote the energy in the presence of a magnetic field of strength h. Let $Z_{\Lambda,h} = \sum_{\sigma} e^{-E_{\Lambda,h}(\sigma)/k_B T}$ denote the associated partition function, and let $F_{\Lambda,h} = -\frac{k_B T}{MN} \log Z_{\Lambda,h}$ denote the associated free energy in the box Λ . What Yang proved in [Yan1] was that, for $T < T_c$,

(91)
$$M_Y \equiv -\lim_{h\downarrow 0} \lim_{|\Lambda|\to\infty} \frac{F_{\Lambda,h/N} - F_{\Lambda,0}}{h/N} = \left(1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{8}} = M_0 \equiv \lim_{n\to\infty} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \ \sigma_{1,n} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

(In [Yan1], Yang only considered the case $J_1 = J_2$. Yang's method was extended to the general case $J_1 \neq J_2$ by Chang [Cha].)

As noted and emphasized by Schultz, Mattis and Lieb [ScML] in 1964, neither M_Y nor M_0 coincide, a priori, with the physically fundamental definition of the spontaneous magnetization $M_{\rm phys}$, viz.,

(92)
$$M_{\text{phys}} \equiv -\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \lim_{|\Lambda| \to \infty} \frac{\partial F_{\Lambda,h}}{\partial h}$$

$$= \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \lim_{|\Lambda| \to \infty} \frac{1}{MN} \left[\frac{\sum_{\sigma} \left(\sum_{(i,j) \in \Lambda} \sigma_{i,j} \right) e^{-\frac{1}{k_B T} E_{\Lambda,h}(\sigma)}}{\sum_{\sigma} e^{-\frac{1}{k_B T} E_{\Lambda,h}(\sigma)}} \right].$$

Only some years later was it shown that indeed for $T < T_c$

(93)
$$M_{\text{phys}} = M_Y = M_0 = \left(1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{8}}$$

(see, in particular, [LebM-Lof], [BGJ-LS]).

In 1955 an important technical advance was made by Potts and Ward [PotWar] when they showed, in particular, that the correlation function $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,n} \rangle$ along a row for the 2-D Ising model could be expressed in terms of a *single* Toeplitz determinant, rather than a sum of two Toeplitz determinants as in (21). They were unable at the time to verify that their solution agreed with (21): This was done later in 1963 [MPW] by Montroll, Potts and Ward, who also used recent ideas of Kasteleyn on the Pfaffian approach to the dimer and Ising problems to give a new and simpler proof of the formula in [PotWar]. The formula in [PotWar] [MPW] is the following

(94)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = D_n(\varphi_{\text{ons}})$$

where $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ is the Onsager function defined in (25). Through discussions with Mark Kac, Montroll et al. were aware of SSLT. Furthermore they knew, as noted above, how to extend Szegő's result via Kac's method to the case where the symbol is complex. For $T < T_c$, Montroll, Potts and Ward noted that $0 < \gamma_1, \gamma_2 < 1$ by (30), and so $\varphi_{\text{ons}}^{\pm 1}(e^{i\theta}) \neq 0$ and φ_{ons} has no winding on S^1 . As in the computation for $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(e^{i\theta})$ above, we find

(95)
$$(\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_{\ell} = -\left(\frac{\gamma_1^{\ell}}{2\ell} - \frac{\gamma_2^{\ell}}{2\ell}\right), \qquad \ell \ge 1$$

(96)
$$(\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_{-\ell} = \left(\frac{\gamma_1^{\ell}}{2\ell} - \frac{\gamma_2^{\ell}}{2\ell}\right), \qquad \ell \ge 1$$

and $(\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_0 = 0$. This implies $\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \ell (\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_{\ell} (\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_{-\ell} = \frac{1}{4} \log \frac{(1-\gamma_1^2)(1-\gamma_2^2)}{(1-\gamma_1\gamma_2)^2}$ and after some elementary algebra using (26), we again obtain (19), but now via (20) (cf. the discussion following (85)).

We now consider the spontaneous magnetization for the Ising model for temperatures $T \geq T_c$. As $k_{\text{ons}} \uparrow 1$ when $T \uparrow T_c$, one anticipates from (19) that at $T = T_c$ the spontaneous magnetization M_0 is zero. In [KauOns], Kaufman and Onsager proceed in the following way. They derive an approximate formula for b_k in (23) ($b_k = \sum_{-k}$ in the notation of [KauOns]) at $T = T_c$

(97)
$$b_k \sim \frac{2}{\pi (2k+1)} \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

They then take (97) as an equality for all $k \geq 0$, and substitute this relation into (21) to obtain an approximate asymptotic formula for $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle$ in the form of a linear combination $c_2^{*2} W_n - s_2^* \widetilde{W}_n$ of two Cauchy determinants W_n and $\widetilde{W}_n = W_{-n}$. Such determinants can be evaluated explicitly in terms of gamma functions⁸

(98)
$$|W_n| = \frac{2}{\pi} \prod_{q=1}^{n-1} \frac{\Gamma(q+1)\Gamma(q+1)}{\Gamma(q+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(q+\frac{3}{2})},$$

(99)
$$\left|\widetilde{W}_{n}\right| = \frac{2}{3\pi} \prod_{q=1}^{n-1} \frac{\Gamma(q+1)\Gamma(q+1)}{\Gamma\left(q-\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(q+\frac{5}{2}\right)}$$

and Kaufman and Onsager observe that both W_n and $\widetilde{W}_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, with \widetilde{W}_n decaying at a much faster rate than W_n . They conclude that at $T = T_c$

(100)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle \sim (-1)^n c_2^{*2} W_n \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty$$

and so $M_0 = 0$. In 1959, Fisher [Fis1] picks up on these calculations, and using Stirling's formula in (98) he shows via (100) that as $n \to \infty$

(101)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle \sim C \, n^{-1/4}, \qquad T = T_c$$

for some (undetermined) constant C. This is the first derivation of an explicit decay rate for the correlation function at T_c . Fisher argues further that off the lattice axes, (101) may be generalized (in the case $J_1 = J_2$) to

(102)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle \sim C(\theta) \, k^{-1/4}, \qquad T = T_c$$

⁸ Formulae (98) (99) differ slightly from the corresponding formulae in [KauOns].

where $\tan \theta = \ell/m$ and $k = (\ell^2 + m^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \to \infty$, and $C(\theta)$ depends mildly on θ (see more below). As Fisher learned later from Onsager himself (see reference 8 in [Fis1]; also, cf. the reference preceding (31) above to [Dom2]), the analogue of formula (100) is in fact *exact* for correlations along the diagonal:

(103)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle = (-1)^n W_n, \qquad T = T_c.$$

Indeed from (31), (32), for $k_{\text{ons}} = 1$ at T_c ,

(104)
$$\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta) = \frac{1 - e^{-i\theta}}{|1 - e^{i\theta}|} = e^{i(\pi - \theta)/2} , \qquad 0 < \theta < 2\pi$$

and so

(105)
$$(\varphi_{\text{diag}})_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{2k+1} , \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}$$

which agrees with (97) (note from (21) that W_n is a Toeplitz determinant with shifted entries b_{k-1} , and to observe (103) one can write W_n as a determinant of the transposed matrix). If one repeats Fisher's calculation and keeps track of the constant, one obtains the exact asymptotics at $T = T_c$,

(106)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle = e^{\frac{1}{4}} \, A^{-3} \, 2^{\frac{1}{12}} \, n^{-1/4} \, \left(1 - \frac{1}{64} \, \frac{1}{n^2} + \dots \right) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty$$

where

$$(107) A = e^{\frac{1}{12}} e^{-\zeta'(-1)}$$

is Glaisher's constant, ζ = Riemann's zeta function. Formula (106) was first obtained by T. T. Wu in [Wu] in serendipitous circumstances, as we describe below. The full expansion of (106) to all orders was first given in [AuYPer1], together with a similar result, in the symmetric case $J_1 = J_2$, for the next-to-diagonal correlation functions.

For $T > T_c$, Fisher notes in [Fis1] that one can use the matrix viewpoint in [Ons1] to show that as $k = \sqrt{\ell^2 + m^2} \to \infty$

(108)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle \sim B \, k^{-\frac{1}{4}} \, e^{-f_k(T)}$$

for some θ -dependent constant $B = B(\theta)$, where to leading order as $k \to \infty$

$$(109) f_k(T) \sim k g(T).$$

As $T \downarrow T_c$, $g(T) \downarrow 0$. These calculations show, in particular, that $M_0 = 0$ for $T > T_c$. If one includes logarithmic correction terms in (109), one obtains (see [Fis2]) for $T > T_c$

(110)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle \sim C(\theta, T) \, \frac{e^{-k \, g(T)}}{k^{1/2}} \, (1 + O(1))$$

as $k \to \infty$. This is the first derivation of an explicit decay rate for the correlation function at $T > T_c$. In [KauOns] the authors show how the conclusion $M_0 = 0$ also follows from their determinantal formulae, at least for $T > T_c$ sufficiently large. In [Kad], Kadanoff obtains a decay rate for $T > T_c$ of the same form as in (110), but only in the double scaling limit $T - T_c \downarrow 0$, $k \to \infty$ such that $|T - T_c| \ k = c =$ constant. In [Rya], Ryazanov obtains the $k^{-1/4}$ decay rate at $T = T_c$, and he also obtains the general form (110), at least in the case that T is large, $T >> T_c$. The double scaling limit, $T \to T_c$ and $k \to \infty$, for the Ising model is an important issue, to which we will return at various points in this paper. The importance of this issue rests in the fact that many believe in universality for spin models in the sense that the double scaling limit for the spin-spin correlation function in the Ising model also gives precisely the same limit (modulo lattice-dependent factors) for a wide class of "non-integrable" two-dimensional models with short range interactions.

Remark 4.2. The result that $M_{\rm phys}$, the physically fundamental spontaneous magnetization defined above, is in fact zero for all $T > T_c$, was proven rigorously only many years later by Lebowitz in [Leb] in (1972). The proof in [Leb] uses a variety of techniques from statistical mechanics, but as shown in [LebM-Lof] [BGJ-LS], $M_{\rm phys} = M_0 = \lim_{n\to\infty} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for all T > 0, and so the proof that $M_{\rm phys} = 0$ for $T > T_c$ (in fact, for $T \ge T_c$) follows, a posteriori, from a proof that $\lim_{n\to\infty} D_n(\varphi_{\rm ons}) = 0$, $T \ge T_c$.

Remark 4.3. In the isotropic case, $J_1 = J_2$, explicit expressions for the correlation functions $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+m,1+\ell} \rangle$ for values of (m,ℓ) other than $(0,\ell)$, (m,0), or (m,m), were derived by Shrock and Ghosh [ShGh]. In particular, they obtained expressions in the cases $(m,\ell) = (2,1)$, (3,1), (3,2), (4,1), (4,2), and (4,3), in terms of complete elliptic integrals K and E. They also inferred a general structural formula for arbitrary $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+m,1+\ell} \rangle$ in terms of these elliptic integrals K and E.

In further developments, Au-Yang, Jin, and Perk [AuYPer2] [AuYJPer] showed that the next-to-diagonal correlations $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,n} \rangle$ have a "bordered" Toeplitz determinant form, that is, an $n \times n$ Toeplitz determinant with the last column replaced by a certain explicit vector $(b_{n-1}, b_{n-2}, \dots, b_0)^T$. This representation is then used to express $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,n} \rangle$ in terms of a solution to the Painlevé VI equation by Witte in [Wi].

5 New questions for SSLT

In view of the above calculations for $T \geq T_c$, the Ising problem raised new questions and challenges in Toeplitz theory. From (94), $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = D_n(\varphi_{\text{ons}})$ (similarly, from (31), $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle = D_n(\varphi_{\text{diag}})$), and so we want to know precisely how $D_n(\varphi_{\text{ons}})$ behaves as $n \to \infty$ for $T \geq T_c$. But for $T > T_c$, we have $0 < \gamma_1 < 1 < \gamma_2$ (see (27), (30)), and so in contrast to the case $T < T_c$, the winding number of φ_{ons} is $-1 \neq 0$. And at $T = T_c$, we see from (29) that $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ has a jump discontinuity at $\theta = 0$. For such discontinuities the Fourier coefficients $(\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_k$ decay as k^{-1} and so $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left| (\log \varphi_{\text{ons}})_k \right|^2 = \infty$. In both cases SSLT, or more properly Theorem 7, does not apply.

In 1966, in a tour de force in [Wu], Wu gave the first derivation of the precise asymptotics of $\langle \sigma_{1,1}, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = D_n(\varphi_{\text{ons}})$ as $n \to \infty$, for $T \ge T_c$. For $T > T_c$, Wu showed that for $n \to \infty$

(111)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = (\pi n)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \gamma_2^{-n} \left(1 - \gamma_1^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(1 - \gamma_2^{-2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{4}} (1 - \gamma_1 \gamma_2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(1 + \frac{A_1}{n} + \frac{A_2}{n^2} + \frac{A_3}{n^3} + \dots \right)$$

with explicit expressions for A_1 , A_2 and A_3 in terms of $\gamma_1 = z_1 z_2^*$ and $\gamma_2 = z_2^*/z_1$, defined in (26). As $T > T_c \iff \gamma_2 > 1$, (111) agrees in the order of decay with (110) for $\ell = 0$ and m = n, but now we have the precise rate and constants. For $T = T_c$, Wu obtained

(112)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = e^{\frac{1}{4}} \, 2^{\frac{1}{12}} \, A^{-3} \, n^{-\frac{1}{4}} \, (1+\gamma_1)^{\frac{1}{4}} \, (1-\gamma_1)^{-\frac{1}{4}} \times \left(1 + B_1 \, n^{-2} + O(n^{-3})\right)$$

with an explicit expression for B_1 in terms of γ_1 , and A is again Glaisher's constant (107). For $T < T_c$, Wu also obtained higher order terms in (19) (20), i.e., as $n \to \infty$

$$(113) \qquad \langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = \left(1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(1 + \left(2\pi \, n^2 \right)^{-1} \, \gamma_2^{2n} \left(\gamma_2^{-1} - \gamma_2 \right)^{-2} \left[1 + \frac{c_1}{n} + \frac{c_2}{n^2} + \ldots \right] \right)$$

with explicit expression for c_1 and c_2 in terms of γ_1 and γ_2 . In particular as $\gamma_2 < 1$, we see that $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle \to (1 - k_{\text{ons}}^2)^{\frac{1}{4}} = M_0$ exponentially fast.

There is an interesting twist to the story of Wu's computation of (112) at T_c . As a warm-up problem at T_c , $\sinh \frac{2J_1}{k_B T_c} \sinh \frac{2J_2}{k_B T_c} = 1$, he considered the limiting case when $J_1 \to 0$ and $J_2 \to \infty$ in such a way that $\gamma_1 \downarrow 0$ and $\gamma_2 \uparrow 1$ in (25), and hence

$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \left(\frac{1 - e^{-i\theta}}{1 - e^{i\theta}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = e^{i(\pi - \theta)/2}, \quad 0 < \theta < 2\pi.$$

Wu recognized $\det\left(\left(\varphi_{\text{ons}}\right)_{j-k}\right)_{0\leq j} \underset{k\leq n-1}{\text{k}\leq n-1}$ as a Cauchy determinant and computed the asymptotics which we have recorded above in (106). Wu was unaware at the time, just like Fisher before him, that he had serendipitously computed the correlation function along the diagonal at T_c ! Had Kaufman and Onsager published their formula for $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle$, this comedy of errors would probably have been avoided.

In the symmetric situation, $J_1 = J_2$, one finds that at T_c , $\gamma_1 = 3 - 2\sqrt{2}$ and so $\left(\frac{1+\gamma_1}{1-\gamma_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} = 2^{\frac{1}{8}}$. Substituting this relation into (112), we obtain as $n \to \infty$

(114)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle = e^{\frac{1}{4}} 2^{5/24} A^{-3} n^{-\frac{1}{4}} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right) \right), \qquad J_1 = J_2.$$

This relation and (106) are consistent with the formula (cf. (102))

(115)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle = e^{\frac{1}{4}} \, 2^{5/24} \, A^{-3} \, k^{-\frac{1}{4}} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{k^2}\right) \right), \qquad J_1 = J_2$$

where $k = \sqrt{\ell^2 + m^2} \to \infty$. This asymptotic formula was derived by Cheng and Wu [ChenWu] in 1967 (they also consider $J_1 \neq J_2$), but it was only established rigorously in the last year by H. Pinson [Pin] using a Phragmen-Lindelof type argument to interpolate between (106) and (114). Recently two additional independent proofs of the rotational symmetry of $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle$ as $k = \sqrt{\ell^2 + m^2} \to \infty$ have been given by Dubédat [Dub] and by Chelkak, Hongler, and Izyurov [CheHonIzy]. In [Dub] the author proceeds by equating the product of two Ising correlators with a free field (bosonic) correlator. In [CheHonIzy], the proof is based on convergence results for discrete holomorphic spinor variables pioneered by S. Smirnov. In earlier work, Smirnov used such variables to prove conformal invariance and to detect Schramm-Loewner evolution within the Ising model, in an appropriate scaling limit (for references, see [CheHonIzy]). If $J_1 \neq J_2$, one expects elliptical rather than rotational symmetry in the analog of (115) (see [ChenWu] and also (199) below, which is taken from [WMTB]).

The full expansion of $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \rangle$ as $\ell^2 + m^2 \to \infty$ at $T \neq T_c$ in terms of so-called form factors $f_{M,N}^{(j)}$, is discussed in detail in [McC1],

and

(117)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+m,1+\ell} \rangle = (1-t)^{\frac{1}{4}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_{m,\ell}^{(2n+1)}$$
 for $T > T_c$.

For $T < T_c$, $t = k_{\text{ons}}^2$ and for $T > T_c$, $t = k_{\text{ons}}^{-2}$. These expansions were first obtained by Wu, McCoy, Tracy and Barouch [WMTB] in 1976, but explicit expressions for the form factors were only given in 1999 and 2000 by Nickel [Nick1] [Nick2].

The derivation of the form factor expansions (116) (117) for $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+m,1+\ell} \rangle$ was obtained in [WMTB] using the Fredholm determinant representations of Cheng and Wu [ChenWu]. In the special cases $m=0,\,\ell\to\infty$, or $m=\ell\to\infty$, Lyborg and McCoy [LyMcC] used the finite Toeplitz determinant representations to derive form factor expansions as in (116) (117), but the detailed form of the expansions they obtained differs from the general expansions obtained in [WMTB]. It is an interesting, and still unresolved, question to reconcile the form factor expansions obtained in these two different ways. For recent results on the form factor expansion of the diagonal correlations $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+m,1+m} \rangle$ which utilize results from [BorOk] and [GerCase], see [WiFo].

6 Fisher-Hartwig singularities. Fisher-Hartwig conjecture

In addition to the new questions and challenges raised in Toeplitz theory by the Ising model for $T \geq T_c$, other kinds of singularities also began to appear. For example, in 1964, in his work on the ground state of the one-dimensional system of impenetrable bosons [Len1] Lenard expressed the one-particle density matrix for the system as a Toeplitz matrix with a symbol $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ that vanished at some points on S^1 (see (125) and particularly Remark 6.1 below for further discussion). In 1968, in a major step in the development and generalization of SSLT, Fisher and Hartwig [FisHart1] introduced a class of singular symbols for Toeplitz determinants, that allowed for zeros, (integrable) singularities, discontinuities and non-zero winding numbers.

The symbols of Fisher-Hartwig (FH) class have the following form (we use the notation in [DIK1])

(118)
$$f(z) = e^{V(z)} z^{\sum_{j=0}^{m} \beta_j} \prod_{j=0}^{m} |z - z_j|^{2\alpha_j} g_{z_j, \beta_j}(z) z_j^{-\beta_j}, \qquad z = e^{i\theta}, \quad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi,$$

for some $m = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, where

(119)
$$z_j = e^{i\theta_j}, \qquad j = 0, 1, \dots, m, \qquad 0 = \theta_0 < \theta_1 < \dots < \theta_m < 2\pi,$$

(120)
$$g_{z_j \beta_j}(z) \equiv g_{\beta_j}(z) = \begin{cases} e^{i\pi\beta_j}, & 0 \le \arg z < \theta_j, \\ e^{-i\pi\beta_j}, & \theta_j \le \arg z < 2\pi, \end{cases}$$

(121)
$$\Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad \beta_j \in \mathbb{C}, \qquad j = 0, 1, \dots, m,$$

and $V(e^{i\theta})$ is a sufficiently smooth function on S^1 . Here the condition on $\Re \alpha_j$ insures integrability. Note that a Fisher-Hartwig singularity at z_j , $j=1,\ldots,m$, consists of a root-type singularity

(122)
$$|z - z_j|^{2\alpha_j} = \left| 2\sin\frac{\theta - \theta_j}{2} \right|^{2\alpha_j}$$

and a jump singularity $z^{\beta_j} g_{\beta_j}(z)$ at z_j (observe that $z^{\beta_j} g_{\beta_j}(z)$ is continuous at z=1 for $j \neq 0$). For $j=0, z_0=1$, in addition to the root-type singularity (122) at $\theta_0=0$, one has $g_{z_0,\beta_0}(z)=e^{-i\pi\beta_0}$, $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$ and so $z^{\beta_0} g_{z_0,\beta_0}(z)=e^{i(\theta-\pi)\beta_0}$, $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$, has a jump at $z=z_0=1$. The factors $z_j^{-\beta_j}$ are singled out to simplify comparison with the existing literature, in particular, [FisHart1]. Here are some examples of FH symbols:

• If $f(e^{i\theta}) = -i$ for $0 \le \theta < \pi$ and +i for $\pi \le \theta < 2\pi$ (cf [BasTr]), then $z_0 = 1$, $z_1 = -1 = e^{i\pi}$, $\alpha_0 = \alpha_1 = 0$, $\beta_0 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\beta_1 = -\frac{1}{2}$, and

(123)
$$\begin{split} f\Big(e^{i\theta}\Big) &= z^{\beta_0+\beta_1} \ g_{1,\frac{1}{2}}(z) \ g_{-1,-\frac{1}{2}}(z) \ z_0^{-\beta_0} \ z_1^{-\beta_1} \\ &= g_{1,\frac{1}{2}}(z) \ g_{-1,-\frac{1}{2}}(z) \ e^{i\pi/2} \end{split}$$

• If $f(e^{i\theta})$ is a sufficiently smooth function on S^1 (in particular, a trigonometric polynomial) with two zeros at $0 < \theta_1 < \theta_2 < 2\pi$ (cf [BGrM], [DIK2]), then with $z_1 = e^{i\theta_1}$, $z_2 = e^{i\theta_2}$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 1/2$, $\beta_1 = \frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_2 = -\frac{1}{2}$,

(124)
$$f(z) = e^{V(z)} z^{\beta_1 + \beta_2} |z - z_1| |z - z_2| g_{z_1, \frac{1}{2}}(z) g_{z_2, -\frac{1}{2}}(z) \left(\frac{z_1}{z_2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= e^{V(z)} |z - z_1| |z - z_2| g_{z_1, \frac{1}{2}}(z) g_{z_2, -\frac{1}{2}}(z) (z_1/z_2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

for a suitable function $V(e^{i\theta})$ on S^1 .

• The following symbol arose in Lenard's work in [Len1] on impenetrable bosons mentioned above,

(125)
$$f(e^{i\theta}) = |z - e^{i\theta_1}| |z - e^{i\theta_2}|$$

where $\theta_1 \neq \theta_2 \pmod{2\pi}$. Here $z_1 = e^{i\theta_1}$, $z_2 = e^{i\theta_2}$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 1/2$ and $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = 0$.

• For the Ising model at $T < T_c$, the winding number of $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ is zero and so $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(z) = e^{V(z)}$ for a suitable smooth function $V(e^{i\theta})$ on S^1 . For $T = T_c$, we have from (29) with $0 < \gamma_1 < 1$,

(126)
$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \frac{1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}}{|1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}|} \quad i e^{-i\theta/2}, \qquad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi,$$
$$= e^{V(z)} z^{\beta_0} g_{z_0, \beta_0}(z) z_0^{-\beta_0}$$

where $z_0 = 1$, $\alpha_0 = 0$, $\beta_0 = -\frac{1}{2}$ and $V(e^{i\theta})$ is smooth on S^1 . For $T > T_c$, we have from (28) with $0 < \gamma_1 < 1 < \gamma_2$,

(127)
$$\varphi_{\text{ons}}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \frac{\left(1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}\right) \left(\gamma_2 - e^{i\theta}\right)}{\left|1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}\right| \left|1 - \gamma_2 e^{i\theta}\right|} \left(-e^{-i\theta}\right) \\ = e^{V(z)} z^{\beta_0} g_{z_0, \beta_0}(z) z_0^{-\beta_0}$$

where $z_0 = 1$, $\alpha_0 = 0$, $\beta_0 = -1$ and again V(z) is smooth on S^1 .

From the point of view of Toeplitz determinants with FH singularities, Wu was the first to obtain [Wu] detailed asymptotic results for symbols with discontinuities as in (126) and for symbols with non-zero winding as in (127). Lenard was the first to obtain [Len1] [Len2] detailed asymptotic results for symbols which have zeros on S^1 as in (125). For symbols (118) with $\beta_j = 0$ and α_j real, $\alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}$, $j = 0, \ldots, m$, Lenard made a general conjecture [Len2]⁹ about the asymptotic form of $D_n(f)$,

(128)
$$D_n(f) \sim E\left(e^V, \alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_m, \theta_0, \dots, \theta_m\right) n^{\sum_{j=0}^m \alpha_j^2} e^{nV_0}$$

as $n \to \infty$, where $V_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} V(e^{i\theta}) d\theta$ as in (37) (87), and $E(f, \alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_m, \theta_0, \dots, \theta_m)$ is some (unspecified) constant. Moreover he was able to verify this conjecture for the case $f(e^{i\theta}) = |z - e^{i\theta_1}| |z - e^{i\theta_2}|$ in (125).

Remark 6.1. As noted above, the symbol (125) arose in Lenard's study of impenetrable bosons [Len1]. More precisely, Lenard considered N free bosons in one dimension confined to a box of length L with periodic boundary conditions and lying in the (symmetric) ground state of the system. According to the criterion of Penrose and Onsager [PenOns], Bose-Einstein condensation takes place if the largest eigenvalue $\lambda_{N,L}^{(\text{max})}$ of the density matrix $\rho_{N,L}(x,x')$ for the system is of order N as $N \sim L \to \infty$. For the system at hand $\rho_{N,L}$ is translation invariant, $\rho_{N,L}(x,x') = \rho_{N,L}(x-x')$, so that the eigenvalues of $\rho_{N,L}$ are just the Fourier coefficients $\rho_{N,L}^{(n)}$ of $\rho_{N,L}(\cdot)$. A simple calculation shows that $\lambda_{N,L}^{(\text{max})} = \rho_{N,L}^{(0)}$, the zeroth Fourier coefficient. Writing $\rho_{N,L}(\xi) = \frac{1}{L}R_N(2\pi\xi/L)$, we have that

(129)
$$\frac{\lambda_{N,L}^{(\text{max})}}{N} = \frac{1}{2\pi N} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} R_N(t) dt.$$

(Note that in this case $\lambda_{N,L}^{(\max)}$ is actually independent of L.) Now it turns out that

(130)
$$R_N(t) = D_{N-1}(f_t)$$

where f_t is precisely a symbol of type (125),

(131)
$$f_t\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = \left|e^{i\theta} - e^{it/2}\right| \left|e^{i\theta} - e^{-it/2}\right|.$$

(Formula (130) was also obtained independently by Dyson, see [Len1].) At that point (April 10, 1963, according to a letter Lenard has kindly made available to the authors) Lenard asked Szegő for help in evaluating the Toeplitz determinant $D_{N-1}(f_t)$. On July 10, three months later, Szegő wrote back to Lenard with the information that, although he had not been able to obtain precise asymptotics, he had obtained the bound

$$(132) |R_N(t)| \le \left| \frac{eN}{\sin(t/2)} \right|^{1/2}.$$

Substituting (132) into (129), we see that

(133)
$$\frac{\lambda_{N,L}^{(\max)}}{N} = O\left(N^{-1/2}\right) \to 0, \quad \text{as} \quad N \to \infty.$$

⁹ Note that although [Len2] was published in 1972, a preliminary unpublished version of the paper was already in existence in 1968 (see [FisHart1]).

In a letter of thanks to Szegő on July 23, Lenard describes the situation as follows: "This has great physical interest: It may be expressed as saying that for the model considered there is no Bose-Einstein condensation in momentum space".¹⁰

Following a further suggestion contained in the above correspondence with Szegő in 1963, Lenard considered, in particular, symbols of the form

(134)
$$f^{(\lambda,\mu)}(e^{i\theta}) = |e^{i\theta} - e^{i\pi/2}|^{\lambda}|e^{i\theta} - e^{-i\pi/2}|^{\mu}, \qquad \lambda, \mu > 0$$

He started with the general formula for positive symbols $f(e^{i\theta}) > 0$

(135)
$$D_n(f) = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \chi_k^{-2}$$

where $\chi_k > 0$ is the leading coefficient of the orthonormal polynomial $p_k(z) = \chi_k z^k + \dots, k \geq 0$, with respect to the weight of $d\mu = f(e^{i\theta}) d\theta/(2\pi)$ on S^1 as in (39). For $f^{(\lambda,\mu)}(e^{i\theta})$ in (134), the polynomials $p_k(z)$ can be expressed in terms of classical Jacobi polynomials on the interval [-1,1]. This then leads to explicit formulae for the χ_k 's in terms of Euler's gamma functions.

After Lenard published the bound (132) for the impenetrable boson problem (a Plasma Physics Laboratory preprint of [Len1] appeared in 1963), Dyson [Dy3] took up the problem of computing the asymptotics of (129) precisely as $N \to \infty$. In order to control the singularity in the symbol $f_t(e^{i\theta}) = |e^{i\theta} - e^{it/2}||e^{i\theta} - e^{-it/2}|$, Dyson resorted to his interpretation of $D_{N-1}(f_t)$ as a Coulomb gas at inverse temperature $\beta = 2$ with N-1 unit charges free to move around on the unit circle, but now with two additional half-charges. The probability of finding the half-charges at an angular distance t apart is then proportional to $P(t) = |2\sin\frac{t}{2}|^{1/2}R_N(t)$. On physical grounds, Dyson then argued that for distances t much greater than the "Debye length" $\lambda = 2\pi/N$, the two half-charges are effectively screened off from each other, and so P(t) = const. for $t >> \lambda$. In other words, $R_N(t) = k_N \left(\sin\frac{t}{2}\right)^{-1/2}$ for $t >> N^{-1}$, where k_N is a constant. However, clearly $k_N = R_N(\pi)$, which can be evaluated explicitly as $N \to \infty$ since

$$f_t(e^{i\theta})|_{t=\pi} = f^{(\lambda,\mu)}(e^{i\theta})|_{\lambda=\mu=1}$$

(see discussion of (134) above). Substituting the result into (129) and neglecting the contribution from $|t| < N^{-1}$, Dyson obtained, as $N \to \infty$,

(136)
$$\frac{\lambda_{N,L}^{(\text{max})}}{N} \sim CN^{-1/2}, \qquad C = \left(\frac{e}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} 2^{-5/6} A^{-6} \Gamma \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)^2$$

where A is again Glaisher's constant (107). The crux of the above calculation is clearly the explicit evaluation of $R_N(\pi)$ as $N \to \infty$.

More detailed analysis of (129) requires further study of the double-scaling limit as $t \to 1$, $N \to \infty$. We return to this issue in Section 11.

Inspired by the work of Wu in [Wu], and perhaps also influenced by the calculations of Lenard in [Len1] [Len2], Fisher and Hartwig [FisHart1] made a conjecture about the asymptotic form of $D_n(f)$ for general symbols (118),

(137)
$$D_{n}(f) = E\left(e^{V}, \alpha_{0}, \dots, \alpha_{m}, \beta_{0}, \dots, \beta_{m}, \theta_{0}, \dots, \theta_{m}\right) \times n^{\sum_{j=0}^{m} \left(\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2}\right)} e^{nV_{0}} \left(1 + o(1)\right), \qquad V_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} V\left(e^{i\theta}\right) d\theta$$

¹⁰This confirms an earlier result of Schultz [Sch] proving the absence of condensation. Schultz used other methods which produced the (weaker) bound $O(N^{-4/\pi^2})$.

as $n \to \infty$, together with a conjecture on the general form of the constant E. In [FisHart2], Hartwig and Fisher present various examples, heuristics and theorems in support of their conjecture.

In the remarkable paper [Wid2], representing "a jump of several quanta in depth and sophistication" (see MathSciNet MR0331107), Widom verified Lenard's conjecture for complex α_j with $\Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}, \ j=0,\ldots,m$, and $V\left(e^{i\theta}\right)$ suitably smooth, and obtained an explicit expression for the constant

(138)
$$E\left(e^{V}, \alpha_{0}, \dots, \alpha_{m}, \theta_{0}, \dots, \theta_{m}\right) = E\left(e^{V}\right) \prod_{0 \leq j < k \leq m} \left|e^{i\theta_{j}} - e^{i\theta_{k}}\right|^{-2\alpha_{j}\alpha_{k}}$$
$$\times \prod_{j=0}^{m} e^{-\alpha_{j}\widehat{V}\left(e^{i\theta_{j}}\right)} \times \prod_{j=0}^{m} E_{\alpha_{j}}$$

where

(139)
$$E(e^{V}) = e^{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k V_k V_{-k}}, \qquad V_k = \text{ Fourier coefficient of } V(e^{i\theta}),$$

$$(140) \qquad \widehat{V}\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = V\left(e^{i\theta}\right) - V_0$$

and

(141)
$$E_{\alpha} = G^2(1+\alpha)/G(1+2\alpha), \quad G(z) = \text{Barnes G-function (see [Bar])}.$$

Formula (138) is consistent with and confirms the general form of the conjecture [FisHart1] for the constant term in the case $\beta_0 = \beta_1 = \cdots = \beta_m = 0$.

In [Bas1] Basor considered complex α_j with $\Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}$, β_j pure imaginary, $j = 0, \ldots, m$, and $V(e^{i\theta})$ suitably smooth, and verified (137) with constant term, again consistent with the general conjecture in [FisHart1],

(142)
$$E\left(e^{V}, \alpha_{0}, \dots, \alpha_{m}, \beta_{0}, \dots, \beta_{m}, \theta_{0}, \dots, \theta_{m}\right)$$

$$= E(e^{V}) \prod_{j=0}^{m} \left[b_{+}(z_{j})^{-\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j}} b_{-}(z_{j})^{-\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j}}\right]$$

$$\times \prod_{0 \leq j < k \leq m} \left[|z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2(\beta_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{j}\alpha_{k})} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j} e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\alpha_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{k}\beta_{j}}\right]$$

$$\times \prod_{j=0}^{m} \frac{G\left(1 + \alpha_{j} + \beta_{j}\right) G\left(1 + \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}\right)}{G\left(1 + 2\alpha_{j}\right)}.$$

with $E(e^V)$ and G(z) as above, and

(143)
$$b_{+}(z) = e^{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k z^k}, \qquad b_{-}(z) = e^{\sum_{k=-1}^{-\infty} V_k z^k}.$$

The branches in (142) are determined naturally, $b_+(z_j)^{-\alpha_j+\beta_j} = e^{(-\alpha_j+\beta_j)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k z_j^k}$ etc, and

$$\left(\frac{z_k}{z_j e^{i\pi}}\right)^{(\alpha_j \beta_k - \alpha_k \beta_j)} = e^{i(\theta_k - \theta_j - \pi)(\alpha_j \beta_k - \alpha_k \beta_j)}, \qquad 0 \le \theta_j < \theta_k < 2\pi.$$

In the paper [BasHelt] discussed above, Basor and Helton also introduce the first example of a so-called "separation" theorem of the following form: For symbols φ and ψ of a certain prescribed type, including FH symbols with disjoint singularities, they show that

(144)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_n(\varphi \psi)}{D_n(\varphi)D_n(\psi)} \equiv L(\varphi, \psi)$$

exists. Moreover, they provide an explicit form for $L(\varphi, \psi)$. Iterating this result, they are able to reduce the problem for general FH symbols to adding in pure FH singularities of the form $z^{\beta}|z-\widehat{z}|^{2\alpha}g_{\widehat{z},\beta}(z)\widehat{z}^{-\beta}$, $|\widehat{z}|=1$, one at a time. They analyze the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants with such pure (i.e., with $V\equiv 0$) FH singularities in the following way. In addition to the results described above, in [Wid2] Widom also verified (137) for a single FH singularity with $|\Re\alpha|<\frac{1}{2}$ and $|\Re\beta|<\frac{1}{2}$, but without determining the exact value of the constant E. But then Basor's formula (142) for E obtained in [Bas1] for $\Re\alpha_j>-\frac{1}{2}$ and β_j pure imaginary, together with Vitali's theorem, directly yields the desired explicit asymptotics for a single pure FH singularity with $|\Re\alpha|<\frac{1}{2}$ and $|\Re\beta|<\frac{1}{2}$. (In fact, as discovered later by Böttcher and Silbermann, see (145) below, there exists an exact formula for a Toeplitz determinant with a single pure FH singularity in terms of the Barnes G-functions, which easily yields the asymptotics). In the end, Basor and Helton are able to verify (137) (142) for α_j , β_k in the open set $\{\max_{j,k}(|\alpha_j|,|\beta_k|)<\delta\}\subset\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ for some (small) $\delta>0$.

(137) (142) for α_j , β_k in the open set $\{\max_{j,k}(|\alpha_j|,|\beta_k|) < \delta\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{2n}$ for some (small) $\delta > 0$. In [Bas3], Basor showed using a separation theorem that (137) (142) also hold in the case $\alpha_j = 0$, $|\Re \beta_i| < \frac{1}{2}, j = 0, \ldots, m$.

Böttcher and Silbermann [BottSilb5] finally proved (137) with Basor's constant (142) under the assumption that $|\Re \alpha_j| < 1/2$ and $|\Re \beta_j| < 1/2$ for all j. This is the most general setting in which the conjecture (137) is true in its original form, that is, with the exponent of n conjectured to be $\sum (\alpha_j^2 - \beta_j^2)$, without the need to take care of degenerate situations and of the ambiguity in the β 's (see (154) below). We note that in [BottSilb6] it had already been shown that (137) does not hold in general if $\alpha_j + \beta_j$ and $\alpha_j - \beta_j$ are nonnegative integers for all $j = 0, \ldots, m$, and a corrected version of the conjecture was proved in this case (this is a particular case of a formula conjectured by Basor and Tracy: see next section). The developments up to the 1990's are described in [Bott1] and [Ehr] and also in the books [BottSilb2] [BottSilb3]. We note that certain separation theorems also play a key role in the work of Böttcher and Silbermann. Another important element in their proofs is an explicit formula, noted above, for a Toeplitz determinant with a single, pure FH singularity found by the authors in [BottSilb5] (see also [BottWid2] [BasChe] for later alternative derivations). Namely, if $V(z) \equiv 0$, m = 0, then with $\alpha_0 \equiv \alpha$, $\beta_0 \equiv \beta$,

(145)
$$D_n(f) = \frac{G(1+\alpha+\beta)G(1+\alpha-\beta)}{G(1+2\alpha)} \frac{G(n+1)G(n+1+2\alpha)}{G(n+1+\alpha+\beta)G(n+1+\alpha-\beta)},$$
$$\Re \alpha > -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad \alpha \pm \beta \neq -1, -2, \dots, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

The condition on $\alpha \pm \beta$ is needed because the *G*-function has zeros at $z = 0, -1, -2, \ldots$ The asymptotics for (145) follow from the asymptotics of the *G*-function (see [Bar])

(146)
$$\log G(t+a+1) = \frac{1}{12} - \log A - \frac{3t^2}{4} - at + \frac{t+a}{2} \log(2\pi) + \left(\frac{t^2}{2} + at + \frac{a^2}{2} - \frac{1}{12}\right) \log t + o(1), \quad \text{as } t \to \infty$$

where again A is Glaisher's constant (107). The resulting asymptotics are consistent with (137) (142).

In view of the Heine representation (45), it is not surprising that the formula (145) is related to the Selberg integral. In fact, independently of [BottSilb5], a more general formula was obtained by Selberg himself:

(147)
$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \dots \int_{0}^{2\pi} \prod_{0 \le j < k \le n-1} \left| e^{i\theta_j} - e^{i\theta_k} \right|^{2\gamma} \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} e^{i(\theta_j - \pi)\beta} \left| 1 - e^{i\theta_j} \right|^{2\alpha} \frac{d\theta_j}{2\pi}$$

$$= \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{\Gamma(1 + 2\alpha + j\gamma)\Gamma(1 + (j+1)\gamma)}{\Gamma(1 + \alpha + \beta + j\gamma)\Gamma(1 + \alpha - \beta + j\gamma)\Gamma(1 + \gamma)}$$

where

$$\Re \alpha > -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad \Re \gamma > -\min \left\{ \frac{1}{n}, \frac{\Re (2\alpha+1)}{n-1} \right\}.$$

In a published form, this formula first appeared in the thesis of Morris in 1982 (see [ForWar] for a historic account). The interest in (147) was due to the efforts to prove one of Dyson's conjectures in the theory of random matrices in [Dy1]. If we set $\gamma = 1$ in (147), and use the relation $G(z+1) = \Gamma(z) G(z)$, we recover (145) from (45).

The Barnes' function G(z) is a basic object in analysis, bearing the same relation to the gamma function as the gamma function bears to the function z, $\Gamma(z+1) = z \Gamma(z)$. Just as $\log \Gamma(z)$ is a sum of values of $\log z$, so $\log G(z)$ is the iterated sum. It is of interest to delineate some of the analytic pathways by which G(z) appears in the asymptotics of $D_n(f)$.

The most direct example, a particular case of (145), arises for the diagonal correlation function $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle$ at T_c , where $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(\theta) = e^{i(\pi-\theta)/2}$, i.e. $V \equiv 0$, m = 0, $\alpha_0 = 0$, $\beta_0 = -1/2$, in (104) gives rise to the Cauchy determinant (103) which can be evaluated as in (98) in terms of a product of gamma functions, and hence in terms of G-functions, $\prod_{q=1}^{n-1} \Gamma(q+1) = G(n+1)/G(2)$, etc.

For a system of polynomials orthonormal with respect to a function f on the unit circle, the leading coefficients χ_k are related to $D_n(f)$ by the product formula (135). As we discussed above, in the case of f given by (134) the coefficients χ_k are expressed in terms of gamma functions, and therefore G-functions appear in the product. More generally, there is a certain universality in the asymptotic behavior of orthogonal polynomials associated with FH symbols on S^1 (see [DIK1] [DIK3]), and, mutatis mutandis, for general FH symbols f, the G-functions enter the arena through the same stage door.

As noted above in (126), at $T=T_c$, $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ has a single FH singularity at $z_0=1$ with $\alpha_0=0$ and $\beta_0=-\frac{1}{2}$. The first confirmation of (137) (142) which allowed for these values was given in [BottSilb4], where the authors proved the result for m=0, $\Re\alpha_0\geq 0$, $\Re\left(\alpha_0+\beta_0\right)>-1$ and $\Re\left(\alpha_0-\beta_0\right)>-1$. It is instructive to recover Wu's asymptotic formula (112) from (137) (142). Here $V(e^{i\theta})=\frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{1-\gamma_1e^{i\theta}}{1-\gamma_1e^{-i\theta}}\right)$ and we find $V_0=0$ and $V_k=-\gamma_1^{|k|}/2k$ for $k\neq 0$. Thus $E\left(e^V\right)=e^{-\frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\gamma_1^{2k}/k^2}=\left(1-\gamma_1^2\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$. On the other hand $(b_+(1))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(b_-(1))^{\frac{1}{2}}=e^{\frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\gamma_1^{k}/k}e^{\frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=-1}^{\infty}\gamma_1^{k}/|k|}=(1-\gamma_1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$. But $G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)=2^{\frac{1}{24}}e^{\frac{1}{8}}\pi^{-1/4}A^{-3/2}$, where again A is Glaisher's constant (see [Bar]), and we have $G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)=\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)=2^{\frac{1}{24}}e^{\frac{1}{8}}\pi^{\frac{1}{4}}A^{-3/2}$. Thus $G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)=2^{\frac{1}{12}}e^{\frac{1}{4}}A^{-3}$. Substituting these relations into (142), we obtain $E\left(e^V,0,\frac{1}{2},\theta_0=0\right)=2^{\frac{1}{12}}e^{\frac{1}{4}}A^{-3}\left(1+\gamma_1\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}\left(1-\gamma_1\right)^{-\frac{1}{4}}$, and as $n^{-\beta_0^2}=n^{-\frac{1}{4}}$, we arrive at precisely the leading order term in (112).

The **definitive result** for the leading order asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants with FH singularities was obtained by Ehrhardt in his PhD thesis at TU Chemnitz in 1997 (see [Ehr]). Let

 $|||\beta|||$ denote the seminorm

(148)
$$|||\beta||| = \max_{j,k} |\Re \beta_j - \Re \beta_k|$$

where $1 \leq j, k \leq m$ if $\alpha_0 = \beta_0 = 0$, and $0 \leq j, k \leq m$ otherwise. If m = 0, set $|||\beta||| = 0$. Note that in the case of a single singularity, we always have $|||\beta||| = 0$. If $V(e^{i\theta})$ is C^{∞} on S^1 , $|||\beta||| < 1$, $\Re \alpha_k > -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\alpha_j \pm \beta_j \neq -1, -2, \ldots$ for $j, k = 0, 1, \ldots, m$, then Ehrhardt proved the Fisher-Hartwig conjecture (137) with Basor's constant (142). As above, the conditions on $\alpha_j \pm \beta_j$ ensure that Basor's constant is non-zero and (142) indeed provides the leading order asymptotics for $D_n(f)$ as $n \to \infty$. A key element in Ehrhardt's proof is a suitably generalized version of the separation theorem in [BasHelt].¹¹

An independent proof of Ehrhardt's result was given recently in [DIK3] where only a finite degree of smoothness is needed for $V(e^{i\theta})$. In [DIK3], estimates for the error term in the asymptotics are also provided. If $V(z) \in C^{\infty}$ on S^1 , the asymptotics (137) (142) hold with error term

(149)
$$o(1) = O(n^{|||\beta|||-1}).$$

Note that the smallness of the error term breaks down if $|||\beta||| \ge 1$. We will consider this situation in detail in the next section. The main steps of the method of [DIK3] are as follows. First, the authors derive differential identities for the logarithmic derivatives of $D_n(f)$, in particular, for

(150)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_j} \log D_n(f), \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_j} \log D_n(f),$$

in terms of the associated OPUC's of degrees n and n+1 only. Second, the authors obtain the asymptotics of these OPUC's using their Riemann-Hilbert representation and the steepest descent analysis of the Riemann-Hilbert problem for large n. Third, the asymptotic formulas so obtained are substituted into the RHS of the differential identities, and the final result (137) (142) is obtained by integration.¹² In [DIK1], [DIK3] the authors also note various uniformity properties of the large n asymptotics for Toeplitz determinants in the parameters, such as α_j , β_j , on which f depends. This issue becomes important in discussions of double-scaling limits (cf Section 11).

For the Ising model at $T > T_c$, we see from (127) that $z_0 = 1$, $\alpha_0 = 0$ and $\beta_0 = -1$, and so $\alpha_0 + \beta_0 = -1$. Thus (137) (142) do not provide the leading order asymptotics for $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle$ in this case. One must analyze lower order terms, in fact go "beyond all orders" in the language of Kruskal, to capture the exponential decay in Wu's result (111) (see Remark 7.1 below).

7 Basor-Tracy conjecture

As already observed in [BottSilb5] [BottSilb6], Ehrhardt's condition on the seminorm, $|||\beta||| < 1$, is not just a technical matter. In a critical calculation in 1991, Basor and Tracy [BasTr] considered a particular symbol $f(e^{i\theta})$ which has two FH singularities at $z_0 = 1$ and $z_1 = e^{i\pi} = -1$ respectively

(151)
$$f\!\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = g_{1,\frac{1}{2}}(z)\,g_{-1,-\frac{1}{2}}(z)\,e^{i\,\pi/2}$$

¹¹Note that the RHS of (137) and (142) make sense for any α_j , $2\alpha_j \neq -1, -2, \ldots$ In fact, (137) (142) still hold in this case. This extension to the left of the lines $\Re \alpha_j = -1/2$ is explained in [Ehr] and corresponds to replacing the symbol f by an appropriate distribution.

Note that if one just used the formula (135) instead of the differential identities, then the product $\prod_{k=0}^{n_0} \chi_k^{-2}$ for small n_0 , and hence the constant factor E in (137), would remain undetermined.

with $\beta_0 = \frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_1 = -\frac{1}{2}$ so that $|||\beta||| = 1$. By direct computation they found that as $n \to \infty$

(152)
$$D_n(f) = \frac{1 + (-1)^n}{2} \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^2 G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^2 (1 + O(1))$$

which is not of the general FH asymptotic form. Basor and Tracy observed, however, that $f(e^{i\theta})$ had another FH representation with $\beta_0 = -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\beta_1 = \frac{1}{2}$,

(153)
$$f\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = e^{i\pi} g_{1,-\frac{1}{2}}(z) g_{-1,\frac{1}{2}}(z) e^{-i\pi/2}.$$

If one substitutes the values V=0, $\alpha_0=\alpha_1=0$, $\beta_0=\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_1=-\frac{1}{2}$ into (137) (142), one obtains for (151)

$$n^{-\left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{4}\right)} \left| 1 - e^{i\pi} \right|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right) G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}{G(1)} \frac{G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)}{G(1)} (1 + o(1))$$
$$= (2n)^{-\frac{1}{2}} G\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^2 G\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^2 (1 + o(1))$$

as G(1) = 1. On the other hand, if one substitutes the values $V = i\pi$, $\alpha_0 = \alpha_1 = 0$, $\beta_0 = -\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_1 = \frac{1}{2}$, one obtains for (153)

$$e^{in\pi} (2n)^{-\frac{1}{2}} G^2 (\frac{1}{2}) G^2 (\frac{3}{2}) (1 + o(1))$$
.

Just adding these two asymptotic forms, we obtain precisely the Basor-Tracy result (152). So we see that if a symbol $f(e^{i\theta})$ has more than one FH representation, then the asymptotics of $D_n(f)$ is given, at least in this case, by some combination of the Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics for each of them. Based on this example, Basor and Tracy [BasTr] made the following bold, general conjecture. First note the following. Let $f(e^{i\theta})$ be a Fisher-Hartwig symbol as in (118). Let n_0, n_1, \ldots, n_m be a set of integers with $\sum_{j=0}^m n_j = 0$, and let $f(z; \hat{\beta})$ denote the FH symbol obtained by replacing β_j with $\hat{\beta}_j = \beta_j + n_j$, $0 \le j \le m$, and $e^{V(z)}$ by $\left(\prod_{j=0}^n z_j^{n_i}\right) e^V = e^{V+i\sum_{j=0}^m n_j \theta_j}$. Then $f(\hat{\beta}) = f\left(z; \hat{\beta}\right)$ gives another FH representation for f(z),

(154)
$$f(z) = f\left(z; \widehat{\beta}\right), \qquad \widehat{\beta}_j = \beta_j + n_j, \quad \sum_{j=0}^m n_j = 0.$$

Moreover, it is easy to see that all FH representations of f(z) arise in this way. Given β , we call

(155)
$$O_{\beta} = \left\{ \widehat{\beta} : \widehat{\beta}_j = \beta_j + n_j, \quad \sum_{j=0}^n n_j = 0 \right\}$$

the *orbit* of β . We consider the discrete minimization problem

(156)
$$F_{\beta} = \min_{\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{m} \left(\Re \widehat{\beta}_{j} \right)^{2} \right).$$

It is clear that the minimum is indeed obtained in O_{β} . Let $\mathcal{M}_{\beta} = \left\{ \widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta} : \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left(\Re \widehat{\beta}_{j} \right)^{2} = F_{\beta} \right\}$. We say \mathcal{M}_{β} is non-degenerate if $\alpha_{i} \pm \widehat{\beta}_{j} \neq -1, -2, \ldots$ for all $j = 0, \ldots, m$ and all $\widehat{\beta} \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$.

Conjecture 8. [BasTr] Let $f(e^{i\theta})$ be given as in (118) with $V(e^{i\theta})$ sufficiently smooth on S^1 and $\Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}, \ 0 \le j \le m$. Suppose \mathcal{M}_β is non-degenerate. Then as $n \to \infty$,

(157)
$$D_n(f) = \sum_{\widehat{\beta} \in \mathcal{M}_{\widehat{\beta}}} \left[R_n \left(f(\widehat{\beta}) \right) (1 + o(1)) \right].$$

Each $R_n\left(f(\widehat{\beta})\right)$ stands for the FH asymptotic form (137) (142) with $\widehat{\beta}$ and $\left(\prod_{j=0}^m z_j^{n_j}\right)e^V$ in place of β and e^V respectively.

Note that by the definition of \mathcal{M}_{β} , all the terms $R_n\left(f(\widehat{\beta})\right)$ in (157) have the same order of magnitude. Indeed for all $\widehat{\beta} \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$, $\Re \sum_{j=0}^{m} \widehat{\beta}_{j}^{2} = F_{\beta} - \sum_{j=0}^{m} (\Im \beta_{j})^{2}$. To see how this conjecture works for $f(e^{i\theta})$ in (151), where $\beta_{0} = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\beta_{1} = -\frac{1}{2}$, and $n_{0} + n_{1} = 0$,

consider

$$\sum_{j=0}^{1} (\Re \beta_j + n_j)^2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} + n_0\right)^2 + \left(-\frac{1}{2} - n_0\right)^2 = 2\left(\frac{1}{2} + n_0\right)^2$$

which clearly achieves its minimum at $n_0 = 0 = -n_1$ and also at $n_0 = -1 = -n_1$. These values correspond to $\widehat{\beta} = \beta = (\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2})$ and $\widehat{\beta} = (\frac{1}{2} - 1, -\frac{1}{2} + 1) = (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$, respectively. Thus the leading asymptotics of $D_n(f)$ is a sum of contributions from $f(z) = f(z; \beta)$ and $f(z) = f\left(z; \widehat{\beta}\right)$, as in (152).

Conjecture 8 was proved recently in [DIK1].

Theorem 9. [DIK1] Conjecture 8 holds.

The relation of the semi-norm $|||\beta|||$ to the minimization problem is given by the following elementary result.

Lemma 10. [DIK1] Given β , there are only two, mutually exclusive, possibilities: Either

(i) There exists $\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ such that $|||\widehat{\beta}||| < 1$. Then such a $\widehat{\beta}$ is unique and it is the unique element of $\mathcal{M}_{\beta} = \left\{ \widehat{\beta} \right\}$

or

(ii) There exists $\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ such that $|||\widehat{\beta}||| = 1$. Then there are at least two such $\widehat{\beta}$'s and all of them are obtained from each other by a repeated application of the following rule: add 1 to a $\widehat{\beta}_i$ with the smallest real part, $\Re \widehat{\beta}_j = \min_k \Re \widehat{\beta}_k$, and subtract 1 from a $\widehat{\beta}_{j'}$ with the largest real part, $\Re \widehat{\beta}_{j'} = \max_k \Re \widehat{\beta}_k$. Moreover $\mathcal{M}_{\beta} = \{ \widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta} : |||\widehat{\beta}||| = 1 \}$.

Clearly for $f(e^{i\theta})$ in (151), $|||\widehat{\beta}||| = 1$, if and only if $\widehat{\beta} = \beta$ or $\widehat{\beta} = \beta + (-1, 1)$. Also we see from (i) that the case $||\beta||| < 1$ in Ehrhardt's Theorem corresponds to a unique minimizer in (156), and hence to a single term in (157).

The proof of Conjecture 8 in [DIK1] proceeds as follows. Given β , if there exists $\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ with $|||\widehat{\beta}||| < 1$, then $\widehat{\beta}$ is unique and as $n \to \infty$, $D_n(f) = R_n\left(f(\widehat{\beta})\right)(1 + o(1))$ (Ehrhardt's Theorem). On the other hand, if there exists $\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ with $|||\widehat{\beta}||| = 1$, then $\mathcal{M}_{\beta} = \{\widehat{\beta} \in O_{\beta} : |||\widehat{\beta}||| = 1\}$ has at least two elements. Then for some b,

$$(158) b \le \Re \widehat{\beta}_j \le b + 1$$

for all $\widehat{\beta}_j$, and for some $p, \ell > 0$ there are p values of j such that $\Re \widehat{\beta}_j = b$ and ℓ values for which $\Re \widehat{\beta}_j = b + 1$. Let $\widetilde{f}(e^{i\theta})$ be the FH symbol (not a FH-representation of $f(e^{i\theta})$) with α_j , V as before but $\widetilde{\beta}_j = \widehat{\beta}_j$ if $\Re \widehat{\beta}_j < b + 1$ and $\widetilde{\beta}_j = \widehat{\beta}_j - 1$ if $\Re \widehat{\beta}_j = b + 1$. Then clearly

(159)
$$f(z) = c z^{\ell} \widetilde{f}(z)$$

for some simple constant c, and by a general relation

(160)
$$D_n(f) = \frac{c^n(-1)^{\ell n} F_n D_n(\widetilde{f})}{\prod_{j=0}^{\ell-1} j!}$$

where

(161)
$$F_n = \det\left(\frac{d^j \widetilde{\pi}_{n+k}}{dz^j}(0)\right)_{0 \le j,k \le \ell-1}$$

and $\tilde{\pi}_q(z) = z^q + \dots, q \ge 0$, are the monic orthogonal polynomials with respect to the (in general non-real) weight $\tilde{f}(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$ on S^1 ,

(162)
$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\pi}_{q} \left(e^{i\theta} \right) e^{-ir\theta} \widetilde{f} \left(e^{i\theta} \right) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = 0, \qquad 0 \le r < q.$$

(A part of the proof of Conjecture 8 consists in showing that the $\tilde{\pi}_q$'s exist and are unique for q sufficiently large, $q \geq q_{\tilde{f}}$.) Now clearly $|||\tilde{\beta}||| < 1$, and so we can evaluate $D_n(\tilde{f})$ as $n \to \infty$ using Ehrhardt's Theorem. The proof of the conjecture then reduces by (160) (161) to evaluating the polynomials $\tilde{\pi}_n(z), \ldots, \tilde{\pi}_{n+\ell-1}(z)$ and their derivatives at z = 0, as $n \to \infty$. This is effected by using the steepest-descent method of Deift and Zhou for Riemann-Hilbert problems mentioned in Section 3 above (see also, for example, [DKMVZ1], [DKMVZ2]). The fact that orthogonal polynomials with respect to a weight on the line, can be expressed in terms of a Riemann-Hilbert problem is due to Fokas, Its and Kitaev in [FIK]: the extension of this result to orthogonal polynomials on the circle is given in [BDJ].

Remark 7.1. As noted above, for the Ising model, at $T > T_c$, $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta})$ in (127) corresponds to a degenerate case for Ehrhardt's Theorem. However $\varphi_{\text{ons}}(e^{i\theta}) = -e^{-i\theta} \widetilde{\varphi}(e^{i\theta})$ where $\widetilde{\varphi}(e^{i\theta}) = \frac{(1-\gamma_1 e^{i\theta})(\gamma_2 - e^{i\theta})}{|1-\gamma_1 e^{i\theta}||1-\gamma_2 e^{i\theta}|}$ is smooth, nonzero, and has no winding on S^1 . Hence $D_n(\widetilde{\varphi})$ can be computed as $n \to \infty$ using SSLT as in (85). Analogous to (159), (160), we have the formula

(163)
$$D_n(\varphi_{\text{ons}}) = \widehat{\pi}_n(0) D_n(\widetilde{\varphi})$$

where $\widehat{\pi}_n(z) = z^n + \dots, n \geq 0$ are the complementary orthogonal polynomials to the $\widetilde{\pi}_n$'s (see [DIK1])

(164)
$$\int_0^{2\pi} \widehat{\pi}_n \left(e^{-i\theta} \right) e^{ij\theta} \, \widetilde{\varphi} \left(e^{i\theta} \right) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = 0, \qquad 0 \le j < n.$$

Applying the steepest descent method to the Riemann-Hilbert Problem for $\widehat{\pi}_n$, and taking into account the analyticity of $\widetilde{\varphi}(z)$ in an annulus around $\{|z|=1\}$, we obtain the precise decay rate of $\widehat{\pi}_n(0)$ as $n \to \infty$, and hence via (163), the precise leading order exponential decay rate $cn^{-1/2}\gamma_2^{-n}(1+o(1))$ as in (111). The steepest descent method also yields the higher order terms in

the expression, to any desired order. An alternative, and very elegant, proof of (111) using a contour deformation argument, is given in [FF]. For $\varphi_{\text{diag}}(e^{i\theta})$ and the diagonal correlation function, the situation is similar, and one obtains:

(165)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle = \frac{k_{\text{ons}}^{-n}}{\sqrt{n}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{(1 - k_{\text{ons}}^{-2})^{1/4}} (1 + o(1)), \qquad T > T_c.$$

We also note that in Section 10.7 of [BottSilb3] and in the papers [BottWid1] [Wid7], the authors also analyze the Toeplitz determinants arising in the case $T > T_c$.

Remark 7.2. Formulae (160) and (163) should be compared respectively with formulae (108) and (97) in [FisHart1].

8 Hankel and Toeplitz+Hankel determinants

In [DIK1] the authors also consider Hankel and Toeplitz + Hankel determinants with FH-type singularities. For a weight $w = w(x) \ge 0$ on [-1, 1], the associated Hankel determinant is given by [Sz5]

(166)
$$D_n^{(H)}(w) = \det\left(\int_{-1}^1 x^{j+k} w(x) dx\right)_{i,k=0}^{n-1}.$$

The Hankel determinant $D_n^{(H)}(w)$ is related to the polynomials orthogonal with respect to the weight w on the interval [-1,1] in a similar way as a Toeplitz determinant is related to OPUC's. For fixed $r = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ we consider w(x) of the following form:

(167)
$$w(x) = e^{U(x)} \prod_{j=0}^{r+1} |x - \lambda_j|^{2\alpha_i} \omega_j(x)$$

where

$$1 = \lambda_0 > \lambda_1 > \dots > \lambda_{r+1} = -1,$$

$$\omega_j(x) = \begin{cases} e^{i\pi\beta_j}, & -1 \le x \le \lambda_j, \\ e^{-i\pi\beta_j}, & 1 \ge x > \lambda_j \end{cases}$$

$$\beta_0 = \beta_{r+1} = 0, \qquad \Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad j = 0, 1, \dots, r+1$$

and where U(x) is a sufficiently smooth function on [-1, 1].

Remark 8.1. Note that there is no loss of generality in setting $\beta_0 = \beta_{r+1} = 0$ and $\Re \beta_j \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ as the functions $\omega_0(x), \omega_{r+1}(x)$ are just constant on (-1,1) and $\omega_j(x; \beta_j + k_j) = (-1)^{k_j} \omega_j(x; \beta_j)$ for $k_j \in \mathbb{Z}$.

In [DIK1] the authors prove that for w as in (167) with $\Re \beta_j \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$, $j = 1, \ldots, r$, as $n \to \infty$,

(168)
$$D_n^{(H)}(w) = 2^{-n^2} G_H^n n^{-\frac{1}{4} + 2(\alpha_0^2 + \alpha_r^2) + \sum_{j=1}^n (\alpha_j^2 - \beta_j^2)} E_H (1 + o(1))$$

for certain explicit constants G_H and E_H depending on U(x), λ_j and β_j (see (1.37) in [DIK1]). This result is derived by introducing the function

(169)
$$f(e^{i\theta}) = f(e^{i(2\pi - \theta)}) \equiv w(\cos \theta) |\sin \theta|, \qquad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi$$

on S^1 . With w as in (167), f has FH singularities of the form

(170)
$$f\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = c e^{V\left(e^{i\theta}\right)} |z-1|^{4\alpha_0+1} |z+1|^{4\alpha_{r+1}+1} \prod_{j=1}^{r} |z-z_j|^{2\alpha_j} |z-z_j'|^{2\alpha_j}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{r} \left[g_{z_j,-\beta_j}(z) z_j^{\beta_j} g_{z_j',\beta_j}(z) \left(z_j'\right)^{-\beta_j} \right], \qquad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi$$

where

$$\begin{cases}
\cos \theta_j = \lambda_j, & z_j = e^{i\theta_j}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, r+1, \quad 0 = \theta_0 < \theta_1 < \dots < \theta_{r+1} = \pi \\
z'_j = e^{i(2\pi - \theta_j)}, & j = 0, 1, \dots, r+1 \\
c = 2^{-2\left(\sum_{j=0}^{r+1} \alpha_j\right) - 1} e^{2i\sum_{j=1}^r \beta_j \arcsin \lambda_j}
\end{cases}$$

and

(171)
$$V(e^{i\theta}) = U(\cos\theta).$$

The Hankel determinant $D_n^{(H)}(w)$ and the Toeplitz determinant $D_{2n}(f)$ are related in the following way:

(172)
$$D_n^{(H)}(w)^2 = \frac{\pi^{2n}}{4^{(n-1)^2}} \frac{(\pi_{2n}(0)+1)^2}{\pi_{2n}(1)\pi_{2n}(-1)} D_{2n}(f)$$

where $\pi_k(z) = z^k + \dots, k \geq 0$, are the monic orthogonal polynomials with respect to the weight $f(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$ on S^1 as in (162),

$$\int_0^{2\pi} \pi_k \left(e^{i\theta} \right) e^{-ij\theta} f\left(e^{i\theta} \right) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = 0, \qquad 0 \le j < k.$$

As the semi-norm $|||\beta||| < 1$ for $f(e^{i\theta})$, we may use Ehrhardt's result to evaluate $D_{2n}(f)$, $n \to \infty$, and the result (168) follows from (172) by computing the asymptotics for $\pi_{2n}(z)$ for $z = 0, \pm 1$. Note that if $\Re \beta_j = \frac{1}{2}$ for some $j \in \{0, 1, \ldots, r+1\}$, then $|\Re \beta_j - \Re (-\beta_j)| = 1$ and so $|||\beta||| = 1$. In this case we would have had to use the Basor-Tracy form (157) for $D_{2n}(f)$: we have restricted our attention to the case $\Re \beta_j \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ only for simplicity.

Remark 8.2. For a discussion of results of various authors, particularly Basor and Ehrhardt, related to (168), see [DIK1], Remark 1.24.

For even FH symbols f, i.e., $f(e^{i\theta}) = f(e^{i(2\pi-\theta)})$, the authors in [DIK1] also consider Toeplitz + Hankel determinants of four types defined in terms of the Fourier coefficients f_k of f,

(173)
$$\det (f_{j-k} + f_{j+k})_{j,k=0}^{n-1}, \quad \det (f_{j-k} - f_{j+k+2})_{j,k=0}^{n-1}, \quad \det (f_{j-k} \pm f_{j+k+1})_{j,k=0}^{n-1}.$$

Such matrices arise, in particular, in the theory of classical groups and its application to random matrix theory and statistical mechanics, and there are simple relations between these determinants and Hankel determinants on [-1,1] with added singularities at the end-points (see [DIK1] and the references therein). For example, for $f(e^{i\theta}) = f(e^{i(2\pi-\theta)})$,

(174)
$$\det (f_{j-k} + f_{j+k})_{j,k=0}^{n-1} = \frac{2^{n^2 - 2n + 2}}{\pi^n} D_n^{(H)}(v)$$

where $D_n^{(H)}(v)$ is the Hankel determinant with symbol $v(x) = f\left(e^{i\theta(x)}\right)/\sqrt{1-x^2}$, $\theta(x) = \arccos x$, on [-1,1], with similar formulae for the other three determinants. Let $f\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = f\left(e^{i(2\pi-\theta)}\right)$ with FH singularities at $0 = \theta_0 < \theta_1 < \dots < \theta_r < \theta_{r+1} = \pi$ and complementary singularities at $2\pi - \theta_j$, $1 \le j \le r$. Suppose that $\Re \beta_j \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$, $j = 1, \dots, r$, and $\beta_0 = \beta_{r+1} = 0$. Then utilizing (174) and (168), the authors show that as $n \to \infty$

(175)
$$\det (f_{j-k} + f_{j+k})_{j,k=0}^{n-1} = G_{T+H}^n n^{\sum_{j=1}^r (\alpha_j^2 - \beta_j^2) + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha_0^2 + \alpha_{r+1}^2 - \alpha_0 - \alpha_{r+1})} \times E_{T+H} (1 + o(1))$$

for certain explicit constants G_{T+H} , E_{T+H} , with similar results for the other three Toeplitz+Hankel determinants in (173).

Remark 8.3. For a discussion of the related results of Basor and Ehrhardt for determinants of type (173), see [DIK1], Remark 1.27.

Remark 8.4. In [FF] the authors discuss a large number of conjectures and results for Toeplitz, Hankel, and Toeplitz+Hankel determinants with FH-type singularities. The determinants arise in turn from problems in statistical physics. Many of the conjectures in [FF] can now be resolved using results from [DIK1] such as (168) and (175).

9 Some applications

As advertised at the outset, the goal of this paper has been to show how SSLT developed and was generalized in response to questions arising in the analysis of the Ising model. Although the case $|||\beta||| = 1$ in [DIK1] does not arise in the Ising model (the same is true for the Hankel and Toeplitz + Hankel determinants (166) and (173) respectively), this case does arise in many other problems in statistical physics. For example, the probability $P_E(n)$ of a string of length n of ferromagnetically aligned spins in the antiferromagnetic ground state in the XY spin chain, is given, for a certain range of parameters, by a Toeplitz determinant with 2 β -singularities such that $|||\beta||| = 1$. Thus (157) verifies the result on $P_E(n)$, $n \to \infty$, presented in [FrAb], which the authors based on the Basor-Tracy conjecture. In a similar way, the results in [DIK1] can be used to justify the asymptotic results for correlations arising in the theory of the impenetrable Bose gas that were obtained in the work of Ovchinnikov [Ov] on the basis of the Basor-Tracy conjecture. In another direction in [GGM], the authors use (157) to evaluate the long-time behavior of a variety of non-equilibrium 1D many-body problems. In particular, in the Fermi edge singularity and tunneling spectroscopy problems considered in [GGM], the authors show that the various contributions to (157) have a very transparent physical meaning: they correspond to contributions to the Green's functions for these problems from multiple Fermi edges.

Theorem 9 can also be used to analyze the asymptotic behavior of the eigenvalues $\lambda_1^{(n)} \leq \lambda_2^{(n)} \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_n^{(n)}$, $n \to \infty$, of a Toeplitz matrix $T_n(\varphi)$ with a real symbol φ . At the beginning of our story (see Theorem 2) we interpreted Szegő's early results as saying that the $\lambda_j^{(n)}$'s were equidistributed as $n \to \infty$. But what about the behavior of individual eigenvalues, $\lambda_k^{(n)}$, $n \to \infty$? Early work on this question considered the so-called extreme eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{(n)}$ and $\lambda_{n-k}^{(n)}$ with k fixed as $n \to \infty$ (see [GreSz], [BGrM] and the references therein). The important case for $\lambda_k^{(n)}$ with $n \to \infty$ and $k/n \to x \in (0,1)$ was only considered for the first time recently in [BGrM]. Recall that by general principles (see e.g. [GreSz]), for bounded, real-valued functions $f(e^{i\theta})$, the eigenvalues $\{\lambda_k^{(n)}\}$ lie

in the interval [L, M], $L = \inf f(e^{i\theta})$, $M = \sup f(e^{i\theta})$, and as $n \to \infty$ the $\lambda_k^{(n)}$'s fill out the interval in the sense that if $\lambda \in [L, M]$, then there exist $k_n(\lambda)$ such that $\lambda_{k_n(\lambda)}^{(n)} \to \lambda$. In [BGrM] the authors consider function $f(e^{i\theta})$ that are unimodal, real-valued trigonometric polynomials, i.e., for some $0 < \theta_0 < 2\pi$, $\frac{d}{d\theta} f(e^{i\theta}) > 0$ for $0 < \theta < \theta_0$ and $\frac{d}{d\theta} f(e^{i\theta}) < 0$ for $\theta_0 < \theta < 2\pi$, with the additional property that $\frac{d^2}{d\theta^2} f(e^{i\theta}) \neq 0$ at $\theta = 0$ and $\theta = \theta_0$. For any $\lambda \in (L, M)$, there exist unique $0 < \theta_1(\lambda) < \theta_0 < \theta_2(\lambda) < 2\pi$ such that $f(e^{i\theta_j(\lambda)}) - \lambda = 0$, j = 1, 2. The function

$$\psi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\theta_1(\lambda) - \theta_2(\lambda) \right] + \pi$$

extends to a homeomorphism from [L, M] onto $[0, \pi]$. In [BGrM] the authors prove, in particular, that for any $x \in (0, 1)$

$$\lambda_k^{(n)} = \lambda_x + o(1)$$

as $n \to \infty$ and $k/n \to x$, where $\psi(\lambda_x) = \pi x$, and

(177)
$$\lambda_{k+1}^{(n)} - \lambda_k^{(n)} = \frac{\pi}{\psi'(\lambda_x)} \frac{1}{n+1} + o\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$$

if $|k/n - x| = O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$ as $n \to \infty$.

The estimate (177) brings precision to the equidistribution result in Theorem 2. In [DIK2] the authors extend the result in [BGrM] to C^{∞} unimodal, real-valued functions on S^1 , and they also consider piecewise—constant symbols of the form

(178)
$$f\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = 1, \qquad \theta \in \left[0, \widehat{\theta}_1\right) \cup \left[\widehat{\theta}_2, 2\pi\right)$$
$$= e^{2\pi\gamma}, \qquad \theta \in \left[\widehat{\theta}_1, \widehat{\theta}_2\right)$$

where $0 \leq \widehat{\theta}_1 < \widehat{\theta}_2 < 2\pi$ and $\gamma > 0$ are given. For symbols such as (178), the eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{(n)}$ cannot be spaced 1/n apart as in (177). This is clear, for example, from (8) in Theorem 2, if we let $F(\lambda)$ be any non-negative continuous function with support in $(1, e^{2\pi\gamma})$. And indeed, the general result in [Bas2] asserts that in the case (178), for any small $\epsilon > 0$, the interval $(1 + \epsilon, e^{2\pi\gamma} - \epsilon)$ contains order $\log n$ eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{(n)}$, spaced at distance $1/\log n$ apart, as $n \to \infty$: The bulk of the eigenvalues accumulate at 1 and at $e^{2\pi\gamma}$. On the basis of numerical computations, the authors in [LeSh] (see also [LeSoSo]) conjectured that in the case

(179)
$$\widehat{\theta}_2 - \widehat{\theta}_1 = 2\pi \, p/q, \qquad p, \, q \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad 0$$

there is a "near periodicity" in the spectrum of $T_n(f)$. In [DIK2] the authors prove this conjecture in the following sense: for n sufficiently large, if $\lambda_k^{(n)}$ in an eigenvalue of $T_n(f)$ in $\left(1+\epsilon, e^{2\pi\gamma}-\epsilon\right)$, then there is an eigenvalue $\lambda_j^{(n+q)}$ of T_{n+q} such that $\left|\lambda_k^{(n)}-\lambda_j^{(n+q)}\right| \leq c(n\log n)^{-1}$. Of course $1/(n\log n) << 1/\log n$, the spacing of the $\lambda_k^{(n)}$'s, $k=1,\ldots,n$.

The proof of the above results in [DIK2] rests on the simple fact that $\det(T_n(f) - \lambda) = \det(T_n(f - \lambda))$, so that the eigenvalue equation for $T_n(f)$ is equivalent to the vanishing of the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(f - \lambda)$. Now if $f(e^{i\theta})$ is a smooth, unimodal function on S^1 , then $f(e^{i\theta}) - \lambda$

is a FH symbol with two singularities at $z_1 = e^{i\theta_1(\lambda)}$, $z_2 = e^{i\theta_2(\lambda)}$ and $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_1 = -\beta_2 = \frac{1}{2}$ (see (124))

(180)
$$f(z) - \lambda = e^{V(z)} |z - z_1| |z - z_2| g_{z_1, \frac{1}{2}}(z) g_{z_2, -\frac{1}{2}}(z) \left(\frac{z_1}{z_2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

where $V(e^{i\theta})$ is smooth on S^1 . This is a case of a FH symbol with $|||\beta||| = 1$. Therefore we need to use Theorem 9 to obtain the asymptotics for $D_n(f - \lambda)$. The set M_β here contains 2 elements, and the condition for an eigenvalue is the vanishing of the sum in (157):

$$(181) D_n(f-\lambda) = R_n(f(\beta_1, \beta_2) - \lambda)(1 + o(1)) + R_n(f(\beta_1 - 1, \beta_2 + 1) - \lambda)(1 + o(1)) = 0$$

The asymptotic results on the eigenvalues follow from this formula.

The Toeplitz matrix $T_n(f)$ with the symbol $f(e^{i\theta})$ in (178) is handled similarly. The function $f(z) - \lambda$ in this case has 2 β -type singularities whose positions on the circle are fixed, but the imaginary parts of β 's depend on λ : $\beta_1 = -\beta_2 = \frac{1}{2} + i\gamma(\lambda)$. Note that we again have $|||\beta||| = 1$, and the condition for the eigenvalues is thus given by Theorem 9.

Finally we describe an example where the results in [DIK1] are needed for a Toeplitz+Hankel determinant of type (173). The following problem arises in the framework of the random matrix approach to the theory of the Riemann zeta-function and other L-functions (see [Keat] for a recent survey). Define

(182)
$$\phi(e^{i\theta}) = \left| 2\sin\frac{\theta}{2} \right|^{2k} e^{V(e^{i\theta})}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

where

$$V(e^{i\theta}) = 2k \left[\int_{1}^{e} u(y) \left\{ \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \text{Ci} \left(|\theta + 2\pi j| \left(\log y \right) (\log X) \right) \right\} dy - \log \left| 2 \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right| \right],$$

$$\text{Ci} (z) = -\int_{z}^{\infty} \frac{\cos t}{t} dt$$

and u(y) is a smooth, non-negative function supported on $\left[e^{1-X^{-1}},e\right]$ and of total mass one. Consider the following average over the orthogonal group SO(2n),

(183)
$$\mathbb{E}_{SO(2n)} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \phi \left(e^{i\theta_i} \right) \right).$$

Here $e^{\pm i\theta_1}, \dots e^{\pm i\theta_n}$ are the eigenvalues of a random matrix in SO(2n): note that ϕ is even, $\phi(e^{i\theta}) = \phi(e^{-i\theta})$. This expectation was introduced by Bui and Keating in [BuKe] (following [GHK]) as the random matrix counterpart of a key term contributing to the mean values of certain Dirichlet L-functions in the Katz-Sarnak orthogonal family. The issue is the large n and large X behavior of this average. The question can be resolved with the help of (175). One observes that

(184)
$$\mathbb{E}_{SO(2n)} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \phi \left(e^{i\theta_j} \right) \right) = \frac{1}{2} \det \left(\phi_{j-k} + \phi_{j+k} \right)_{j,k=0}^{n-1}$$

and that the symbol (182) is of FH type with a single α -singularity at $z_0 = 1$ and $\alpha_0 = k$. Directly from (the precise version of) the asymptotic formula (175) (see Theorem 1.25 in [DIK1]), one obtains, for X large, as $n \to \infty$

$$(185) \qquad \mathbb{E}_{SO(2n)}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{n}\phi\left(e^{i\theta_{j}}\right)\right) \sim G(1+k)\left(\frac{\Gamma(1+2k)}{G(1+2k)\Gamma(1+k)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{2n}{e^{\gamma_{E}}\log X}\right)^{\frac{k(k-1)}{2}}$$

where γ_E is Euler's constant. Formula (185) is precisely the asymptotic form conjectured by Bui and Keating in [BuKe].

10 Block Toeplitz matrices

We now consider block Toeplitz matrices $D_n(\varphi)$ of the form $D_n(\varphi) = \det(\varphi_{j-k})_{j,k=0}^{n-1}$ where $\varphi_q \in M(r,\mathbb{C})$ are the Fourier coefficients of an $r \times r$ -matrix-valued integrable function $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$ on S^1 . The earliest asymptotic result for such determinants is the analog of Szegő's Theorem 1 due to Gyires in 1956 [Gy], who showed that if $\varphi(z)$ is continuous and positive definite for |z| = 1, then

(186)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log D_n(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log \det \varphi \left(e^{i\theta} \right) d\theta.$$

Block Toeplitz matrices arose in the Ising model in the following way. In their famous paper [LeYa] on the Lee-Yang Theorem, asserting that the zeros of the partition function $Z_{\Lambda,h}$ (cf. Remark 4.1 in Section 4), for the Ising model in the presence of a magnetic field, all lie on the imaginary h-axis, Lee and Yang also proposed, but did not prove, expressions for the free energy $F_h = \lim_{|\Lambda| \to \infty} -k_B T \log Z_{\Lambda,h}$ and the magnetization $M_h = \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$ at the particular imaginary value of h, $\frac{h}{k_B T} = \frac{1}{2} i \pi$. In terms of the variable $\rho = e^{-2h/k_B T}$, the zeros of $Z_{\Lambda,h}$ lie on the circle $|\rho| = 1$. As noted in [LeYa], M_h is precisely the density of the zeros of $Z_{\Lambda,h}$ on $\{|\rho| = 1\}$ at $\rho = -1$, in the limit as $|\Lambda| \to \infty$. In [McWu2], McCoy and Wu present a derivation of these expressions for F_h and M_h , $h/k_B T = \frac{1}{2} i \pi$. Regarding M_h , for this value of h, they first show how to express the correlation function $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle$ in terms of a 2 × 2 block Toeplitz determinant B_n . Then they show by certain ingenious manipulations how to evaluate B_n in terms of a determinant which is a product of two scalar Toeplitz determinants to which SSLT applies. In this way they are able to compute M_h explicitly and recover the formula in [LeYa]. This is the first example of an SSLT-type result for block Toeplitz matrices.

The general theory of SSLT for block Toeplitz matrices begins with Widom's paper [Wid5]. Under certain smoothness assumptions on the $r \times r$ -matrix-valued function $\varphi(e^{i\theta})$, Widom shows that

(187)
$$Y(\varphi) \equiv \lim_{n \to \infty} D_n(\varphi) / \exp\left\{\frac{n}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log \det \varphi(e^{i\theta}) d\theta\right\}$$

exists, and in [Wid3] he shows that

(188)
$$Y(\varphi) = \det \left[T(\varphi) T(\varphi^{-1}) \right]$$

where $T(\varphi)$, $T(\varphi^{-1})$ are the Toeplitz operators associated with φ and φ^{-1} respectively (cf. (76)). Part of the proof of (188) consists in showing that $T(\varphi)T(\varphi^{-1})-1$ is trace-class in ℓ_+^2 , so that the

RHS is well-defined. In the scalar case, as mentioned above, Widom uses the Helton-Howe-Pincus formula to show that (188) reduces to the standard result $Y(\varphi) = e^{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k(\log \varphi)_k (\log \varphi)_{-k}}$. As noted above (see (73) et seq), in [Wid4], Widom introduced a "standard" pathway to SSLT. The method extends with only a change of notation to the block Toeplitz case, and so Widom obtains a new direct proof of (187), (188) with no more effort than in the scalar case. The same is true for the method of Basor and Helton in [BasHelt].

Block Toeplitz matrices occur in many physical situations, for example, in the study of the Ising model with next-nearest-neighbor interactions, and also, more recently, in the theory of the dimer model [BasEhr] and in the study of the entanglement spectrum in quantum systems (see [VLRK], [JK]). The use of the general SSLT for block Toeplitz matrices in physical applications poses new challenges vis a vis the scalar case. The new difficulties are due to the fact that formula (188), as elegant as it is, is hard to evaluate in concrete calculations in the case of a matrix symbol φ . The determinant on the right hand side of (188) is the Fredholm determinant of an infinite matrix, and even for 2×2 matrix functions φ an effective evaluation of $Y(\varphi)$ is a highly nontrivial enterprise. Indeed, the authors are aware of only three situations when such effective evaluations have been made so far. The first situation arises when, as in the work of McCoy and Wu mentioned above, it is possible, by using an ad hoc technique, to express the block Toeplitz determinant in question in terms of scalar Toeplitz determinants. The work of Tanaka, Morita, and Hiroike [TMH], and of Böttcher [Bott2] on the Ising model with the next-nearest-neighbor interactions provides another example of this sort. In this example, the relevant matrix symbol φ is described by the formula

(189)
$$\varphi(z) = (I - zR) a(z) \left(I - z^{-1} S \right)$$

where a(z) is a diagonal matrix function,

(190)
$$a(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda(z) & 0\\ 0 & \lambda(z^{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

with $\lambda(z)$ being an elementary algebraic function, and the constant matrices R and S are expressed as follows:

$$R = U \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} U^{-1}, \quad S = U \begin{pmatrix} \beta & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} U^{-1}.$$

In these expressions, U is an invertible 2×2 matrix, and α , β are complex numbers, satisfying the conditions: $|\alpha| < 1$, $|\beta| < 1$. Note that these inequalities guarantee that the first matrix factor in (189) is holomorphic and invertible inside the unit disc while the last factor is holomorphic and invertible outside of the unit disc. The function $\lambda(z)$ (an analog of Onsager's symbol (25)), the matrix U, and the numbers α and β are determined by the physical parameters of the problem, the temperature T and the anisotropy coefficients. As in the usual Ising model, there exists a critical temperature T_c , and the behavior of the determinant $D_n(\varphi)$ depends on whether $T > T_c$ or $T < T_c$. Böttcher shows that in the case $T > T_c$ (the paramagnetic phase) the Wiener-Hopf factorization of the matrix symbol $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ has nontrivial partial indices which implies that the operator $T(\varphi^{-1})$ is not invertible. In view of (188), this implies that the factor $Y(\varphi)$ is zero. Moreover, it is easily seen that $\int_0^{2\pi} \log \det \varphi \left(e^{i\theta}\right) d\theta = 0$, and hence for $T > T_c$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} D_n(\varphi) = 0$$

which has the physical interpretation that there is no spontaneous magnetization in the paramagnetic phase. In the ferromagnetic phase, that is when $T < T_c$, an efficient direct analysis of Widom's

factor $Y(\varphi)$ is not apparent, and Böttcher develops an ad-hoc approach which uses the specifics of the symbol (189). Indeed, in his preprint, by means of ingenious operator-algebra arguments, Böttcher obtains the formula

(191)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{D_{n-1}(\varphi)}{D_n(a)} = (\det U)^{-2} (1 - \alpha \beta)^{-2} \left[\frac{U_{11}U_{22}}{\lambda_+(\beta)\lambda_-(1/\alpha)} - \frac{U_{12}U_{21}}{\lambda_+(\alpha)\lambda_-(1/\beta)} \right]^2$$

where $\lambda = \lambda_+ \lambda_-$ is a Wiener-Hopf factorization of λ (which, as Böttcher shows, is possible in the case $T < T_c$). Hence the evaluation of $D_{n-1}(\varphi)$ as $n \to \infty$ is reduced to the asymptotic evaluation of the scalar Toeplitz determinant $D_n(\lambda)$, for which the standard (scalar) SSLT applies. In the critical case, $T = T_c$, the function $\lambda(z)$ acquires a Fisher-Hartwig type singularity. Böttcher then provides a modification of his previous analysis for this case and, using in addition various results obtained earlier with Silbermann (see Section 6), he then derives the leading asymptotics of $D_n(\varphi)$ in the critical case as well.

The two other types of block Toeplitz determinants for which the Widom pre-factor $Y(\varphi)$ can be evaluated are not reducible to the scalar case. The first one corresponds to the matrix symbols φ with a Fourier series that is truncated on at least one side. This class was singled out by Widom himself in [Wid5]. For such matrices φ , the evaluation of $Y(\varphi)$ is reduced to the evaluation of a finite dimensional determinant (in fact, a block Toeplitz determinant of a finite fixed size). This result of Widom has been used in the recent paper [BasEhr] of Basor and Ehrhardt devoted to the dimer model. The matrix function φ appearing in the dimer model is not originally of the truncated form, but it is truncated up to a scalar algebraic factor. Basor and Ehrhardt show that this factor can be accounted for by means of skillful algebraic manipulations which transform the original quantity $Y(\varphi)$ to one with φ replaced by its truncated part.

The second type of block Toeplitz determinants that are not reducible to the scalar case, but for which the large n limit is still computable, are determinants with algebraic matrix symbols. Such determinants appear in the theory of quantum entanglement when one evaluates the von Neumann entropy, which is a fundamental measure of the entanglement of a subsystem with the rest of the quantum system. For instance, as shown in [VLRK], [JK], the evaluation of the von Neumann entropy of a subsystem of neighboring spins in the XY quantum spin chain is equivalent to the asymptotic evaluation of the block Toepltz determinant $D_n(\varphi)$ whose matrix symbol φ is given by the formula (for more details and references see [JK]),

(192)
$$\varphi(z) = \begin{pmatrix} i\mu & \psi(z) \\ -\psi^{-1}(z) & i\mu \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \psi(z) = \sqrt{\frac{(z-z_1)(z-z_2)}{(1-z_1z)(1-z_2z)}}.$$

Here, $z_1 \neq z_2$ are complex nonzero numbers not lying on the unit circle and determined by the physical data of the model (the anisotropy parameter and the magnetic field) and μ is a free complex parameter lying outside of the interval [-1,1]. The asymptotic evaluation of $D_n(\varphi)$ is performed in [IJK] and it is based on yet another formula of Widom which he obtained in [Wid5]. This formula is concerned with block Toeplitz determinants depending on an external parameter, say μ , and is used to evaluate the leading asymptotics of the μ -logarithmic derivative of the determinant in terms of the Wiener-Hopf factorizations of the matrix function φ^{-1} , i.e. in terms of the \pm - matrix functions u_{\pm} and v_{\pm} defined by the equations

(193)
$$\varphi^{-1}(z) = u_{+}(z)u_{-}(z) = v_{-}(z)v_{+}(z) \quad u_{-}(\infty) = v_{-}(\infty) = I,$$

where, as usual, f_{+} (f_{-}) means that the matrix function is invertible and analytic inside (outside) of the unit circle, respectively. Under some natural smoothness assumptions (see [Wid5], Theorem

4.1), Widom's formula reads:

(194)
$$\frac{d}{d\mu} \log D_n(\varphi) = \frac{n}{2\pi i} \int_{S^1} \operatorname{tr} \left(\varphi^{-1}(z) \frac{\partial \varphi(z)}{\partial \mu} \right) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{S^1} \operatorname{tr} \left(\left(u'_+(z) u_-(z) - v'_-(z) v_+(z) \right) \frac{\partial \varphi(z)}{\partial \mu} \right) dz + o(1), \quad n \to \infty.$$

(In the case of symbols analytic in an annulus including the unit circle, formula (194) was re-derived with a quantitative estimate of the error term in [IJK] via the Riemann-Hilbert scheme (see also [IMM]).) Widom used this asymptotic formula in the proof of his main result, vis., the asymptotic relation (187). A curious fact is that, up until the work [IJK], equation (194), apparently, had never been used directly for the asymptotic evaluation of the determinants of block Toeplitz matrices. And for a good reason: the efficiency of formula (194) relies on the effectiveness of the Wiener-Hopf factorizations (193) of a given matrix valued function $\varphi(z)$. Usually, this is a transcendental problem equivalent to the solution of a system of singular integral equations on the unit circle which can seldom be effected in terms of known special functions. However, as was observed in [IJK], in the case of algebraic matrix functions $\varphi(z)$ one can take advantage of the algebro-geometric method that had been developed in the late 70s to the early 90s in soliton theory (see e.g. [BBEIM]). Using the Riemann-Hilbert version of this method exploited in [DIZ] (see also [DKMVZ1], [DKMVZ2]), the authors of [IJK] were able to construct the Wiener-Hopf factorizations of the symbol (192) in terms of Jacobi theta-functions. This in turn, with the help of Widom's formula (194), yielded the following asymptotics of the corresponding Toeplitz determinant:

(195)
$$D_n(\varphi) \sim \frac{\theta_3 \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \log \frac{\mu+1}{\mu-1} + \frac{\sigma \tau}{2}\right) \theta_3 \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \log \frac{\mu+1}{\mu-1} - \frac{\sigma \tau}{2}\right)}{\theta_3^2 \left(\frac{\sigma \tau}{2}\right)} (1 - \mu^2)^n, \quad n \to \infty.$$

Here

$$\theta_3(s) \equiv \theta(s;\tau) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\pi i \tau k^2 + 2\pi i s k}$$

is the Jacobi theta-function, $\sigma = \pm 1$, and τ is the modulus of the elliptic curve

(196)
$$w^{2}(z) = (z - z_{1})(z - z_{2})(z - z_{2}^{-1})(z - z_{1}^{-1}).$$

The concrete choice of σ depends on the way the branch points $z_{1,2}^{\pm 1}$ are located with respect to the unit circle (see [IJK] for details). We refer the reader to the survey [IK] for more on these results and on their applications in the theory of quantum entanglement. The asymptotic formula (195) was extended in [IMM] to the case of more general integrable spin chains introduced in [KM]. The relevant symbol has the same matrix structure as (192), but with scalar function $\psi(z)$ now given by

(197)
$$\psi(z) = \sqrt{\frac{p(z)}{z^{2m}p(1/z)}}$$

where p(z) is a polynomial of degree 2m. The analog of the formula (195) in the case m > 1 involves a hyperelliptic curve instead of an elliptic curve, and instead of the Jacobi theta-function one needs 2m - 1 dimensional Riemann theta-functions. Independently of [IJK] and [IMM], similar results

for block Toeplitz determinants with algebraic symbols appearing in the theory of the Gelfand-Dickey hierarchy, were obtained, again with the help of the algebro-geometric approach, in [Caf]. It is worth noticing that the method of [IJK] can be applied to the problems considered above by Böttcher and Basor-Ehrhardt. Indeed, the symbol of the determinant appearing in the work of Basor and Ehrhardt is in fact algebraic and hence can be factorized within the algebro-geometric approach, while the symbol of Böttcher's determinant is already in the form u_+u_- . The reverse factorization, i.e. representation of the symbol (189) as v_-v_+ involves an elementary algebraic operation. We note finally that Widom's formula (194) can be used to extend Böttcher's results to symbols of the form $\varphi(z) = R(z)a(z)S(z^{-1})$, where a(z) is a diagonal matrix function and a(z) and a(z) are polynomial matrix functions invertible for all z inside the unit circle.

11 Double-scaling limits

Of all the challenges in Toeplitz theory that arise from the Ising model, the deepest is the issue of the double-scaling limit (or in physicists' parlance, simply the scaling limit), $T \to T_c$ and $n \to \infty$. We have already mentioned the importance of this problem in physics. At the purely mathematical level, the issue is the following: Suppose one has a Toeplitz determinant $D_n(\varphi)$ with a symbol that depends on some external parameter, say t, $\varphi(e^{i\theta}) = \varphi_t(e^{i\theta})$. For t > 0, φ_t is regular, but at t = 0, φ_t has a (Fisher-Hartwig) singularity, and hence, as we know, the nature of the asymptotics of $D_n(\varphi_t)$ as $n \to \infty$ is different for t > 0 and t = 0. This raises the general question: How does one describe the transition from the one kind of asymptotics to the other as $n \to \infty$ and $t \downarrow 0$?

In [WMTB], Wu, McCoy, Tracy, and Barouch discovered a remarkable scaling relation for the Ising model. They defined the scaling functions

(198)
$$G_{\pm}(r) = \lim_{\ell, m \to \infty, t \to \mp 0} \left| 1 - e^{-2t} \right|^{-\frac{1}{4}} \left\langle \sigma_{1,1} \, \sigma_{1+\ell,1+m} \right\rangle, \quad t = \log \left(\sinh \frac{2J_1}{k_B T} \sinh \frac{2J_2}{k_B T} \right)$$

in the double-scaling limit

(199)
$$\left(\frac{\sinh(2J_1/k_B T_c) \ell^2 + \sinh(2J_2/k_B T_c) m^2}{\sinh(2J_1/k_B T_c) + \sinh(2J_2/k_B T_c)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |t| \equiv r, \text{ fixed }.$$

Here \pm refer to $T > T_c$ and $T < T_c$ respectively. They then showed that $G_{\pm}(r)$ could be expressed in terms of a solution of the Painlevé III equation

(200)
$$\frac{d^2\eta}{d\theta^2} = \frac{1}{\eta} \left(\frac{d\eta}{d\theta}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{\theta} \frac{d\eta}{d\theta} + \eta^3 - \eta^{-1}$$

as

(201)
$$G_{\pm}(r) = \frac{1 \mp \eta \left(\frac{r}{2}\right)}{2\eta \left(\frac{r}{2}\right)^{1/2}} \exp\left[\frac{1}{4} \int_{r/2}^{\infty} \theta \frac{\left(1 - \eta^2\right)^2 - (\eta')^2}{\eta^2} d\theta\right]$$

with the boundary condition $\eta(\theta) \sim 1 - \frac{2}{\pi} K_0(2\theta)$ as $\theta \to \infty$, where K_0 denotes the modified Bessel function. The above calculation was the first derivation of an explicit scaling law for a two-spin correlation function for any model in statistical physics. As noted before, the scaling functions $G_{\pm}(r)$ are believed to be universal for a wide class of two-dimensional models with short range interactions.

A crucial issue for [WMTB] scaling theory was to show that formula (198) matches the critical 1/4 behavior (106) as $r \to 0$. In order to do this, the authors needed to know the $\infty \leftrightarrow 0$ connection formulae for the Painlevé functions $\eta(\theta)$. In [WMTB] they extracted this information from the unpublished thesis of Myers [My] (see below). In a later paper in 1977, McCoy, Tracy, and Wu [MTW] derived $\infty \leftrightarrow 0$ connection formulae for a two-parameter class of bounded solutions $\eta(\theta; \nu, \lambda)$ of the general Painlevé III equation

$$\frac{d^2\eta}{d\theta^2} = \frac{1}{\eta} \left(\frac{d\eta}{d\theta} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{\theta} \frac{d\eta}{d\theta} + \frac{2\nu}{\theta} (\eta^2 - 1) + \eta^3 - \eta^{-1}.$$

We now describe in more detail what was done in [MTW], restricting our discussion to the case $\nu = 0$ which is relevant to [WMTB].

Consider the one parameter family $\eta(\theta) = \eta(\theta; 0, \lambda)$ of the solutions of equation (200) defined by the asymptotic condition

(202)
$$\eta(\theta) \sim 1 - 2\lambda K_0(2\theta), \quad \theta \to \infty.$$

In [MTW], it was shown that, for $0 \le \lambda < 1/\pi$, as $r \to 0$,

(203)
$$\eta(r/2) = Br^{\sigma} \left(1 - \frac{1}{16} B^{-2} (1 - \sigma)^{-2} r^{2 - 2\sigma} + O(r^2) \right)$$

where the constants B and σ are functions of λ given by the explicit formulae:

(204)
$$\sigma = \sigma(\lambda) = \frac{2}{\pi}\arcsin(\pi\lambda), \quad B = B(\sigma) = 2^{-3\sigma}\frac{\Gamma((1-\sigma)/2)}{\Gamma((1+\sigma)/2)}.$$

In [My], Myers derived the asymptotics for $\eta(r/2; 0, 1/\pi)$ as $r \downarrow 0$,

(205)
$$\eta\left(\frac{r}{2}; 0, \frac{1}{\pi}\right) \sim -\frac{r}{2}\left(\log\frac{r}{8} + \gamma_E\right)$$

where γ_E is Euler's constant. In [MTW] the authors recovered (205) by analyzing formally the limit $\lambda \to 1/\pi$ in (203). Proofs of (205) were given later in [Wid8] and, using the Riemann-Hilbert method, in [Niles]. In turn, the asymptotic formula (205) yields the estimate:

(206)
$$G_{\pm} \sim \operatorname{const} r^{-1/4} \left[1 \pm \frac{r}{2} \left(\ln \frac{r}{8} + \gamma_E \right) \right].$$

In order to see that this estimate matches equation (106), it is enough to notice that (198) and (199) imply that

(207)
$$\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle \sim 2^{1/4} G_{+}(r) |t|^{1/4} = 2^{1/4} G_{+}(r) r^{1/4} n^{-1/4}$$

The main term in equation (106), up to the multiplicative constant, follows now directly from (206). The evaluation of the constant in (206) that matches the transcendental constant A in (106) was done by Tracy [T] in 1991.

The Painlevé functions, PI, ..., PVI, (see [In]) were discovered and analyzed intensively at the beginning of the 20^{th} century until the First World War, and then fell into a period of latency. They reappeared in theoretical physics quite unexpectedly in 1965 in the work of Myers [My] mentioned above, who showed that the scattering of electromagnetic radiation from a strip in the plane could

be expressed in terms of a solution of the Painlevé III equation. The paper [WMTB] was a seminal event in mathematical physics, followed soon after by the landmark paper of Jimbo et al [JMMS] on the impenetrable Bose gas, and the Painlevé equations have emerged over the years as the core of modern special function theory, with applications across the board in mathematics, physics and engineering (see, e.g., [FIKN]). In PDE's, in particular, the Painlevé equations (specifically, Painlevé II) appeared for the first time in the analysis of Ablowitz and Segur [AS] of self-similar solutions of the Korteweg-de Vries equation. This pioneering development opened the door to understanding the crucial role that the Painlevé equations play in the theory of integrable dynamical systems (see [AC], [FIKN]). The work [MTW] demonstrated for the first time the possibility to derive explicit connection formulae for families of solutions to a Painlevé equation, a property which had been previously known only for the linear ODEs of hypergeometric type. Similar connection formulae were obtained for the second Painlevé equation in [AS] (only formulae for the amplitude) and in [SA] (complete formulae for the amplitude and the phase). The papers [MTW], [AS], and [SA] generated a surge of activity in the global asymptotic analysis of the Painlevé equations (see again [FIKN] for more history and the state of the art in the area). We view these developments as one more example of the way in which questions arising in the analysis of the Ising model gave rise to developments in Toeplitz theory, and in this case, through Toeplitz theory, to the global theory of the Painlevé equations.

An alternative to the representation (201) of $G_{\pm}(r)$ was obtained in 1980 by Jimbo and Miwa [JM]. Their formula for $G_{-}(r)$ reads:

(208)
$$G_{-}(r) = \exp\left[-\int_{2r}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma(x)}{x} dx\right],$$

where $\sigma(x)$ is the unique solution of the Painlevé V equation

(209)
$$\left(x\frac{d^2\sigma}{dx^2}\right)^2 = \left(\sigma - x\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + 2\left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2\right)^2 - 4\left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2\left(\left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4}\right)$$

satisfying the boundary conditions

(210)
$$\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} -1/4 + O(x \log x), & x \to 0, \\ \frac{1}{2\pi} x^{-1} e^{-x} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) \right), & x \to +\infty. \end{cases}$$

The equivalence of (208) to the original PIII-formula (201) was established in [MP].

Recently in [CIK] the following generalization of the Jimbo-Miwa result was obtained. The authors in [CIK] considered the double-scaling limit for the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(t)$ with the symbol:

(211)
$$\varphi(z) = (z - e^t)^{\alpha + \beta} (z - e^{-t})^{\alpha - \beta} z^{-\alpha + \beta} e^{-i\pi(\alpha + \beta)} e^{V(z)},$$

where $t \geq 0$, $\alpha \pm \beta \neq -1, -2,$, $\Re \alpha > -1/2$, and V(z) is analytic in an annulus containing the unit circle. The powers in (211) are defined by requiring the arguments to lie between zero and 2π . The symbol $\varphi(z)$ is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus ([0,e^{-t}] \cup [e^t,+\infty))$. It is regular for t>0 and has a Fisher-Hartwig singularity for t=0 at $z_0=1$, $\varphi(z)=|z-1|^{2\alpha}z^{\beta}e^{-i\pi\beta}e^{V(z)}$. The main result in [CIK] is the following: There exists a finite (perhaps empty) set $\Delta \subset (0,\infty)$ and a (small) number

 $t_0 > 0$, such that for $n \to \infty$ and for all $0 < t < t_0$, $\log D_n(t)$ has an expansion of the form (see [CIK] Theorem 1.4)

(212)
$$\log D_n(t) = nV_0 + (\alpha + \beta)nt + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left[V_k - (\alpha + \beta) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} \right] \left[V_{-k} - (\alpha - \beta) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} \right] + \int_0^{2nt} \frac{\sigma(x) - \alpha^2 + \beta^2}{x} dx + (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) \log 2nt + \log \frac{G(1 + \alpha + \beta)G(1 + \alpha - \beta)}{G(1 + 2\alpha)} + o(1),$$

with the error term being uniform for $0 \le t < t_0$ provided dist $(2nt, \Delta) \ge \delta > 0$ for some $\delta > 0$, and the path of integration in (212) does not intersect with Δ . (In fact, the asymptotics (212) hold uniformly in a sector of the complex plane $-\pi/2 + \epsilon < \arg x < \pi/2 - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < \pi/2$, away from a finite number of points. These points, which include the points of Δ , are possible poles of the function $\sigma(x)$. A choice of the integration contour corresponds to a branch of the logarithm.)

The function $\sigma(x)$ in (212) is the unique solution of the Painlevé V equation

(213)
$$\left(x \frac{d^2 \sigma}{dx^2} \right)^2 = \left(\sigma - x \frac{d\sigma}{dx} + 2 \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} \right)^2 + 2\alpha \frac{d\sigma}{dx} \right)^2$$
$$- 4 \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} \right)^2 \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + \alpha + \beta \right) \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + \alpha - \beta \right)$$

which is real analytic in $(0, +\infty)$ and satisfies the boundary conditions

(214)
$$\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} \alpha^2 - \beta^2 + \frac{\alpha^2 - \beta^2}{2\alpha} \{ x - x^{1+2\alpha} C(\alpha, \beta) \} (1 + O(x)), & x \to 0, \quad 2\alpha \notin \mathbb{Z} \\ \alpha^2 - \beta^2 + O(x) + O(x^{1+2\alpha}) + O(x^{1+2\alpha} \log x), & x \to 0, \quad 2\alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \\ x^{-1+2\alpha} e^{-x} \frac{-1}{\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) \right), & x \to +\infty, \end{cases}$$

with

(215)
$$C(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(1+\alpha-\beta)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(1-\alpha-\beta)} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+2\alpha)^2} \frac{1}{1+2\alpha}.$$

For fixed t>0, equation (212) yields the standard Szegő large n asymptotics for the regular symbol (211). It is interesting to note that this implies the following integral identity for the Painlevé function $\sigma(x)$ (cf. (1.31) in [CIK]): for any $x_0 > 0$,

(216)
$$\int_{0}^{x_{0}} \frac{\sigma(x) - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}}{x} dx + \int_{x_{0}}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma(x)}{x} dx + (\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}) \log x_{0}$$
$$= -\log \frac{G(1 + \alpha + \beta)G(1 + \alpha - \beta)}{G(1 + 2\alpha)}.$$

In the case t=0, the equation (212) transforms to a single-point Fisher-Hartwig formulae: To see

this, one utilizes the identity $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} e^{-2kt}/k = -\ln\left(1 - e^{-2t}\right)$. In the special case $\alpha = 0$, $\beta = -\frac{1}{2}$, $V(z) \equiv 0$, and with the identification, $e^{-t} = k_{\text{ons}}$, the symbol (211) becomes $e^{-t/2}\varphi_{\text{diag}}(z)$. Therefore, in this case, $D_n(t) = e^{-nt/2} \langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle$ with $t\downarrow 0$ corresponding to $T\uparrow T_c$. Set $2nt\equiv 2r$. Then formula (212), together with the identity (216) and the definition (198) of the scaling functions $G_{\pm}(r)$, yields the Jimbo-Miwa relation (208). With the equivalence of (208) and (201), this means that the uniform asymptotics (212) include the double-scaling limit in [WMTB] as a special case corresponding to $2nt \equiv 2r$ fixed (away from Δ), $n \to \infty$, and $\alpha = 0$, $\beta = -\frac{1}{2}$, $V(z) \equiv 0$.

Remark 11.1. In [JM], the authors used a remarkable relation (which they themselves discovered) between the diagonal Ising correlations and isomonodromy deformations of a certain 2×2 Fuchsian system. This discovery laid the foundation for the Riemann-Hilbert method in the theory of correlation functions, random matrices, and Toeplitz and Hankel determinants (see [DIZ] for more on the history of these developments). Using this link to Fuchsian systems, it was shown in [JM] that the diagonal correlation function $\langle \sigma_{1,1} \sigma_{1+n,1+n} \rangle$, as a function of the variable

$$s = e^{-2t} \equiv \left(\sinh \frac{2J_1}{k_B T} \sinh \frac{2J_2}{k_B T}\right)^{-2}$$

is expressed in terms of a solution to the Painlevé VI equation. The derivation of (208) in [JM] is done by formally performing a scaling transformation taking the inverse monodromy problem associated with this Painlevé VI to the inverse monodromy (Riemann-Hilbert) problem associated with the fifth Painlevé function $\sigma(x)$. In the rigorous setting of [CIK], the latter problem appears as a parametrix during the implementation of the nonlinear steepest-descent method.

Remark 11.2. The Painlevé VI description of the diagonal correlations in [JM] was the first example of the appearance of the Painlevé functions in the theory of Toeplitz determinants before the large n limit is taken. One realizes now that nonlinear differential equations of Painlevé type are always present in situations where the symbol $\varphi(z)$ satisfies the condition:

(217)
$$\frac{d\log\varphi(z)}{dz} = \text{rational function.}$$

This fact is quite easy to see within the Riemann-Hilbert formalism (see, e.g., discussion in [ITW]). These "finite n" Painlevé representations are not universal: the type of the nonlinear ODE depends strongly on the structure of the rational right hand side of (217), i.e. on the symbol.

Double-scaling problems for Toeplitz determinants occur in many different areas. For example, in combinatorics, let $\pi = (\pi(1), \pi(2), \dots, \pi(N))$ be a permutation of the numbers $1, 2, \dots, N$. If $1 \leq i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_k \leq N$ and $\pi(i_1) < \pi(i_2) < \dots < \pi(i_k)$, we say that $\pi(i_1), \dots, \pi(i_k)$ is an increasing subsequence in π of length k. Let $\ell_N(\pi)$ denote the maximum length of all increasing subsequences in π . With uniform distribution on the permutations, one is interested (see [BDJ]) in the distribution function

$$p_N(n) = \text{Prob } \{\ell_N(\pi) \le n\} = \frac{\#\{\pi : \ell_N(\pi) \le n\}}{N!}$$

as $N, n \to \infty$. It turns out [Ges] that the Poissonized version $\phi_n(\lambda)$ of the process $p_N(n)$

(218)
$$\phi_n(\lambda) = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda} \frac{\lambda^N}{N!} p_N(n), \qquad \lambda > 0$$

can be expressed in terms of a Toeplitz determinant

(219)
$$\phi_n(\lambda) = e^{-\lambda} D_n(\varphi_\lambda)$$

where $\phi_{\lambda}(\theta) = e^{2\sqrt{\lambda}\cos\theta}$. In order to recover $p_N(n)$ as $N, n \to \infty$ from (218) (219) one must analyze the double-scaling limit for the determinant as $\lambda, n \to \infty$. The main result in [BDJ] is the following:

(220)
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \operatorname{Prob} \left(\frac{\ell_N - 2\sqrt{N}}{N^{1/6}} \le t \right) = F_2(t)$$

where $F_2(t)$ is the Tracy-Widom distribution [TW] for the largest eigenvalue of a random matrix in the Gaussian Unitary Ensemble. The distribution $F_2(t)$ can be expressed in terms of Painlevé functions as follows:

(221)
$$F_2(t) = e^{-\int_t^\infty (s-t) \, u^2(s) \, ds}$$

where u(s) is the unique solution of PII,

(222)
$$u''(s) = 2u^3(s) + su(s)$$

with

$$u(s) \sim -\text{Ai}(s)$$
 as $s \to +\infty$.

Here Ai (s) is the standard Airy function. On the other hand, $F_2(t)$ can be expressed as a Fredholm determinant

(223)
$$F_2(t) = \det(I - K_{Airy}^{(s)})$$

where $K_{\text{Airv}}^{(s)}$ is the trace-class operator with kernel

$$K_{\text{Airy}}^{(s)}(x,y) = \frac{\text{Ai}(x)\frac{d}{dy}\text{Ai}(y) - \text{Ai}(y)\frac{d}{dx}\text{Ai}(x)}{x - y}$$

acting on $L^2(s, \infty)$. In random matrix theory, this determinant is the probability that the interval (s, ∞) contains no eigenvalues in the edge scaling limit in the Gaussian Unitary Ensemble.

The result in [BDJ] was the first of many results linking problems in pure and applied mathematics and in physics to the Tracy-Widom distribution $F_2(t)$ and its symplectic and orthogonal analogs (see, for example [Dei2]).

As already noted on several occasions, in his work on impenetrable bosons [Len1], Lenard was led to consider Toeplitz determinants with symbols of type $|e^{i\theta}-e^{i\theta_1}| |e^{i\theta}-e^{i\theta_2}|$ (see (125) above) that vanished on S^1 . In [Len2] he then considered symbols with any finite number of such α -type FH singularities. Such symbols vanish at only a finite number of points, and in [Wid6] Widom began considering symbols which vanished on a full interval. Let $\varphi_{\mu}(e^{i\theta})$ denote the characteristic function of the interval $(\mu, 2\pi - \mu)$, $0 < \mu < \pi$. In a virtuoso calculation Widom showed that, for μ fixed, as $n \to \infty$

(224)
$$\log D_n(\varphi_\mu) = n^2 \log \cos \frac{\mu}{2} - \frac{1}{4} \log \left(n \sin \frac{\mu}{2} \right) + c_0 + o(1)$$

where $c_0 = \frac{1}{12} \log 2 + 3\zeta'(-1)$ and $\zeta(z)$ is the Riemann zeta-function. A few years later in 1976, Dyson [Dy4] returned to the problem (cf. discussion following (59) above) of computing the probability P_s that there are no eigenvalues for a random matrix in the interval $(0, 2s/\pi)$, in the bulk scaling limit for the Gaussian Unitary Ensemble. He showed that as $s \to \infty$, $\log P_s$ has a full asymptotic expansion

(225)
$$\log P_s = -\frac{s^2}{2} - \frac{1}{4} \log s + a_0 + \frac{a_1}{s} + \frac{a_2}{s^2} + \dots ,$$

Dyson identified all the constants a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots , and it turns out that a_0 , which is of particular interest, is precisely the constant c_0 arising in Widom's expansion (224) above. Dyson arrived at the identification $a_0 = c_0$ by noting first that the probability P_s is given by (see, e.g., [Meh], [Dei3])

$$(226) P_s = \det(I - K_s)$$

where K_s is the trace-class operator with kernel

(227)
$$K_s(x,y) = \frac{\sin(x-y)}{\pi(x-y)}$$

acting on $L^2(-s,s)$. A simple calculation shows that

(228)
$$D_n(\varphi_\mu) = \det\left(\delta_{jk} - \frac{\sin\mu(j-k)}{\pi(j-k)}\right)_{0 \le j,k \le n-1}$$

and so for fixed s > 0,

(229)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} D_n \left(\varphi_{\frac{2s}{n}} \right) = P_s$$

and hence, if the error term o(1) in (224) was uniform in the double scaling limit, $n \to \infty$, $\mu \to 0$ such that $\mu n = 2s$, one could conclude from (224) (229) that a_0 is indeed equal to c_0 . The uniformity of the error term o(1), however, remained open. There are now three proofs that $a_0 = c_0$. The first two were given simultaneously and independently by Ehrhardt and Krasovsky, and the third was given a little later in [DIKZ]. The proofs by Krasovsky and by Deift, Its, Krasovsky, and Zhou proceed by following Dyson's observation (229) and verifying that the o(1) error term is indeed uniform. We refer the reader to [DIKZ] for some history of the problem P_s , $s \to \infty$, and, in particular, for the relevant references to the work of Krasovsky and Ehrhardt. A similar asymptotic problem arises when instead of the sine kernel determinant (226) one considers the general so-called confluent hypergeometric kernel determinant which depends on two extra parameters (and is related to the so-called Bessel kernel determinant and also to the determinant (226) for particular choices of the parameters); another related problem is the asymptotics for the Tracy-Widom distribution (223) as $s \to -\infty$. These problems can also be represented as double scaling problems for Toeplitz (and also Hankel) determinants, and such representations were crucial for finding complete solutions for the asymptotic problems at hand. We refer the reader to [Kr] for a discussion of the results and for the references.

Dyson's identification of a_1, a_2, \ldots in [Dy4] involves an ingenious application of inverse scattering theory for Schrödinger operators on the half-line $0 \le x < \infty$. He begins by noting that $P_s = \det(I - K_s)$ can be factored

(230)
$$\det(I - K_s) = D_+(s)D_-(s)$$

where $D_{\pm}(s) = \det(I - f_{\pm})_{L^2(0,s)}$ are Toeplitz+Hankel type determinants on $L^2(0,s)$ with kernels

(231)
$$f_{\pm}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\pi} \left[\frac{\sin(x-y)}{x-y} \pm \frac{\sin(x+y)}{x+y} \right].$$

He then considers the functions

(232)
$$W_{\pm}(s) = -2\frac{d^2}{ds^2}\log D_{\pm}(s) - 1$$

as potentials for Schrödinger operators $H_{\pm} = -\frac{d^2}{ds^2} + W_{\pm}(s)$ on $L^2(0,\infty)$ with appropriate Robin boundary conditions at s=0. Using the Gelfand-Levitan formalism (see, e.g., [Fad]), Dyson is able to identify the spectral measures $\rho_{\pm}(\lambda)d\lambda$ for the operators H_{\pm} . He then obtains the scattering phase functions $e^{i\eta_{\pm}}$. In the Marchenko formalism (see, e.g., [Fad]) one utilizes the functions $e^{i\eta_{\pm}}$ to express the potentials $W_{\pm}(s)$ in terms of Fredholm determinants of the form

(233)
$$W_{\pm}(s) = -\frac{1}{4} \left(s \pm \frac{1}{2} \right)^{-2} - 2 \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \log \Delta_{\pm}(s), \qquad s > \frac{1}{2}$$

where $\Delta_{\pm}(s) = \det(I - F_{\pm})_{L^2(s,\infty)}$ and $F_{\pm}(x,y)$ are certain explicit kernels which decay as $s \to \infty$. Equating (232) and (233), and integrating twice, one obtains the following identity for $s > \frac{1}{2}$:

(234)
$$\log P_s = \log(I - K_s) = \log D_+ D_- = -\frac{1}{2}s^2 - \frac{1}{8}\log\left(s^2 - \frac{1}{4}\right) + a_0 + \log\left(\Delta_+(s)\Delta_-(s)\right)$$

(the terms linear in s drop out). As $F_{\pm}(x,y)$ decay as $x,y\to\infty$, it is clear that (234) gives rise to a full expansion of the form (225), where the coefficients can be computed in terms of the trace powers tr F_{\pm}^{m} .

Dyson is able to compute $e^{i\eta\pm}$, and hence F_{\pm} , explicitly, because of the following fundamental fact from inverse scattering theory. The spectral weights have the form $\rho_{\pm}(\lambda) = \sqrt{\lambda}/(\pi|\varphi_{\pm}(\sqrt{\lambda})|^2)$, where $\varphi_{\pm}(k)$, $k = \sqrt{\lambda}$, are certain functions constructed from the Jost solutions $J_{\pm}(s,k)$ for H_{\pm} , $H_{\pm}J_{\pm}(s,k) = k^2J_{\pm}(s,k)$, $J_{\pm}(s,k) \sim e^{iks}$ as $s \to \infty$. The functions $\varphi_{\pm}(k)$ are analytic in $\{\Im k > 0\}$ with prescribed asymptotics as $k \to \infty$, and in the cases at hand, have no zeros in $\{\Im k > 0\}$. Hence, by standard arguments, $\varphi_{\pm}(k)$ are determined by their absolute value $|\varphi(k)|$ for $\Im k = 0$. Thus $\rho_{\pm}(\lambda)$ determine $\varphi_{\pm}(k)$. However, $e^{i\eta_{\pm}}$ can be expressed in terms of φ_{\pm} as $e^{i\eta_{\pm}(k)} = i\overline{\varphi_{\pm}(k)}/|\varphi_{\pm}(k)|$, and hence $\rho_{\pm}(\lambda)$ determine the scattering phase functions, and hence, eventually, F_{\pm} .

These considerations bring to mind the Borodin-Okounkov-Geronimo-Case formula (43) in which the Szegő function $\mathcal{D}(z)=\exp\left(\frac{1}{4\pi}\int_{-\pi}^{\pi}\frac{e^{i\theta}+z}{e^{i\theta}-z}\log\varphi(e^{i\theta})\,d\theta\right)$, which is analytic in |z|<1, plays the role of the functions $\varphi_{\pm}(k)$. Indeed, $|\mathcal{D}(e^{i\theta})|^2=\varphi(e^{i\theta})$, which is the spectral measure for the associated Cantero-Moral-Velasquez (CMV) unitary operator acting on ℓ_{+}^2 (see [Sim2]). Thus we may think of the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(\varphi)$ as an expression in the "Gelfand-Levitan formalism". On the other hand, we may think of the Fredholm determinant on the RHS of (43) as an expression in the "Marchenko formalism". Indeed, from (44), $b=\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2/|\mathcal{D}|^2$, which we may view as a scattering phase function $b=e^{2i\eta}$ for the CMV operator, and c is just $\overline{b}=e^{-2i\eta}$. These considerations are very suggestive and invite further investigation. One notes that the original proof of (43) by Geronimo and Case in [GerCase] was developed in the context of scattering theory.

Another example of a double-scaling limit is the following. Recall that the density matrix for the impenetrable bosons is given by $\rho_{N,L}(\xi) = \frac{1}{L}R_N(2\pi\xi/L)$, where R_N is the Toeplitz determinant (130) with symbol (131). For definiteness, fix the length scale so that L=N. As we discussed in Remark 6.1 in Section 6, of particular interest is the double-scaling limit $N\to\infty$, $\xi/N\to0$. In [Len1] Lenard considered this limit $\rho(\xi)=\lim_{N\to\infty}\frac{1}{N}R_N(2\pi\xi/N)$ with ξ fixed. He obtained an expression for $\rho(\xi)$ in terms of a Fredholm determinant with explicit kernel related to the sine kernel (227). He also obtained another representation for $\rho(\xi)$ in terms of a Fredholm minor for the kernel $2\frac{\sin\pi|\xi|(x-y)}{\pi(x-y)}$. In order to complete his analysis of the limiting momentum distribution in the gas, Lenard

In order to complete his analysis of the limiting momentum distribution in the gas, Lenard needed to know the large ξ behavior of $\rho(\xi)$, but he did not derive this behavior in [Len1]. The derivation of this limiting behavior was carried out by Vaidya and Tracy [VaiTr] who found that

(235)
$$\rho(\xi) = \frac{\rho_{\infty}}{(\pi\xi)^{1/2}} \left(1 + \frac{1}{8(\pi\xi)^2} \left(\cos 2\pi\xi - \frac{1}{4} \right) + \cdots \right), \qquad \rho_{\infty} = \pi e^{1/2} 2^{-1/3} A^{-6},$$

as $\xi \to \infty$, where A is again Glaisher's constant (107). Note that if one evaluates $\rho_{N,N}(\xi) = \frac{1}{N}R_N(2\pi\xi/N)$, $N, \xi = \frac{tN}{2\pi} \to \infty$ using (137) (138), and assumes that the formulae remain valid as $t = 2\pi\xi/N \to 0$, then one obtains the leading term in (235).

The double-scaling limit $N \to \infty$, $\xi/N \to 0$ corresponds to the Toeplitz determinant with two FH singularities merging (at z=1) with $\alpha_1=\alpha_2=\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_1=\beta_2=0$. A general analysis of the double-scaling asymptotics of a Toeplitz determinant with two merging FH singularities (in particular, of Lenard's symbol (130)) is given in [CK].

Dyson also considered [Dy5] the following scaling problem associated with Toeplitz determinants. Let

(236)
$$\Delta(z,t) = \det(I - z\hat{K}_t)$$

where 0 < z < 1 and \widehat{K}_t acts on $L^2(-t,t)$ with kernel $\widehat{K}_t(x,y) = \frac{\sin \pi(x-y)}{\pi(x-y)}$. With the extra π in the sine function (cf. K_s in (227)), $\Delta(1,t)$ is now the probability that there are no eigenvalues in the interval (0,2t). Of interest here is the double scaling limit for $\Delta(z,t)$ as $t \to \infty$ and $z \uparrow 1$. Dyson analyses the problem by interpreting $\Delta(z,t)$ in terms of a Coulomb gas at inverse temperature $\beta = 2$. In this interpretation, z corresponds to an external potential v via the formula $1-z=e^{-\beta v}$. Then

(237)
$$\Delta(z,t) = \frac{Z_2(v,2t)}{Z_2(0,2t)}$$

where

$$(238) Z_{\beta} = \sum e^{-\beta(W+vn)}$$

is the partition function of the gas with external potential v applied to charges in a fixed interval of length 2t. The sum in (238) is to be interpreted as an infinite-dimensional integral over all configurations of the gas, W represents the sum of all Coulomb interactions $W_{jk} = -\log|x_j - x_k|$, and for any configuration, n is the number of charges in a fixed interval of length 2t. Dyson does not define the sum rigorously, but he uses it as a heuristic guide in his calculations. The main result in the paper is the calculation of oscillatory factors in $\Delta(z,t)$ as $t \to \infty$: These factors turn out to be so-called "genuinely non-linear oscillations" and are described by Jacobi elliptic functions. For 0 < z < 1, $0 < \lambda < 1$, the symbol

(239)
$$f_{z,\lambda}(e^{i\theta}) = \chi_{[\pi\lambda,\pi(2-\lambda)]} + (1-z)\chi_{[-\pi\lambda,\pi\lambda]}$$

gives rise to the Toeplitz determinant

(240)
$$D_n(f_{z,\lambda}) = \det\left(\delta_{jk} - z \frac{\sin \lambda \pi (j-k)}{\pi (j-k)}\right)_{0 \le j,k \le n-1}$$

and so for fixed z, t

(241)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} D_n \left(f_{z, \frac{2t}{n}} \right) = \Delta(z, t).$$

Thus Dyson's double scaling limit $z \uparrow 1$, $t \to \infty$ can be viewed as a triple scaling limit for the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(f_{z,2t/n})$ with $z \uparrow 1$, $t \to \infty$, and $n \to \infty$. Note finally that $f_{z,\lambda}$ is precisely the kind of symbol that arises in the Toeplitz eigenvalue problem (178).

Lenard ends his 1972 paper [Len2] with a hope and a prophecy: "It is the author's hope that a rigorous analysis will someday carry the results to the point where the true role of the zeros of the generating function will be understood. When that day comes a capstone will have been put on a beautiful edifice to whose construction many contributed and whose foundations lie in the studies of Gabor Szegő half a century ago".

Almost 100 years have passed since Szegő published his first paper on the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants. We certainly know more now than in 1972, but many new problems continue to arise, and it is still too early, alas, to set the capstone.

Acknowledgements:

The work of the first two authors was supported in part by NSF grant DMS-1001886 and DMS-1001777 respectively. The work of the third author was supported in part by EPSRC grant #EP/E022928/1. The authors would like to thank Estelle Basor, Rodney Baxter, Albrecht Böttcher, Freeman Dyson, Michael Fisher, Peter Forrester, Helge Holden, Leo Kadanoff, Donald Knuth, Andrew Lenard, Barry McCoy, John Palmer, Bob Shrock, Barry Simon, Tom Spencer, Craig Tracy, and Elias Wegert for their help in preparing this manuscript. Estelle Basor, Albrecht Böttcher, Michael Fisher, Andrew Lenard, and Barry McCoy, in particular, graciously responded to many emails, and provided many references to the literature going back more than 60 years.

References

- [AC] M. J. Ablowitz and P. A. Clarkson, Solitons, nonlinear evolution equations and inverse scattering, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Series, 149, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [AS] M.J. Ablowitz and H. Segur, Asymptotic solutions of the Korteweg-de Vries equation, Stud. Appl. Math. 57 (1977), 13–44.
- [AuYPer1] H. Au-Yang and J. H. H. Perk, *Ising correlations at the critical temperature*, Phys. Lett. A **104** (1984), 131–134.
- [AuYPer2] H. Au-Yang and J. H. H. Perk, Critical correlations in a Z-invariant inhomogenuous Ising model, Phys. A 144 (1984), 44–104.
- [AuYJPer] H. Au-Yang, B-Q. Jin, and J. H. H. Perk, Wavevector-dependent susceptibility in quasiperiodic Ising models, Proceedings of the Baxter revolution in mathematical physics ((Canberra 2000) 102 (2001), 501–543.
- [BDJ] J. Baik, P. Deift, and K. Johansson, On the distribution of the length of the longest increasing subsequence of random permutations, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1999), 1119—1178.
- [Bar] E. W. Barnes, The theory of the G function, Quart. J. Pure and Appl. Math. 31 (1900), 264–314.
- [Bas1] E. Basor, Asymptotic formulas for Toeplitz determinants, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 239 (1978), 33–65.
- [Bas2] E. Basor, Trace formulas for Toeplitz matrices with piecewise continuous symbols, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 120 (1986), 25–38.
- [Bas3] E. Basor, A localization theorem for Toeplitz determinants, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 28 (1979), 975–983.
- [BasChe] E. L. Basor and Y. Chen, *Toeplitz determinants from compatibility conditions*, Ramanujan J. **16** (2008), 25–40.
- [BasEhr] E. L. Basor and T. Ehrhardt, Asymptotics of block Toeplitz determinants and the classical dimer model, Comm. Math. Phys. 274 (2007), 427–455.
- [BasHelt] E. Basor and J. William Helton, A new proof of the Szegő limit theorem and new results for Toeplitz operators with discontinuous symbol, J. Operator Theory 3 (1980), 23–39.
- [BasTr] E. L. Basor and C. A. Tracy, *The Fisher-Hartwig conjecture and generalizations*, Physica A 177 (1991), 167–173.
- [BasWid] E. Basor and H. Widom, On a Toeplitz determinant identity of Borodin and Okounkov, Integral Equations Operator Theory 37 (2000), 397–401.
- [Bax] R. J. Baxter, Onsager and Kaufman's calculation of the spontaneous magnetization of the Ising model, J. Stat. Phys. 145 (2011), 518–548.

- [BaxG1] G. Baxter, A convergence equivalence related to polynomials orthogonal on the unit circle, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **99** (1961) 471–487.
- [BaxG2] G. Baxter, A norm inequality for a "finite-section" Wiener-Hopf equation, Illinois J. Math. 7 (1963), 97–103.
- [BBEIM] E. D. Belokolos, A. I. Bobenko, V. Z. Enol'skii, A. R. Its, and V. B. Matveev, *Algebro-Geometric Approach to Nonlinear Evolution Equations*, Springer Series in Nonlinear Dynamics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York (1994).
- [BGJ-LS] G. Benettin, G. Gallavotti, G. Jona-Lasinio, and A. Stella, On the Onsager-Yang-Value of the Spontaneous Magnetization, Comm. Math. Phys. 30 (1973), 45–54.
- [BorOk] A. Borodin and A. Okounkov, A Fredholm determinant formula for Toeplitz determinants, Integral Equations Operator Theory 37 (2000), 386–396.
- [Bott1] A. Böttcher, The Onsager formula, the Fisher-Hartwig conjecture, and their influence on research into Toeplitz operators, J. Stat. Phys. 78 (Lars Onsager Festschrift) (1995), 575–585.
- [Bott2] A. Böttcher, An operator theoretic approach to the brickwork Ising model with second-neighbor interactions, 1992. Unpublished. Private communication from the author.
- [BottGr] A. Böttcher and S. M. Grudsky, Spectral Properties of Banded Toeplitz Matrices, SIAM, Philadelphia 2005.
- [BGrM] A. Böttcher, S. M. Grudsky, and E. A. Maksimenko, *Inside the eigenvalues of certain Hermitian Toeplitz band matrices*, J. Comput. Appl. Math. **233** (2010), 2245–2264.
- [BottSilb1] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, *Invertibility and Asymptotics of Toeplitz Matrices*, Math. Res, Vol. 17, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1983.
- [BottSilb2] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, *Introduction to Large Truncated Toeplitz Matrices*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1999.
- [BottSilb3] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, Analysis of Toeplitz Operators, 2nd Edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 2006.
- [BottSilb4] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, Toeplitz operators and determinants generated by symbols with one Fisher-Hartwig singularity, Math. Nachr. 127 (1986), 95–124.
- [BottSilb5] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, Toeplitz matrices and determinants with Fisher-Hartwig symbols, J. Funct. Anal. **62** (1985), 178–214.
- [BottSilb6] A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann, The asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants for generating functions with zeros of integral orders, Math. Nachr. 102 (1981), 79–105.
- [BottWid1] A. Böttcher and H. Widom, Szegő via Jacobi, Linear Algebra Appl. 419 (2006), 656–667.
- [BottWid2] A. Böttcher and H. Widom, Two elementary derivations of the pure Fisher-Hartwig determinant, Integral Equations Operator Theory 53 (2005), 593–596

- [BuKe] H. M. Bui and J. P. Keating, On the mean values of L-functions in orthogonal and symplectic families, Proc. London Math. Soc. 66 (2008), 335–366.
- [BumpDia] D. Bump and P. Diaconis, *Toeplitz minors*, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A **97** (2002), 252–271.
- [Bur] P. N. Burgoyne, Remarks on the combinatorial approach to the Ising problem, J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963), 1320–1326.
- [Caf] M. Cafasso, Block Toeplitz determinants, constrained KP and Gelfand-Dickey hierarchies, MPAG, 11 (2007), 35.
- [Car1] C. Carathéodory, Über den Variabilitätsbereich der Koeffizienten von Potenzreihen, die gegebene Werte nicht annehmen, Math. Ann. **64** (1907), 95–115.
- [Car2] C. Carathéodory, Über den Variabilitätsbereich der Fourierschen Konstanten von positiven harmonischen Funktionen, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 32 (1911) 193–217.
- [CarFej] C. Carathéodory and L. Fejér, Über den Zusammenhang der extremen von harmonisheen Funktionen mit ihren Koeffizienten und über den Picard-Landauschen Satz, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 32 (1911), 218–239.
- [Cha] C. H. Chang, The Spontaneous Magnetization of a Two-Dimensional Rectangular Ising Model, Phys. Rev. 88 (1952), 1422–1422.
- [CheHonIzy] D. Chelkak, C. Hongler, and K. Izyurov, Conformal invariance of spin correlations in the planar Ising model, arXiv:1202.2838.
- [ChenWu] H. Cheng and T. T. Wu, Theory of Toeplitz determinants and the spin correlations of the two-dimensional Ising model III, Phys. Rev. 164 (1967), 719–735.
- [CG] K. Clancy and I. Gohberg, Factorization of matrix functions and singular integral operators, Operator theory: Advances and applications, vol. 3, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1981.
- [CIK] T. Claeys, A. Its, and I. Krasovsky, Emergence of a singularity for Toeplitz determinants and Painlevé V, Duke Math. J. **160** (2011), 207–262.
- [CK] T. Claevs and I. Krasovsky, Toeplitz determinants with merging singularities, in preparation.
- [Dei1] P. Deift, Integrable Operators, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 89 (1999), 69–84.
- [Dei2] P. Deift, *Universality for mathematical and physical systems*, Intl. Congress of Mathematics, Vol. 1, 125–152, Eur. Math. Soc., Zurich, 2007.
- [Dei3] P. Deift, Orthogonal polynomials and random matrices: A Riemann-Hilbert approach, Courant Lecture Notes, New York, 1998.
- [DIK1] P. Deift, A. Its, and I. Krasovsky, Asymptotics of Toeplitz, Hankel and Toeplitz+Hankel Determinants with Fisher-Hartwig Singularities, Ann. of Math. 174 (2011), 1243–1299.
- [DIK2] P. Deift, A. Its, and I. Krasovsky, Eigenvalues of Toeplitz matrices in the bulk of the spectrum, arXiv:1110.4089. To appear in the special Varadhan issue of the Bulletin of the Institute of Mathematics, Academica Sinica, Taipei, 2012.

- [DIK3] P. Deift, A. Its, and I. Krasovsky, On the asymptotics of a Toeplitz determinant with singularities, arXiv:1206.1292.
- [DIKZ] P. Deift, A. Its, I. Krasovsky, and X. Zhou, The Widom-Dyson constant for the gap probability in random matrix theory. Special issue of J. Comput. Appl. Math., "Topics in Integrable Systems, Special Functions, Orthogonal Polynomials and Random Matrices", Editors: S. B. Damelin and W. Xu-Ma, 202 (2007), 26–47.
- [DIZ] P. A. Deift, A. R. Its, and X. Zhou, A Riemann-Hilbert approach to asymptotic problems arising in the theory of random matrix models, and also in the theory of integrable statistical mechanics, Ann. of Math. 146 (1997), 149–235.
- [DKMVZ1] P. Deift, T. Kriecherbauer, K. T-R. McLaughlin, S. Venakides, and X. Zhou, *Uniform asymptotics for polynomials orthogonal with respect to varying exponential weights and applications to universality questions in random matrix theory*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **52** (1999), 1335–1425.
- [DKMVZ2] P. Deift, T. Kriecherbauer, K. T-R. McLaughlin, S. Venakides, and X. Zhou, Strong asymptotics of orthogonal polynomials with respect to exponential weights, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 52 (1999), 1491–1552.
- [DVZ] P. Deift, S. Venakides, and X. Zhou, New results in small dispersion KdV by an extension of the steepest descent method for Riemann-Hilbert problems, Intl. Math. Res. Notices (1997), 285–299.
- [DZ] P. Deift and X. Zhou, A steepest descent method for oscillatory Riemann-Hilbert problems. Asymptotics for the MkdV equation, Ann. of Math. 137 (1993), 295–368.
- [Dev] A. Devinatz, The strong Szegő limit theorem, Illinois J. Math. 11 (1967), 160–175.
- [Dom1] C. Domb, *The Ising model*, in The collected works of Lars Onsager (with commentary), ed. P. C. Hemmer, H. Holden, S. Kjelstrup Ratkje, World Scientific, 1995, pp. 167–179.
- [Dom2] C. Domb, On the theory of cooperative phenomena in crystals, Adv. in Phys. 9, no. 34, (1960), 149–244.
- [Doug] R. G. Douglas, Banach Algebra Techniques in Operator Theory, Second Edition, Graduate Texts in Math 179, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1998.
- [Dub] J. Dubédat, Exact bosonization of the Ising model, ArXiv: 1112.4399.
- [DJ] M. Duits, K. Johansson, Powers of large random unitary matrices and Toeplitz determinants, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **362** (2010), 1169–1187.
- [DymMc] H. Dym and H. P. McKean, Fourier series and integrals, Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London, 1972.
- [Dy1] F. Dyson, Statistical theory of the energy levels of complex systems. I, J. Math. Phys. 3 (1962), 140–156.
- [Dy2] F. Dyson, Statistical theory of the energy levels of complex systems. II, J. Math. Phys. 3 (1962), 157–165.

- [Dy3] F. Dyson, *Toeplitz determinants and Coulomb Gases*, Talk to Eastern Theoretical Physics Conference, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, October 25, 1963.
- [Dy4] F. Dyson, Fredholm determinants and inverse scattering problems, Commun. Math. Phys. 47 (1976), 171–183.
- [Dy5] F. Dyson, The Coulomb fluid and the fifth Painlevé transcendent, Chan Ning Yang, 131–146, Int. Press., Cambridge, MA, 1995.
- [Ehr] T. Ehrhardt, A status report on the asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants with Fisher-Hartwig singularities, Operator Theory: Adv. Appl. 124 (2001), 217–241.
- [Fad] L. D. Faddeyev, The Inverse Problem in the Quantum Theory of Scattering, Uspehi Matem. Nauk 14 (1959), 57–119. English translation with B. Seckler in J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963), 72–104.
- [FF] P. J. Forrester and N. E. Frankel, Applications and generalizations of Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics, J. Math. Phys. 45 (2004), 2003–2028.
- [ForWar] P. J. Forrester and S. O. Warnaar, *The importance of the Selberg integral*, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) **45** (2008), 489–534.
- [Fis1] M. E. Fisher, The susceptibility of the plane Ising model, Physica 25A (1959), 521–524.
- [Fis2] M. E. Fisher, On the theory of critical point density fluctuations, Physica 28 (1962), 172–180.
- [Fis3] M. E. Fisher, On the dimer solution of planar Ising models, J. Math. Phys. 7 (1966), 1776–1781.
- [FisHart1] M. E. Fisher and R. E. Hartwig, Toeplitz determinants: some applications, theorems and conjectures, Adv. Chem. Phys. 15 (1968), 333–353.
- [FisHart2] R. E. Hartwig and M. E. Fisher, Asymptotic Behavior of Toeplitz Matrices and Determinants, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 32 (1969), 190–225.
- [FIK] A. S. Fokas, A. R. Its, and A. V. Kitaev, *The isomonodromy approach to matrix models in 2D quantum gravity*, Comm. Math. Phys. **147** (1992), 395–430.
- [FIKN] A. S. Fokas, A. R. Its, A. A. Kapaev, and V. Yu. Novokshenov, *Painlevé Transcendents*, Math. Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 128, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006.
- [FIKT] F. Franchini, A. R. Its, V. E. Korepin, and L. A. Takhtajan, *Entanglement Spectrum for the XY Model in One Dimension*. arXiv:1002.2931.
- [FrAb] F. Francini and A. G. Abanov, Asymptotics of Toeplitz Determinants and the Emptiness Formation Probability for the XY Spin Chain, J. Phys. A 38 (2005), 5069–5096.
- [Gal] G. Gallavotti, Boundary Conditions and Correlation Functions in the ν-Dimensional Ising Model at Low Temperature, Commun. Math. Phys. 23 (1971), 275–284.
- [GerCase] J. S. Geronimo and K. M. Case, Scattering theory and polynomials orthogonal on the unit circle, J. Math. Phys. **20** (1979), 299–310.

- [Ge] Ya. L. Geronimus, *Polynomials Orthogonal on a Circle and Interval*, (Translator D.E. Brown, Editor Ian N. Sneddon) Pergamon (1960).
- [Ges] I. M. Gessel, Symmetric functions and P-recursiveness, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 53 (1992), 601–622.
- [GHK] S. M. Gonek, C. P. Hughes, and J. P. Keating, A Hybrid Euler-Hadamard product formula for the Riemann zeta function, Duke Math. J. 136 (2007), 507–549.
- [GolIbr] B. L. Golinskii and I. A. Ibraginov, On Szegö's limit theorem, Math. USSR Izv. 5 (1971), 421–444. [Russian]
- [GreSz] U. Grenander and G. Szegö, *Toeplitz forms and their applications*, University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, 1958.
- [Grif] R. B. Griffiths, Peierls Proof of Spontaneous Magnetization in a Two-Dimensional Ising Ferromagnet, Phys. Rev. 136 (1964), A437–A439.
- [GGM] D. B. Gutman, Y. Gefen, and A. D. Mirlin, Non-equilibrium 1D many-body problems and asymptotic properties of Toeplitz determinants, J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 44 (2011), 165003, 1–21.
- [Gy] B. Gyires, Eigenwerte verallgemeinerter Toeplitzschen Matrizen, Publ. Math. Debrecen 4 (1956), 171–179.
- [HeltHow] J. W. Helton and R. E. Howe, *Integral operators: commutators, traces, index and homology*, Proceedings of a Conference on Operator Theory (Dalhousie Univ., Halifax, N.S., 1973), Springer Lecture Notes in Math., **345** (1973), 141–209.
- [Hir] I. I. Hirschman, Jr., On a theorem of Szegő, Kac, and Baxter, J. Analyse Math. 14 (1965), 225–234.
- [HurGr] C. A. Hurst and H. S. Green, New solution of the Ising problem for a rectangular lattice, J. Chem. Phys. **33** (1960), 1059–1062
- [Ibr] I. A. Ibraginov, A theorem of Gabor Szegő, Mat. Zametki 3 (1968), 693–702. [Russian]
- [In] E. L. Ince, Ordinary Differential Equations, Dover, New York, 1956.
- [Is] E. Ising, Beitrag zur Theorie des Ferromagnetismus, Z. Phys 31 (1925), 253–258.
- [IJK] A. R. Its, B.-Q. Jin, and V. E. Korepin, Entropy of XY spin chain and block Toeplitz determinants. Universality and renormalization, 151–183, Fields Inst. Commun. 50, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007.
- [IK] A. R. Its and V. E. Korepin, The Fisher-Hartwig Formula and Entanglement Entropy, J. Stat. Phys. 137 (2009), 1014–1039.
- [IMM] A. R. Its, F. Mezzadri, and M. Y. Mo, Entanglement entropy in quantum spin chains with finite range interaction Commun. Math. Phys. **284** (2008), 117–185.
- [ITW] A. Its, C. Tracy, and H. Widom, Random words, Toeplitz determinants and integrable systems. II, Phys. D 152/153 (2001), 199–224.

- [JM] M. Jimbo and T. Miwa, Studies on holonomic quantum fields XVII, Proc. Jpn. Acad. 56A (1980), 405–410.
- [JMMS] M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, Y. Môri, and M. Sato, Density matrix of an impenetrable Bose gas and the fifth Painlevé transcendent, Physica 1D (1980), 80–158.
- [JK] B.-Q. Jin and V. E. Korepin, Quantum Spin Chain, Toeplitz Determinants and Fisher-Hartwig Conjecture J. Stat. Phys. 116 (2004), 79
- [Joh1] K. Johansson, On Szegö's asymptotic formula for Toeplitz determinants and generalizations, Bull. Sci. Math. 112 (1988), 257–304.
- [Joh2] K. Johansson, On fluctuations of eigenvalues of random Hermitian matrices, Duke Math. J. 91 (1988), 151–204.
- [Kac] M. Kac, Toeplitz matrices, translation kernels and a related problem in probability theory, Duke Math. J. 21 (1954), 501–509.
- [KacW] M. Kac and J. C. Ward, A combinatorial solution of the two-dimensional Ising model, Phys. Rev. 88 (1952), 1332–1337.
- [Kad] L. P. Kadanoff, Spin-Spin Correlations in the Two-Dimensional Ising Model, Nuovo Cimento 44 (1966), 276–305.
- [Kas1] P. W. Kasteleyn, Dimer statistics and phase transitions, J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963) 287–293.
- [Kas2] P. W. Kasteleyn, The statistics of dimers on a lattice: I. The number of dimer arrangements on a quadratic lattice Physica 27 (1961), 1209–1225
- [Kau1] B. Kaufman, Crystal Statistics II. Partition Function Evaluated by Spinor Analysis, Phys. Rev. 76 (1949), 1232–1243.
- [Kau2] B. Kaufman, Letter from Lars Onsager to Bruria Kaufman, J. Stat. Phys. 78 (Lars Onsager Festschrift) (1995), 585–588.
- [KauOns] B. Kaufman and L. Onsager, Crystal Statistics, III. Short-Range Order in a Binary Ising Lattice, Phys. Rev. 76 (1949), 1244–1252.
- [Keat] J. P. Keating, Random matrices and number theory, in book: Applications of random matrices in physics, eds. E. Brézin, V. Kazakov, D. Serban, P. Wiegmann, A. Zabrodin, NATO Science Series II. Mathematics, Physics and Chemistry, 221, Springer, 2006.
- [KM] J. P. Keating and F. Mezzadri, Random Matrix Theory and Entanglement in Quantum Spin Chains, Commun. Math. Phys. 252 (2004), 543–579
- [KraWan] H. A. Kramers and G. H. Wannier, Statistics of the Two-Dimensional Ferromagnet. Part I, Phys. Rev. **60** (1941), 252–262.
- [Kr] I. Krasovsky, Aspects of Toeplitz determinants, in Boundaries and Spectra of Random Walks (D. Lenz, F. Sobieczky, W. Wöss, editors), Proceedings, Graz - St. Kathrein 2009; Progress in Probability 64 (2011), 305–324.

- [LanLif] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Course of Theoretical Physics. Vol. 5, Statistical Physics, (Translators: J. B. Sykes, M. J. Kearsley), Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford (2000).
- [Leb] J. L. Lebowitz, Bounds on the Correlations and Analyticity Properties of Ferromagnetic Ising Spin Systems, Comm. Math. Phys. 28 (1972), 313–321.
- [LebM-Lof] J. L. Lebowitz and A. Martin-Löf, On the Uniqueness of the Equilibrium State for Ising Spin Systems, Commun. Math. Phys. 25 (1972), 276–282.
- [LeYa] T. D. Lee and C. N. Yang, Statistical Theory of Equations of State and Phase Transitions II. Lattice Gas and Ising Model, Phys. Rev. 47 (1952), 410–419.
- [Len1] A. Lenard, Momentum Distribution in the Ground State of the One-Dimensional System of Impenetrable Bosons, J. Math. Phys. 5 (7) (1964), 930–943.
- [Len2] A. Lenard, Some remarks on Large Toeplitz determinants, Pac. J. Math. 42 (1972), 137–145.
- [LeSh] M. Levitin and E. Shargorodsky, Spectral pollution and second-order relative spectra for self-adjoint operators, IMA J. Numer. Anal. 24 (2004), 393–416.
- [LeSoSo] M. Levitin, A. V. Sobolev, and D. Sobolev, On the near periodicity of eigenvalues of Toeplitz matrices, Operator Theory and Its Applications: In Memory of V. B. Lidskii (1924-2008), ed. by M. Levitin and D. Vassiliev, AMS Translations – Series 2, Advances in the Mathematical Sciences, 231 2010, 115–126.
- [Lie] E. H. Lieb, Some of the early history of exactly soluble models, Int. J. Mod. Phys. B, 11 (1997), 3–10.
- [LieLoss] E. H. Lieb and M. Loss, Fluxes, Laplacians, and Kasteleyn's theorem, Duke Math. J. 71 (1993), 337–363.
- [LS] G. Litvinchuk and I. Spitkovsky, Factorization of measurable matrix functions, Operator theory: Advances and applications, vol. 25, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1989.
- [LyMcC] I. Lyberg and B. M. McCoy, Form factor expansion of the row and diagonal correlation functions of the two-dimensional Ising model, J. Phys. A 40 (2007), 3329–3346.
- [McC1] B. M. McCoy, *The Romance of the Ising Model*. Preprint: presented at the 60th birthday conference for M. Jimbo, Infinite Analysis II, Frontier of Integrability, July 2011, University of Tokyo, Japan.
- [McC2] B. M. McCoy, Introductory remarks to Szegö's paper "On certain Hermitian forms associated with the Frontier series of a positive function", in Gabor Szegö: Collected Papers, Volume 1, 1915–1927, pp. 47–51, (R. Askey, ed.), Birkhäuser, Boston, 1982.
- [MP] B. M. McCoy and J. H. H. Perk, The relation of conformal field theory and deformation theory for the Ising model, Nucl. Phys. B 285 (1987), 279–294.
- [MTW] B. M. McCoy, C. A. Tracy and T. T. Wu, Painlevé functions of the third kind, J. Math. Phys. 18 (1977), 1058–1092.
- [McWu1] B. M. McCoy and T. T. Wu, *The Two-Dimensional Ising Model*, Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1973.

- [McWu2] B. M. McCoy and T. T. Wu, Theory of Toeplitz Determinants and the Spin Correlations of the Two-Dimensional Ising Model, II, Phys. Rev. 155 (1967), 438–452.
- [Meh] M. L. Mehta, Random matrices, 3rd Edition, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2004.
- [MPW] E. W. Montroll, R. B. Potts, and J. C. Ward, Correlations and Spontaneous Magnetization of the Two-Dimensional Ising Model, J. Math. Phys. 4 (2) (1963), 308–322.
- [My] J. M. Myers, Wave scattering and the geometry of a strip, J. Math. Phys. 6 (1965), 1839–1846.
- [Nick1] B. Nickel, On the singularity structure of the 2D Ising model susceptibility, J. Phys. A 32 (1999), 3889–3906.
- [Nick2] B. Nickel, Addendum to: "On the singularity structure of the 2D Ising model susceptibility", J. Phys. A 33 (2000), 1693–1711.
- [Niles] D. Niles, The Riemann-Hilbert -Birkhoff inverse monodromy problem and connection formulae for the third Painlevé transcendent, PhD thesis, IUPUI, 2009.
- [Ons1] L. Onsager, Crystal Statistics, I. A Two-Dimensional Model with an Order-Disorder Transition, Phys. Rev. 65 (1944), 117–149.
- [Ons2] L. Onsager, The Ising Model in Two-Dimensions, in "Critical Phenomena in Alloys, Magnets, and Superconductors" ed. R. E. Mills, E. Ascher and R. I. Jaffe, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1971, pp. 3–12.
- [Ons3] L. Onsager, Autobiographical Commentary of Lars Onsager, "Critical Phenomena in Alloys, Magnets, and Superconductors" ed. R. E. Mills, E. Ascher and R. I. Jaffe, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1971, xix-xxiv.
- [Ov] A. A. Ovchinnikov, Fisher-Hartwig conjecture and the correlators in the impenetrable Bose gas, Phys. Lett. A **373** (2009), 305–307.
- [Pal] J. Palmer, *Planar Ising Correlations*, Prog. Math. Phys. **49**, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Berlin, 2007.
- [Pei] R. Peierls, On Ising's Model for Ferromagnetism, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 32 (1936), 477–481.
- [Pel] V. V. Peller, *Hankel Operators and Their Applications*, Springer Monographs in Math., Springer, New York, 2003.
- [PenOns] O. Penrose and L. Onsager, Bose-Einstein condensation and liquid Helium, Phys. Rev. 104 (1956), 576–584.
- [Pin] H. Pinson, Rotational Invariance of the 2d Spin Spin Correlation Function, Preprint, 2011.
- [PotWar] R. B. Potts and J. C. Ward, The Combinatorial Method and the Two-Dimensional Ising Model, Prog. Theoret. Phys. (Kyoto), 13 (1) (1955), 38–46.
- [Ru] D. Ruelle, Statistical mechanics. Benjamin, New York, 1969.
- [Rya] G. V. Ryazanov, Correlation asymptotics for a Plane Ising Lattice, Sov. Phys. JETP 22 (1966), 789–795.

- [SaTo] E. B. Saff and V. Totik, Logarithmic potentials with external fields, Springer, Berlin, 1997.
- [Sakh] L. A. Sakhnovich, Operators similar to unitary operators, Functional Anal. and Appl. 2 (1968), 48–60.
- [Sch] T. D. Schultz, Notes on the one-dimensional gas of impenetrable point-particle bosons, J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963), 666-671.
- [ScML] T. D. Schultz, D. C. Mattis, and E. H. Lieb, Two-Dimensional Ising Model as a Soluble Problem of Many Fermions, Rev. Mod. Phys. 36 (1964), 856–871.
- [SA] H. Segur and M. J. Ablowitz, Asymptotic Solutions of Nonlinear Evolution Equations and a Painlevé Transcendent, Physica D, 3 (1981), 165–184.
- [Sher] S. Sherman, Combinatorial aspects of the Ising model for ferromagnetism. I. A conjecture of Feynman on paths and graphs, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960), 202–217.
- [ShGh] R. E. Shrock and R. K. Ghosh, Off-axis correlation functions in the isotropic d=2 Ising model, Phys. Rev. B **31** (1985), 1486–1489.
- [Sim1] B. Simon, The statistical mechanics of lattice gases, Vol. 1, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993.
- [Sim2] B. Simon, Orthogonal Polynomials on the Unit Circle. Part 1: Classical Theory. Part 2: Spectral Theory, Colloquium Publications, 54, Parts 1 and 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [Sim3] B. Simon, *Trace ideals and their applications*, 2nd Ed., Math. Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 120, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [Sz1] G. Szegő, Ein Grenzwertsatz über die Toeplitzschen Determinanten einer reellen positiven Funktion, Math. Ann. **76** (1915), 490–503.
- [Sz2] G. Szegő, Beiträge zur Theorie der Toeplitzschen Formen, I, Mat. Zeit. 6 (1920), 167–202.
- [Sz3] G. Szegő, On certain hermitian forms associated with the Fourier series of a positive function, Festschrift Marcel Riesz, Lund 1952, 228–238.
- [Sz4] G. Szegő, Beiträge zur Theorie der Toeplitzschen Formen, II, Math. Z. 9 (1921), 167–190.
- [Sz5] G. Szegő, Orthogonal Polynomials, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ., Vol. 23, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1939; 4th edition, 1975.
- [TMH] K. Tanaka, T, Morita, and K. Hiroike, Spin pair correlation function of the Ising model on the brickwork lattice with second-neighbor interactions, Physica A 171 (1991), 350–373.
- [TemFis] H. N. V. Temperley and M. E. Fisher, Dimer problem in statistical mechanics an exact result Phil. Mag. 6 (1961), 1061-1063.
- [Toep1] O. Toeplitz, Zur Transformation der Scharen bilinearer Formen von unendlichvielen Veränderlichen, Nachr. der Kgl. Gessellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematischphysikalische Klasse (1907), 110-115.

- [Toep2] O. Toeplitz, Zur Theorie der quadratischen und bilinearen Formen von unendlichvielen Veränderlichen. I. Teil: Theorie der L-Formen, Math. Ann. 70, (1911), 351–376.
- [Toep3] O. Toeplitz, Zur Theorie der quadratischen und bilinearen Formen von unendlichvielen Veränderlichen, Rend. Cire. Mat. Palermo 32 (1911), 191-192.
- [T] C. A. Tracy, Asymptotics of the τ-function arising in the two-dimensional Ising model, Comm. Math. Phys. 142 (1991), 297–311.
- [TW] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, Level spacing distributions and the Airy kernel, Comm. Math. Phys. 159 (1994), 151–174.
- [VaiTr] H. G. Vaidya and C. A. Tracy, One particle reduced density matrix of impenetrable bosons in one dimension at zero temperature, J. Math. Phys. 20 (1979), 2291–2312.
- [vanderW] B. L. van der Waerden, Die lange Reichweite der regelmässigen Atomanordnung in Mischkristallen, Z. Physik 118 (1941), 473–488.
- [Vdov] N. V. Vdovichenko, A calculation of the partition function for a plane dipole lattice, Sov. Phys. JETP 20 (1965), 477–479. See also N. V. Vdovichenko, Spontaneous magnetization for a plane dipole lattice, Sov. Phys. JETP 21 (1965), 350–352.
- [Ver] S. Verblunsky, On positive harmonic functions (second paper), Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 40 (1936), 290–320.
- [VLRK] G. Vidal, J. I. Latorre, E. Rico, and A. Kitaev, Entanglement in quantum critical phenomena, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003), 227902.
- [Weg] E. Wegert, Interpolation by holomorphic functions with restricted boundary values, Proceedings for the Conference in Vissa Orestiada, 2000, "Constantin Caratheodory in his . . . origins" Editor Thomas Vougiouklis, 61–79, Hadronic Press, Palm Harbor, FL, 2001.
- [Wid1] H. Widom, Toeplitz matrices in "Studies in Real and Complex Analysis" (Ed. I. I. Hirschman), 179–201, Math. Assoc. Amer., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1965.
- [Wid2] H. Widom, Toeplitz determinants with singular generating functions, Amer. J. Math. 95 (1973), 333–383.
- [Wid3] H. Widom, On the limit of block Toeplitz determinants, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **50** (1975), 167–173.
- [Wid4] H. Widom, Asymptotic Behavior of Block Toeplitz Matrices and Determinants, II Adv. in Math. 21 (1976), 1–29.
- [Wid5] H. Widom, Asymptotic Behavior of Block Toeplitz Matrices and Determinants, Adv. in Math. 13 (1974), 284–322.
- [Wid6] H. Widom, The strong Szegö Limit Theorem for circular arcs, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 21 (1971), 277–283.
- [Wid7] H. Widom, Eigenvalue distribution of nonselfadjoint Toeplitz matrices and the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants in the case of nonvanishing index, Topics in operator theory: Ernst D. Hellinger memorial volume, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 48 (1990), 387–421.

- [Wid8] H. Widom, Asymptotics of a class of operator determinants with application to the cylindrical Toda equations, Contemp. Math. 458 (2008), 31–53.
- [WiFo] N. S. Witte and P. J. Forrester, Fredholm Determinant evaluations of the Ising Model diagonal correlations and their λ-generalization, ArXiv: 1105.4389.
- [Wi] N. S. Witte, Isomonodromic deformation theory and the next-to-diagonal correlations of the anisotropic square lattice Ising model, J. Phys. A 40 (2007), F491–F501.
- [Wu] T. T. Wu, Theory of Toeplitz Determinants and the Spin Correlations of the Two-Dimensional Ising Model. I, Phys. Rev. 149 (1966), 380–400.
- [WMTB] T. T. Wu, B. M. McCoy, C. A. Tracy, and E. Barouch, Spin-spin correlation functions for the two-dimensional Ising model: Exact theory in the scaling region, Phys. Rev. B 13 (1976), 316–374.
- [Yan1] C. N. Yang, The Spontaneous Magnetization of a Two-Dimensional Ising Model, Phys. Rev. 85 (1952), 808–816.
- [Yan2] C. N. Yang, Selected Papers 1945–1980 with Commentary, World Scientific, 2005, pp. 11–12. (Reproduced in C. N. Yang, My experience as student and researcher, Intl. Journal of Mod. Phys. A, 27 (2012), 123009 (19 pages).)